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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP
OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

The Company was first listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1994 and over the years
the Company has undertaken a number of businesses, all of
which have discontinued by 2008 and disposed of by 2009.

During 2008, the Group acquired from China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), the Company’s substantial
and controlling shareholder, the entire issued share capital of
China Resources Gas Limited (“CR Gas”) for a consideration
of approximately HK$3.8 billion funded by a four for one right
issue. CR Gas, through its subsidiaries in the PRC, operates 7
city gas distribution businesses including natural or petroleum
gas pipelines, CNG filling stations and bottled LPG distribution.
The name of the Company was changed to China Resources
Gas Group Limited to signify its ultimate transformation as a
city gas distributor and to reflect the focus on its sole city gas
distribution business.

to grow organically and
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EPMI/EEZMREE Gas projects owned by CR Gas

@ EHEEBEMEENHMEE Other gas incubation projects retained by the CRH Group
[FEsmRE | BB —H “West to East Gas Transmission” Pipeline |
[FERREH | BEE_H “Westto East Gas Transmission” Pipeline Il

[JIIsa3R%k ] B8 “Sichuan to East Gas Transmission” Pipeline

O BEZR{IERAREWRYE Existing LNG receiving terminals

W FEERPZRIERAKEWRIE LNG receiving terminals under construction
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SUMMARY OF CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION

PROJECT COMPANIES
Projects acquired from CRH in 2008

EENENRHELE
2009 Total Gas Sales Volume
AR i34 RitHEE NEEER g #fz i it
) BUER KH%  REER (RE) fzFE  (LFK/R) (FIFR) (%) (%) (%) 8E
Gas Sales Non- No. of
Year of Population ~ Connected Installed Capacity ~ Volume Residential residential  Bottled Gas
Province Founding % Owned  Type of Gas (mm)  Households (m’day)  (000'm) (%) (%) (%) Stations
A#  Chengdu Ml Sichuan 2005 B0 EERAR BERRRH 27 1,601,570 1602176 988702 423% 5% - 3
Piped natural gas, CNG stations
&5 Wi & Jingsu 200 500 EEXRAR/ALMFE. 6.1 550,275 5310200 332309 183%  758% 5%% 6
BERIARS  BERARHN
Piped natural and/or other gas,
botled LPG, CNG stations
il Suzhou TE  Jiangsu 2003 00 EERRAR/IALFE 63 118440 668000 120670 135%  865% - -
Piped natural andlor other gas
R Najng  TH  Jangu 1999 04 EERASS 62 - - 63428 - 1000% - 9
CNG stations
B Fuang T Zhejang 2005 500 EEARR  BERLRAR 06 40613 60000 10385 222% 7% 0.1% -
Piped natural gas, botled LPG
i34 Hualei  %&  Anhui 2006 800 EERAR 21 163,761 41,000 17120 684% 316% - 1
Piped natural gas
% Lnhai I Zhejang 1995 1000 ZERES 11 15,749 2573 693 497%  503% - -
Piped petroleum gas
hit
Sub-otal 3.1 2480408 7683049 1533307 332% 65.5% 13% 19
—EFEhNFENEEHERKRENEER Projects acquired from CRH in 2009
&1 Thenjang TE  Jiangsu 2006 B0 EERAR BRRICEAR 27 148,793 630,000 157522 185%  865% - 2
EERAT
Piped natural gas, botlle LPG, CNG station
i Zibo 1l Shandong 2007 %0 EERRAR/ SEbFE 42 206,779 332491 107838 192%  808% - 1
Piped natural gas, andlor other gas
i Xangan B Hibei 2007 T4 BERRR BERRARM 58 82912 300000 85002 0% 89.0% - 5
Piped natural gas, CNG stations
AR Datng LU Shamxi 2004 B0 EERAR BEARRM 32 178,084 233648 76723 24% 676% - 1
Piped natural gas, CNG stafion
BR Yangquan LE  Shami 2007 0 EERRA EERARM 13 2 80000 6573 02%  998% - 4
Piped natural gas, CNG stations
B Yicheng i Hubei 2002 1000 BERAR BERARY 06 10,113 o7 1079 103%  897% - 1
Piped natural gas, CNG stafion
&L Quanjang it  Hubei 2003 1000 EEX7AE 10 55,834 27701 2197 628% 372% - -
Piped natural gas
)it
Sub-total 188 662,041 1644615 51553 16.5% 835% 0.0% 14
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TEEANEARATEEWENER Projects acquired directly by the Company in 2009
“EENEMRHELE
2009 Total Gas Sales Volume
AR b4 AR RREER s iz k3 iy
£ BUER KB% REEH (BB) ZFE  (IF%/R) (FIBR) (%) (%) (%) 4B
Gas Sales Non- No. of
Year of Population ~ Connected Installed Capacity ~ Volume Residential residential  Bottled Gas
Province Founding % Owned  Type of Gas (mm)  Households (m'lday)  (000'm’) (%) (%) (%) Stations
HE Wehan  #t Hubei 2002 510 BERAR 90 53449 177240 50,659 36% 96.4% - -
Piped natural gas
BB Kmng ZF  Yuman 2008 640 EERAAR/ KR 62 9653 873 344 132%  868% - -
Piped natural andlor other gas
B Tonghou iTHE  Jengsu 2009 00 EERAAR/IHLEE 12 8887 900 78 RS 475% - -
Piped natural andlor other gas
BE Hongdong LE  Shami 2009 510 EERARR/ SRR 07 4600 100,000 59 196%  804% - -
Piped natural andlor other gas
e Jinan & Shandong 2009 1000 EEXAE 66 FuER
Piped natural gas Greenfield
B Zaoyang AL Hubei 2008 1000 BERAR 11 1,246 218 1,089 32% 96.8% - 1
Piped natural gas
EE  Yingan TE  Jangd 2009 1000 EERAAR/FELRE 04 1964 20 6 u4%  T56% - -
RILEHR
Piped natural gasfor other gas, LPG
EH Luzhou M/ Sichuan 2003 00 FBRAR 49 175,326 14001t 104323 517% 483% - 3
Piped natural gas
ik Hengshui 3t Hebei 2009 %0 EERAR 43 2413 55,000 4597 0.9% 99.1% - 1
Piped natural gas
#5  Yua  LE  Shandong 2009 1000 EERAR 05 AR
Piped natural gas Greenfield
EH Huozhou (L% Shani 2009 00 EERARR/SLbAE 04 1,256 100,000 200 214% 726% - -
Piped natural gasior other gas
B Yagu LE Shand 2009 650 EERARR/ JLbAE 04 AR
Piped natural gasior other gas Greenfield
M Yanzhou (UE  Shandong 2009 00 BEXARR/HEMAE 06 HEER
Piped natural gasior other gas Greenfield
P4t
Sub-fotal 360 258,794 663,363 165,555 34.3% 65.7% - 5
&t
Total 899 3422143 9991927 22143% 294% 69.7% 09% 38
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Financial Highlights

—EENE —TENF S ZEENF
2009 2008 CRL) 2008
FTExT FAT Increase/ FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000  (Decrease) HK$'000
(KizEs) (&%)
(Note 6) (Restated)
EEH Turnover
HBREER Continuing operations 3,746,779 2,144,567 75% 2,525,582
BRI S Discontinued operations - 841,531 841,531
3,746,779 2,986,098 3,367,113
& A Profit from operations
HECEER Continuing operations 637,959 345,560 85% 437,313
BRI EER Discontinued operations 21,974 (153) (153)
659,933 345,408 437,160
KRBT AESE  Net cash inflow from
operating activities
BB Continuing operations 942,311 485,836 94% 595,253
SRR ST Discontinued operations - 142,110 142,110
942,311 627,946 737,363
RARIEAANEL Profit for the year attributable
FEREF to owners of the Company
BERSER Continuing operations 421,599 260,338 62% 320,529
BRI TS Discontinued operations 21,974 (23,561) (23,561)
443,573 236,777 296,968
FARRKIRE Dividends distribution
during the year:
2 A ERR S Interim dividend paid 2741 i A
HK2 cents - N/A -
BIRAERE Final dividend proposed 4554 4L 4L
HK4.5 cents HK4 cents 13% HK4 cents
FREF (FFF2) Earnings per share (Note 2)
REFERERLE From continuing and
REET discontinued operations
2K Basic 0.31 0.50 (38%) 0.62
e Diluted 0.31 0.50 (38%) 0.62
RERFECEER From continuing operations
AR Basic 0.30 0.55 (45%) 0.67
#E Diluted 0.30 0.54 (44%) 0.67
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As at 31st  As at 31st As at 31st
December, December, #iN, December,
2009 2008 R ) 2008
THET TET Increase/ THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 (Decrease) HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
ZIN/NEIEY YN Equity attributable to owners
JEAE AR AR of the Company 1,031,385 1,948,581 (47%) 2,228,847

DER R R Minority interests 536,189 234,442 129% 310,543

KA E Total equity 1,567,574 2,183,023 (28%) 2,539,390

RITRHAMEE4%E  Total bank and other

borrowings 2,731,453 107,527 2,440% 147,284

RITEHRIR S Bank balances and cash 2,226,689 1,185,086 88% 1,346,770

IRITREMEEFEEE  Net bank and other borrowings e FR TEHA BeFE

(F17E3) (Note 3) 504,764 Net Cash N/A  Net Cash
BEME Total assets 8,571,808 3,705,958 131% 4,527,165
afElx Gearing ratios
BERBELE Debt/equity gearing ratio W& FEE i R& 55
(KizE4) (Note 4) 32% Net Cash N/A  Net Cash
EEBELX Debt/asset gearing ratio
(Fft3E5) (Note 5) 32% 3% 967% 3%

B3 Notes:

1. —EEN\EFEN_ZTNFNGEEER The consolidated results for 2008 and 2009, are prepared under the “Merger
BesthE [ HRAEHEHZEHFE5t) Accounting under Common Control Combination” accounting policy, which
RE S BEREE TS NENDRIEEE include the discontinued semiconductor and concrete operations and
MY EEEENBER T2 U&F continuing city gas distribution operation in 2008 and include the continuing
WERTRRDHEES  RBRE-ZZ city gas distribution operation in 2009. Accordingly, the consolidated
FRHECERTRROHEERS - Bt - statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
AREBBE-_ZTTZNER_ZZEAE+= in equity and the consolidated statement cash flows of the Group for
A=+—HIEMEFENZEE 2 EBAR the two years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009 include the results
R BERAEREHRLRESEERE of operations, changes in equity and cash flows of the companies now
EEEAKRBEEEEBET AR (BWNESE comprising the Group as if the current group structure upon the completion
BSHAEKENREEEERRAEE -2 of the Group Reorganisation had been in existence throughout the two
ENER_ETZAFE+_A=+—HIEW years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009, or since their respective
BEEs K ES B MM A A dates of incorporation or establishment where this is a shorter period.

AR (AR & A%E) BEREFE) WEEE
B RAEREHRRERE -

2. BEREXRMNREFHTREMETIHHR Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average number
FE (RiEaMBmERME1e) - GRES of issued shares as indicated in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
BREE ABRE B ENTE - statements. Diluted earnings per share incorporates the potential dilutive

effect of share options.

3. AATR-_ZBEZENF+_A=+—BER The Company was at a net cash situation as at 31st December, 2008.
SFHR B AEE o

4, ERBEHRERTNEMEEFE (T8 Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net bank and other borrowings
FERRRER) ERARRE LG - (excluding shareholders’ loan) to total equity.

5. HAEBEHERBHRILEMEERSE (I8 Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and other borrowings
ERRER) BEELEMLD - (excluding shareholders’ loan) to total assets.

6. ERFEEEEBEALLE - Comparison on continuing operations only.
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MARCH

Announced 2008 Results after acquisition of City Gas
Distribution Business

Reported outstanding performance from its new core city
gas distribution business, which was the major contributor
to the Group’s net profit after tax and profit attributable to
equity holders for the year ended 31 December 2008.

HK$800 Million Term Loan Facility

Signed a HK$800 million 2 year term syndicated loan
facility (the “facility”). The facility was used for funding the
acquisition of city gas distribution projects with high growth
potential, as part of the strategic expansion plan of the
Group for its city gas distribution business.

SEPTEMBER

Announced 2009 Interim Results

Reported a 17 per cent increase in turnover for the six
months ended 30 June 2009 over that of the previous
corresponding period. The upsurge was mainly attributable
to increase in the turnover of the city gas distribution
operation.

HK$800 Million Loan Facility

Signed a HK$800 million 5 year loan facility for funding the
external expansion plan of the Group.
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OCTOBER

Acquisition of 7 City Gas Distribution Businesses from

CRH

Acquired 7 city gas distribution businesses from CRH at
13 times 2009 guaranteed profit with a consideration of
HK$1.6 billion, representing some 27% discount to the
then average market P/E of 18 times.

DECEMBER

Announced the proposed acquisition of 43.18% interests
in Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited, a joint stock limited
company incorporated in the PRC whose shares are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Announced the proposed RMB1.16 billion acquisition of
25% interest in Chongging Gas Group Corp Ltd., one of
the largest city gas operators in the PRC.

Acquired 13 City Gas Distribution Projects in 2009

A total of 13 city gas distribution projects were acquired
directly from the market during 2009, including provincial
capitals such as Wuhan, Kunming and Jinan.
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The Company, as the city gas distribution flagship of China Resources Group, is on
course to become one of the leading city gas distributors in the PRC.

ARAEBEBFBYRTHRL HIERE  BEZIERAEFEELHR TR HEZ —H B EEBE -

HEAENNRARITEELR

PEKERFEER - I E TR
WAL RN - DB T P B BE IR EY
TSR o R B S B R R )5 A 1
RRERNKRE  PEBRFOIFER
R ZIAE AR )T R ERENEIR
BRHFAEMAA - RARERSE
REFE - RRR AR HE IR
BEZRM - Bt PEBRF—&3F
BXRERRAARITE -

R AR b:/\jﬁ%%ﬂ/‘jgﬁ

FAVOURABLE NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY
FUNDAMENTALS IN THE PRC

The continued economic growth and the rapid industrialisation
and urbanisation in China has spiked the demand for energy
in China. In order to reduce reliance on polluting energy
sources such as coal and crude oil, the PRC government
has, in recent years, taken many steps to promote the
development and utilisation of less polluting energy sources.
Natural gas is considered a cleaner and superior substitute for
conventional energy sources such as coal and crude oil. The
PRC government has therefore been very supportive of the
development of the natural gas industry.

The percentage of energy consumption from natural gas
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HFZa R EREEER4% - KRN total primary energy consumption, which is lower than
FHEEE11.0% 0 BRERBEIEF Asia’s average consumption of 11.0% and far lower than the
HHFEE241%  Fit - FEEXRA international average of 24.1%. Therefore there is significant
RAAFTEBEXRERZM - room for further increases in the utilisation of natural gas in
China.
RIBSRARRMMEE  [ARRE] & To increase natural gas supply, the “West to East Gas
BEFPEBNXFETEX  BRAR Transmission” pipelines were constructed with the support of
HR¥mEEREE AP FHE - the PRC government to bring natural gas from the Xinjiang
[ARRE | EB_MRIIRRE]E Autonomous Region to the coastal regions of the PRC.
B (HRHFELEM0)|&BEnEH Construction of the second phase of the “West to East Gas
[2) A RR A B /8 [ KR (L RAR, Transmission” pipelines and the “Sichuan to East” pipelines
BRI ERFEBBRER 2 - ZF from the gas-rich Sichuan Province to coastal regions as well
EREEMEREEE —BEK  EBE as construction of Liquefied Natural Gas terminals in coastal
AR IR BREE 55 R B K A SRR it R 23 N cities of the PRC are actively in progress. Once completed
—fF - these upstream infrastructure projects will more than double

the supply of natural gas in China in the next few years.

BEAN - B EM T % AR A1 In addition, the PRC government has
Sl AetB RBEFERARAR - I promulgated various policies

m-R_ZEZENEFLH - BIRERMN and guidelines to encourage
WEZEGHRMT —ERARIAEK and rationalise the usage of
®EREBBEBETEERIERFB natural gas. For example,
AIEBEFARAR - Eif#E—F MR in July, 2008, the National =

PRI TR D B ER - Development and
Reform Commission
issued a natural gas
usage policy (X %A
R ﬂ. % B %) which ~
specifically states that
municipal residential and
commercial users shall <
have preferential access to
natural gas. This will further boost
the growth of city gas distribution
business in China.

LFHRRHERPREANKRARITER The above factors augur well for
BREROARRIERMES the natural gas industry in China and

offer significant opportunity for
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EAFREREHRERR hEBFFREERREENRBHER
Rapid Growth of Natural Gas in the PRC Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy in the PRC
I KO :;;CAGR {REBRETRH B LAl
BCM™ sERR 1% As of Total Energy Consumption
QQ%E')@"" ion: 6.
200 umpiO 7 100%  3.6%f
b %;!j producti® 18.8%
80 80%
60 47 49 4 _ 70%|  70.2%
40 1
25 27 éi 20%
20 g_.i
0 = - 0%
2000 2005 2008 2010E 2008 +— A5t EEleventh Five Year Plan
® X A% ENatural Gas Consumption 0#%Gas B AMOIl O #EENuclear

@ X AR 4 ENatural Gas Production

0k HHydro 0 EAEOther W |
BHRR PUAREGRH (CTEAE) - BRERE/EREHE KkZHydro [l RfOther W 3Coa

Source BP 2009 Statistical Review of World Energy, NEA/NDRC EHRE BRIRE-_STHEMAXM  BPHRLESST (CTTAE)

Note: it - NDRC April 2007, BP 2008 Statistical Review of World Energ

(1) Billon Cubic Meters 1) +Essx Source C Apri , 009 Statistical Review of World Energy
XARENENHZEERE

Low Penetration of Natural Gas in the PRC

RARRAEERREFH AR LA
Natural Gas Share of Total Primary Energy Consumption

60% 55%

40% 57715
40%
° World Avg
26% 24% 24.1%
20% 2 S 17%
] o
i 2 10%

[F =
rs
E
o
A

Fsﬁ 4%
'} -

0%
N 32 > \ °
> )&@\)““ ™ ?‘@\\9’ e“(\‘D“\‘ ﬁyﬂ‘a ﬁ-.?@?‘* @0‘6‘(\
’@’j\ @G ®
BERHF BPiFEERSE (ZFHEFILE)  Source BP 2009 Statistical Review of World Energy
Upstream Infrastructure Expansion

EXREEEH S EName of Major Pipeline Completed FR1$ it EService Region 5EH HiCompletion Date AL Annual Capacity (18317 KBCM)

- ;X —EiShaan-Jing | BREEZ b R Shaanxi to Beijing 1997 33

JB-Z-HSe-Ning-Lan /8% H#Qinghai to Gansu 2001 3.4

B%-HE (BEA) Zhongxian-Wuhan (Zhong-Wu) B &4k Chongging to Hubei 2004 3.0

a5 R % West-to-East (W2E) #7358 /8§ Xinjiang to Shanghai 2004 12.0

k- ;R —H#AShaan-Jing Il BRFE Z 4k 5 Shaanxi to Beijing 2005 12.0

K -M& 8B Daqing-Harbin KEZMEEDaqing to Harbin 2007 5.0

74585 # - 5K West-to-East (W2E) - expansion F#8ZE 8 Xinjiang to Shanghai 2007 5.0

& #tTotal capacity 43.7BCM
437HBI 5K

##1EEPlanned/Under Construction

5k-J&-ZYong-Tang-Qin k& E % 2 B Yongqing to Qinhuangdao FE52009E 9.0

TaRR B — HiWest-to-East Il (W2E 1) #1582 &/l Xinjiang to Guangzhou F85t2010E 30.0

Ki# - #ZDalian-Shenyang #ELiaoning TE&T2010E 10.0

JI| 5 #Sichuan-to-East China m9)11Z Ei8Sichuan to Shanghai FE#2010E 12.0

AxtiE it ETotal capacity to be added 61BCM
610 15K

ALK ARRIEKIELNG Terminals 3 Status X FI4 {7 Startup Date 2 #Nominal Capacity (& &/ mmtpa)

KBsDapeng 1% Operational 2006 37

#@EEFujian 1% E Operational 2008

L - K& - #13RShanghai, Dalian, Rudong #23&Construction 2009-2012

B 8 BE  RES LR T W8

Caofeidian, Hainan, Hong Kong, Qinhuangdao, Shandong, Zhejiang, Zhuhai #3#lProposed
A%t iR Total capacity to be added

[ #£EM R R RFCR Gas’s sources of gas
BRER HWZE - PAMAL - Wood Mackenzie Source NDRC, PetroChina, Wood Mackenzie
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R-_ZZNF  ARBIEFLG#ER
FEEEWE—EAARTRE D #H
BEH - ZERBSARFBAEASR
BIREIE R TIRR D SHERTS -

ZEWEEAEEESREBICERE
REZERHORARBT KL BEEETE
BB AN E ) MR H) e A
HE - WEASAREEN AT BEFE
EPERAOBTMRDHEEBFERET
FLERERE -

—EENFERRRANEBELAEHE
RETREYE  HEE-—FERN
RSP 2% R B T R SR 0 5 A RO <8
BEZ— AEBER_ZTTN\FHRK
BHEERBEARR T NFIM
WEE RV B SN20ME 1R B £ BN KAR
REEENME KLERBENER
g A o A O R B B8 & 3T AR
W AKRETEITNERAHBE
HEEEERARNREFERRR D
$HIAE °

RZTBETNFE AR EEIRRIE
R EmEEHEEWRE7EZEIINAT
MREE  TEEATSKRERIMS
R T RRIER - NA RIS M IR
BAURESMNmEEEMHNE B mK
REB R-ZEZENF+_A=+—
B - Bk A Uk B8 A B0 K2 & BB 9 T R
REBI > KABEFEI10EEHE
Higgo7EWmRRAER - AR AR
IEE A R 5K K A B 48 5t B9 3k
MRRDHEEZ— -

FRRTRR S HEREEAARER
REATBEMNRFERESTAER - R
HE_ZZNF+_A=+—HBIF
B AEBHSAQRFBRAFTAE A
JE 15 %% F1444,000,0007% 7T - E &
™R R 5 58 % 75 5 Bl422,000,0007%
TG BRAAE F E I N62% © R BT
WRR 5 S E TS & 5 F R 1885% %=
638,000,000 T ' MEAZLERESRA
SEEE I AN94% 5 942,000,00078 7T °

STRATEGIC EXPANSION AND GROWTH OF
BUSINESS

During 2008, the Company has entered into the agreement to
acquire a portfolio of city gas distribution projects from CRH.
The acquisition allows the Company to enter into the fast
growing city gas distribution business in China.

The acquisition provided the Group with a sound foundation
to tap into the burgeoning city gas distribution business in the
PRC by capturing the rapid increase in demand for natural
gas in China and leveraging China Resources Group’s strong
presence and brand name in China.

The 2008 CR Gas acquisition provides the Group with a solid
platform to further expand and establish itself as one of the
leaders in the city gas distribution business in the PRC. The
7 projects acquired by the Group in 2008 and the additional
20 projects acquired in 2009 are mainly located in regions
where there are rich natural gas reserves and the economically
more developed Eastern Board as well as densely populated
provincial capitals and emerging cities of China. The Group
also focuses on developing gas distribution projects in areas
where there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.

During 2009, the Company continues to grow rapidly with
acquisition of additional 7 city gas projects from CRH and
13 other city gas projects directly from the market. The
Company also announced proposed acquisitions of major
city gas projects in Zhengzhou and Chonggqing cities. As at
31st December, 2009, excluding the on-going acquisitions of
Zhengzhou and Chongqing city gas projects, the Company
operates a total of 27 city gas projects in 10 provinces in China.
The Company is on course to become one of the leading city
gas distributors in the PRC in the foreseeable future.

RESULTS

The PRC city gas distribution business continues to provide
the Group with handsome profit and cash flow contributions.
The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity
holders of HK$444 million for the year ended 31st December,
2009 of which city gas distribution operation contributed
HK$422 million, an increase of 62% over corresponding year.
The operating profit from city gas distribution business surged
by 85% to HK$638 million and its net operating cash inflow
increased 94% to HK$942 million.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to enhancing its standard corporate
governance by bench marking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook
based on the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set

out by the Stock Exchange. The Corporate Governance Report

is set out on pages 37 to 42 of this annual report.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Share Option Schemes

On 26th November, 2001, the Company has terminated the
share option scheme of the Company adopted on 15th October,
1994 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) and adopted a new
share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) as a
result of changes in Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange in relation to share
option scheme. On 21st February, 2002, upon approval of its
shareholders, the Company amended the New Share Option
Scheme to widen the scope of participants that are eligible to
participate in the New Share Option Scheme. On 5th March,
2008, the Company has terminated the New Share Option
Scheme of the Company adopted on 26th November, 2001 (and
subsequently amended on 21st February, 2002).

A summary showing the Old Share Option Scheme and the
New Share Option Scheme and their respective movements
during the year are detailed in the Directors’ Report and in Note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Incentive Award Scheme

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme
(the “Incentive Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 for
the purpose of recognizing and motivating the contribution
of certain employees and providing incentives to existing
employees. On 16th March, 2010 the Company amended
the Incentive Award Scheme. Details of the Incentive Award
Scheme are set out in the Directors’ Report.
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REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group employs approximately
7,600 employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group values
human resources and recognizes the importance of attracting
and retaining quality staff for its continual success. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, work
experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further,
staff bonuses are granted to certain employees and incentive
award may be made to selected employees based on individual
performance. The Group believes this will assist the Group to
attract and retain quality staff and at the same time encourage
the employees to give their best performance.

OUTLOOK

The continued economic growth and the rapid industrialisation
and urbanisation of China has spiked the demand for energy in
the PRC. The PRC government has been very supportive of the
development of the natural gas industry and has promulgated
various policies and guidelines to encourage and rationalize
the usage of natural gas. Construction of the second phase
of the “West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines and the
“Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas-rich Central Asia and
Sichuan Province to coastal regions of the PRC as well as
construction of LNG terminals in coastal cities are actively in
progress. All these will greatly boost the availability of natural
gas in China and offer significant opportunity for future growth
in the natural gas industry in China. The Company will ride
on these favourable industry fundamentals and its strong
and experienced management team to scale new heights via
organic and acquisition growth.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our most sincere appreciation to our business partners,
customers and shareholders for their unfailing support as well
as all the Group’s employees for their hard work and dedication
in carrying out their duties and in achieving the Group’s
business goal.

MA GUOAN
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2010
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The management team strives to accelerate the expansion of the Company, via
organic growth and external acquisition.

EEBEH ) EBABERRAIMIBINEL L FH R -

AFABHRWNBESEERRE RAPID EXPANSION WITH UNSURPASSED

R ACQUISITION RECORD

—ETNFEBMRRNE QB L 2009 is a special year for CR Gas’s expansion milestone.
#23EM MM RIBEE - EREABERERE Together with its parent company, CR Gas created acquisition
EEWN—F MNEEREEHMN = history by acquiring 23 city gas projects including 4 major city
B-wM mE 2EHEEREF gas projects in China such as Zhengzhou, Chonggqing, Fuzhou
BlETHBMAE LRI RB A and Nanchang. The two former projects are acquired directly by
B HEREMNER B BRI ZER CR Gas. After the acquisition, CR Gas portfolio includes 27 city
Ulg - WEETK 2% - EERERER gas projects. CR Gas footprint covers 10 Chinese provinces
MEKEZ27EM ™ (B 1E5EE 2 %P (Sichuan, Jiangsu, Hubei, Shandong, Shanxi, Hebei, Jiangxi,
(s 2% - B8 - BEmAER)) Yunnan, Anhui, Zhejiang) and includes 5 provincial capitals
AMHER10EF A 3 (T T & - (Chengdu, Wuhan, Kunming, Jinan, Nanjing).
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The Group’s ability in exerting its external expansion strategy is
evidenced by the acquisition made or proposed for the following
major projects during the year:

1. 25% interest in Chongqging Gas Group Corp Ltd.
(“Chongqing Gas”) for a consideration of RMB1.16 billion.
Chongqging Gas is one of the largest city gas operators
in China with an annual gas sales volume of 1.6 billion
m?® and annual net profit exceeding RMB200 million.
Chongqging Gas has more than 2.2 million customers and
operates 35 CNG gas stations. Chongging is the largest
among the 4 Chinese Direct Administrative Cities with
a total population of some 30 million of which some 11
million are currently under Chongqing Gas’s coverage.
The large population together with its situation in gas rich
Sichuan Province offer tremendous potential for future
growth and profitability.

R A AR BRI R

B Srgmasy bt
iy i Doty e e

2. 80% interest in Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd., for RMB760 million, which, subject to PRC regulatory
approval, will acquire 43.18% interest in Zhengzhou
Gas Company Limited (“Zhengzhou Gas”), a joint stock
controlled company incorporated in the PRC whose shares
are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Zhengzhou
Gas is one of the most profitable single city gas operations
in China with annual gas sales volume of exceeding 400
million m3. Zhengzhou is the capital of Henan Province
which is located in the Central region of China and ranks
5th in China in term of provincial GDP. It is an excellent
platform for the Group to tap into the vast potential of the
region and offers a lot of room for further growth in the
near future.

13
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3. 51% interest in Wuhan China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
for a consideration of RMB265 million with annual GDP
of exceeding RMB396 billion and population of 9 million,
Wuhan the provincial capital of Hubei, is one of the major
cities strategically located in the industrial heartland of
Central China. More importantly in addition to the existing
piped gas supplies, the new “West to East Phase 2” and
“Sichuan to East” pipelines will reach Wuhan in the near
future and will thus boost the gas supply and hence
Wuhan city gas business exponentially.

4. 64% interest in Kunming China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. for a consideration of RMB128 million. Kunming
is the provincial capital of Yunnan Province and holds
grate potential with its continuing urbanisation and
industrialisation, particular the new district. The Myanmar-
China gas pipeline, once completed in the future, will
significantly increase the natural gas supply to Kunming.
This bodies will for the Group’s city gas business in the
South Western region of China.

Excluding Zhengzhou and Chongqing projects which are
still obtaining relevant PRC regulatory approvals, the Group
currently operates 27 city gas distribution projects in 10
provinces in the PRC with annualised gas sales volume of
some 2.2 billion ma.

Top Performance in Hong Kong Capital Market

CR Gas was the favorite among the 7 listed city gas entities in
Hong Kong, in 2009 its share price increase reached a high of
319%.

JEAY: #h4R Type: Curve K47 K-line  4EH: Zoom A BA —f8A =@A *& FNES —F IF +F 8K
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Problem

Excellent Corporate Image

The management principle of CR Gas is customer driven,
focuses on delivering best customer service and building
excellent corporate image. GALLUP CONSULTING in its
2009 customer satisfaction survey on 22 cities where CR Gas
operates, ranks CR Gas gas service first among all utilities in
those cities.

m 5t Total (n=2872) L% Industrial (n=206) % Commercial (n=742) £ Residential (n=1924)

8.3
FHMA CR Gas Supply
8

8.1
4% Electricity Supply

K Water Supply

ERELR Cable TV

Highly Motivated Employees

CR Gas espouses growth and development together with
employees. Employees are highly motivated and identified
with the company through continuous enhancement in internal
management and corporate environment. Hewitt Associates, in
its staff professionalism survey of CR Gas employees, ranks
CR Gas in the best employer category, even surpassing the
highest in similar survey.

‘iﬁ;Survery Res”lts

BEE
BHME  Stable Zone

ZonS BExn/
BiEREREE
Best Performance/
Best Employer
Zone

1% Score

Hewitt
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2009 Revenue Breakdown

SHSRU A B 785 L B T AHEC 4 45 50 2 PR AEK T 75 R B0 FRLBR:
High proportion of revenue derived from gas
sales ensures protection against the risk of
reduction in connection fees

o 25.0%

) 84T W A Gas Sales # B EConnection Fee

GEX
(1) TFEDRE R R gl

SUSTAINABLE REVENUE AND SUPERIOR
CUSTOMER MIX

A high proportion of 83% of gas sales of the Group are derived
from commercial and industrial customers and CNG stations
which provides higher margins. In addition a high proportion of
75% of the Group’s revenue is derived from recurring gas sales
versus 25% from connection fee. This offers protection against
fluctuations in connection fee income as a result of cyclical
movements in the PRC residential property market.

2009 WM A AR ARES

2009 Gas Sales Revenue By Customer("

BLENTHAFHERRATRESHER
High proportion of gas sales derived from commercial/
industrial (“C&I”) customers provides higher margins

™ 19.0%

{# TR A FCal customers
# {x= F FResidential
@ /R IECNG Stations

Note:
(1) Excluding sales of bottled LPG
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LEVERAGING ON “CHINA RESOURCES” VALUE

When negotiating with local governments and potential partners
for new projects, the Company enjoys the advantage of having
a reputable “China Resources” brand name and synergies of
sister companies across a diversified range of business sectors.
This advantage is shown by the numerous quality city gas
projects that were acquired in recent years. The Company can
also leverage on the track records of listed sister companies
in the areas of enhancing shareholders’ value, best corporate
governance practices to maximize its potential as a listed entity
on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

range of
sectors

HEWTF RREF

m China
AVA' Resources

Better Life Together
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ESTABLISHED SUPPLIER AND GOVERNMENT
RELATIONSHIPS

CRH has strong and long established business relationships
with state-owned upstream suppliers when it used to involved
in operating oil depots and petrol stations and trading of oil
related products in Hong Kong. CRH Group being a central
government level multi-business large state-owned enterprise,
has established long term strategic relationships with various
PRC provincial and city governments. The Company is able
to leverage on CRH’s platform to enhance its relationships
with upstream gas suppliers and local governments. This is
evidenced from the fact that as of March, 2010, the Group has
secured gas supply contracts totalled 3.1 billion m® per annum,
some 60% of which are contracted with state-owned suppliers.
The Company also has good access and relationships with
upstream suppliers and various levels of governments in the
PRC.

ASPIRES TO BECOME CHINA’S LEADING CITY
GAS DISTRIBUTION COMPANY

Subsequent to the acquisition of CR Gas in 2008, the Company
continued with its expansion plan and acquired 20 new city
gas distribution projects including those in provincial capitals
such as Wuhan, Kunming and Jinan. Kunming and Jinan are
provincial capitals of Yunnan Province and Shandong Province
respectively and holds great potential with its continuing
urbanisation and industrialisation, particular the cities’ new
districts.

The Group also announced during the fourth quarter of
2009 joint venture proposals to acquire interests in city gas
businesses in provincial capital of Henan, Zhengzhou and
Chonggqing Direct Administration Municipality. Both Zhengzhou
and Chongqing are among the biggest natural gas consumption
cities in the PRC and will contribute significantly to the Group’s
results in 2010 once these acquisitions are completed.
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TERBH TR D HEB AR E The ongoing organic expansion of existing city gas distribution
BRRENEIRTRAEL - B business and the external acquisition of new city gas
BETRETHERERRTEER businesses will continue to deliver stable cash flow as well
g MmN RAEREAARR BRI as excellent growth opportunity for the enhancement of the
REE - Company’s shareholders’ value in the foreseeable future.
BELIRZ  FAEBRRERETR Leveraging on the above mentioned factors, the Group intends
SERAE A RO R BK 5 R B 4B SR R SR to expand rapidly and aspires to become the PRC leading gas
SEHAR] © distribution company in the foreseeable future.

PR RBTFEALNRRDEA A
To Become China’s Leading Gas Distribution Company

REMF AREE CR Power CREnterprise CR Cement

China +
esources B i >
Ve Wgame U smnes

EREEHARRANEIREEENESR
Consistent Creation of Shareholders’
and Employees’ Value

RERBREREARRERE

‘313 Promoting Green Energy and Environment

MNAFEBNREES

Leveraging on ChinaResources Value S
AHE S REMENBAR
»?'ifﬂ EHE N EHAIE EEAR Sustainable/Recurring Revenue Stream

I A#4 Revenue Breakdown

CR Microelectronics

SHTHRA

Gas Sales

B o
Connection Fee F 2200

75.00%

Bh 5 APPRECIATION

AAEZNUEEEBRETEETE N I would like to express my deepest gratitude to our
THE B RS BIAR O = o B management team and staff members for their unfailing hard
W= O IR IR RS R R work and dedication. We would continue to work hand in hand
REE ISR ERESNER - to increase the efficiency and scale of the gas business so as

to enhance the values of the shareholders and employees.

FER WANG CHUANDONG
B FE T Managing Director

 —E-FTHE=A+RA Hong Kong, 16th March, 2010
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OVERALL FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group undergone a series of restructuring exercises
during 2008, discontinued its semiconductor business (other
than the remaining plant located in Tai Po, Hong Kong) and
ready mixed concrete business and also acquired new PRC
city gas distribution business. In 2009, the semiconductor
plant and other related assets of the discontinued business
were completely disposed of. The Group also acquired 20
new PRC city gas distribution projects. The results of these
continuing and discontinued operations are accounted for in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common
Control Combination” adopted by the Group. Accordingly, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows of the Group for the two years ended 31st
December, 2008 and 2009 include the results of operations,
changes in equity and cash flows of the companies now
comprising the Group as if the current group structure upon
the completion of the Group Reorganisation had been in
existence throughout the two years ended 31st December,
2008 and 2009, or since their respective dates of incorporation
or establishment where this is a shorter period except for the
subsidiaries acquired from independent third parties during the
year ended 31st December, 2008, which are included in the
consolidated financial statements since their respective dates
of acquisitions. To enable the management and discussion
analysis be more meaningful in presenting the changes from
2008 to 2009, only the financial and operational numbers before
restatement for 2008 are presented in the analysis below.

The Group’s results for 2009 were driven by both acquisition
and organic growths. The Group’s turnover for the year
amounted to HK$3,747 million (2008: HK$2,145 million), all of
which was contributed from the continuing city gas distribution
operation.

The continuing operation of city gas distribution business
contributed an after tax profit of HK$518 million (2008: HK$302
million) whereas the discontinued operations registered a gain
on disposal of assets of HK$22 million (2008: loss of HK$29
million), resulting in a profit before minority interests for the
year of HK$540 million (2008: HK$273 million) and profit
attributable to shareholders of HK$444 million (2008: HK$237
million).
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Cash Flow

The net cash inflow from operations during the year amounted
to HK$942 million (2008: HK$628 million), out of which
HK$942 million was contributed from the continuing city gas
distribution operation (2008: HK$486 million) and none from the
discontinued operations (2008: HK$142 million).

The Group has spent HK$4.6 billion in capital expenditure
during the year to fund its acquisition expansion and HK$684
million in upgrading of its continuing city gas distribution
business. The above required funding was financed by the
operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash on hand of
the Group. As at year end the Group’s free cash on hand was
HK$2.2 billion. Among the cash balance 12% was denominated
in Hong Kong dollar and the remaining in Renminbi and US
dollar.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from
operations and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal
source of fund to finance major expansion and acquisition.
As at the end of the year, the Group has total borrowings
of HK$2,731 million. 38% of the borrowings are considered
as current liabilities and repayable within one year, the
remaining are repayable in five years. Renminbi and HK dollar
denominated borrowings accounted for 11% and 89% of the
total borrowings respectively. Bank loans of HK$96 million was
secured by assets of the Group. Over 90% of the borrowings
are interest bearing bank loans on floating rate terms.

The net borrowings of the Group was HK$505 million as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the
year, calculated as total borrowings over total assets, was 32%,
compared to 3% as of last year end. The EBITDA to interest
cover ratio was at the healthy level of 20.6 times. On the whole,
the financial position and liquidity of the Group is healthy and
stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$3.1 billion term
loan facilities with maturities from 2011 to 2014. The facilities
are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end
of the year, 79% of the facilities has been drawn down. The
facilities together with healthy operating cash flow will provide
sufficient funding for foreseeable expansion and working capital
requirement.
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Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group
has no other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day
liquidity management and maintaining flexibility in funding, the
Group has managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted short-
term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2009, a bank deposit of HK$19 million
was pledged as securities for trade payable to a supplier of
natural gas and certain property, plant and equipment with
carrying values of HK$96 million were pledged to secure bank
borrowing.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group’s
continuing city gas distribution business spent HK$37 million on
machinery and equipment and HK$430 million on construction
in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group did not have any
material liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility
of the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong
Kong. One of the major objectives of the Group’s treasury
policies is to manage its exposure to fluctuation in interest rates
and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the Group’s policy
not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in
US dollar and Euro. The Group does not expect significant
exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations in this regard.

OPERATING RESULTS OF CITY GAS
DISTRIBUTION BUSINESS

Key Revenue Drivers

The revenue of city gas distribution operation are derived from
recurring gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which
respectively accounts for 75% and 25% of the 2009 revenue
(2008: 78% and 22% respectively).

The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year
ended 31st December, 2009 amounted to HK$3,747 million,
an increase of 75% over that of 2008. The significant increase
was mainly due to the increase in gas sales volume by 61%
from 1,371 million m® to 2,214 million m® and the increase in
connection fee income by 95% from HK$475 million to HK$924
million. The increase in gas sales and connection fee income
were in turn driven by the following factors:
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(1) 72% increase in the daily installed capacity
for commercial & industrial (“C&l”) customers
from 5.8 million m® to 10.0 million m3. C&l
customers accounted for 62% of the total gas
sales in 2009.

(2) 55% increase in the number of connected
households from 2.2 million to 3.4 million.

HECEFBARIGRAFRARIARE
Number of Connected Households and Daily
Installed Capacity for C&l Customers
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Revenue Breakdown

Stable gas sales gross margin

The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross
profit margin of 31.0% for 2009 compared with 29.1% for 2008.
The increase in gross margin was mainly due to the bigger
increase in connection fee income with higher gross profit
margin than gas sales. For 2009, the gross profit margin for
connection fee income was 50.6% versus 46.4% gross profit
margin for gas sales.

The gross profit margin for connection fee income increased
from 46.4% for 2008 to 50.6% for 2009 mainly because of
higher proportion of connection fee income from cities with
relative higher connection fee such as Wuxi, Suzhou, Wuhan,
Kunming and Huaibei. The gross profit margin for gas sales of
24.2% for 2008 and 24.5% for 2009 are fairly stable. This is
because the higher gas sales margins of industrial cities such
as Wuxi, Wuhan, Zhenjiang, Zibo and Xianfang were negated
to a certain extent by the lower gas sales margins of Chengdu
and Luzhou where gas sales price are traditionally lower due to
abundance of gas sources in Sichuan Province.
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Stable costs and expenses

The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution
and general and administration expenses in 2009 were the
result of the numerous projects acquired in 2009. However
as a percentage of revenue, these expenses are quite stable
and comparable to those of 2008. These together with the
increase in gross profit margin of 1.9%, mainly accounts for
increase in Earning Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) of 1.5%.
However net income after tax of 11.9% is basically similar to
the 12.1% of 2008, this is mainly due to the increase in interest
expenses and increase effective tax rate as a result of certain
city gas projects graduating from tax incentive period to non-
tax incentive period and the standard tax rate of 25% starts to

apply.
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate
healthy cash flow with an operating cash flow of HK$942 million
and free cash flow (after operating capital expenditure) of
HK$175 million in 2009. The Group recorded a cash balance of
HK$2,227 million at the end of 2009, an increase of HK$1,185
million or 88% over the amount at the end of 2008. The Group
has started to leverage on its strong balance sheet to raise
low cost finance during 2009 and has a total bank loan of
HK$2,731 million outstanding as at 31st December 2009, with
a gross debt to total asset ratio of 32%. The Group maintains
a healthy gross debt to EBITDA to interest cover ratio at 31st
December 2009 of 20.6 times.

BEHENERREWAL BHEERGRED
Operating Cash Flow and Operating Cash Flow/Revenue Free Operating Cash Flow®
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Note:

(1) Free Cash Flow = EBITDA - Operating Capital
Expenditures — Increase in Working Capital
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EEERE Reasonable rates of return
BHRRDHEBEERSEENR The city gas distribution operation continues to register
$@¢|§T&§IZ@¥ £, —_FFNF reasonable return on equity and return on assets of 8.4% and
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(2) China Resources Gas Limited’s ROE and ROA

(3) Based on equity of HK$1.035 billion, net of HK$4 billion
merger reserve. If excludes the merger reserve, the ROE
is 40.7%
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Total Gas Sales Volume

Major contributors

Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou projects used to account for more
than 80% of the gas sales volume, connection fee and net
profit contribution.

As the Group has acquired more new projects in 2009 their
contribution percentages have decreased and taken up by
Wuhan, Kunming, Zhenjiang, Zibo and Luzhou. As there will
be more acquisitions over the next few years, the percentage
contribution from all projects are expected to gradually become
more evenly distributed in the future.
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Executive Directors
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Mr. Ma Guoan, aged 58, was appointed as Chairman and
Executive Director of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. Mr.
Ma joined CRH, the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company in March, 2008 and is currently a Director of CRH
and concurrently Chairman of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CRH. He is also a director
of two subsidiaries of the Group. Before joining CRH, he was
in charge of General Office of China State Economic and Trade
Commission and once served as the Vice Secretary General of the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
the State Council (SASAC). Mr. Ma holds a Post-graduate Degree
majoring in Economic Management.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 45, was appointed as Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company on 3rd November,
2008. He was appointed as a Director and the General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of CRH with effect from February 2007. Mr. Wang
joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited
in 1985 and was previously the Deputy Managing Director. He
is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group. He has
over 24 years of corporate management experience in the area of
petroleum and related products trading and distribution and holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining
from the East China Petroleum Institute (presently known as the
University of Petroleum (East China)).
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Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken, aged 52, was appointed as an
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on
28th May, 2001 with overall responsibilities for the financial and
legal operations of the Group. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and members
of the national accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia. He
obtained a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of Southern Queensland, Australia. He has more than
20 years of diverse range of experience in professional accounting
practice as well as financial positions in various industries
straddling countries in Southeast Asia, the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Non-executive Directors
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Mr. Li Fuzuo, aged 45, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 22nd August, 2006. Mr. Li is currently the Vice
President and the Chief Strategy Management Officer of CRH and
the General Manager of its Strategy Management Department. He
is also a Non-executive Director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China Resources
Microelectronics Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited. Shares of the above four immediate mentioned companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Li
obtained both his Bachelor’'s and Master’s Degrees in Mechanical
Manufacturing Engineering from the Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics, China in 1987 and 1990 respectively
and joined CRH in 1992.
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Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 46, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 21st March, 2008 and is currently
the Chief Human Resources Officer of CRH. He was the Chief
Audit Executive and the General Manager of the Internal Audit and
Supervision Department of CRH. Mr. Du is also a Non-executive
Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources
Land Limited, China Resources Microelectronics Limited and China
Resource Cement Holdings Limited. Shares of the above four
immediately mentioned companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Du received a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco, USA
and joined CRH in 1985.
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Mr. Wei Bin, aged 40, was appointed as Non-executive Director
of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. Mr. Wei is the General
Manager of Finance Department of CRH. He is also a Non-
executive Director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Auditing and a Master’s Degree in
Finance and is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in the
PRC. He is also a non-practising member of The Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and joined CRH in 2001.

BYFHITES
Independent Non-executive Directors
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the
Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration Committee. He was
admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984
and has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 20 years.
From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two
local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own practice
in 1987. He was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer
with effect from 18th January, 2003. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University.



34

EBMKERBRAT —ZTNFFR

EENEREBAEBE

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

BEEEXE A tlm R-ZET_F-A=1THEZEIRAEAR
BB IFNTES - RAARAELZESEIR - RABREWESH
il HEGAGLREFHFARSHMAGEREE - AN
NAFERE  REXMCBERATFET  EEIMEELR -

Mr. Luk Chi Cheong, aged 54, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 31st January, 2002.
He is the Chairman of the Company’s audit committee. He is a
practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, United
Kingdom. He has been in accounting practice since 1995 and prior
to that he has over 10 years of diversified experience in audit,
construction and airline industry.
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Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard, aged 52, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 22nd August, 2006. He is the Chairman of the Company’s
nomination committee. He worked at National Semiconductor
Corp., Chips and Technology Inc. and Pericom Semiconductor
Corp. in Silicon Valley before his return to China. In 1997, he
co-founded Newave Semiconductor Corp. (“Newave”), and later
successfully merged Newave with Integrated Device Technology
Inc., which ranked China’s top ten mergers in 2001. He is currently
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Montage Technology
Group Limited (“Montage”). Prior to co-founding Montage, he was
Vice President of Integrated Device Technology Inc. He received
the prestigious Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
(IEEE) Circuits and System (CAS) Industrial Pioneer Award in
2002 for his pioneering contribution in China’s integrated circuit
design industry. Dr. Yang received his Doctor of Philosophy Degree
in Electrical Engineering from the Oregon State University, USA.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 52, was appointed as a Deputy
General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
in September 2007, responsible for the internal affairs and
discipline of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited. Mr.
Zheng holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from the School of
Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business
Engineer. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
August 1985 and has been working for China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since September 2007. He was appointed as
a director of China Resources Gas Limited in September, 2008.

Mr. Wang Yan, aged 38, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in
September 2007, responsible for the finance and internal
auditing operations of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited.
Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from the
Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of
Economics and Business, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the University of South Australia and is a qualified
PRC Certified Accountant. He joined China Resources
Holdings Group in July 1994 and has been working for China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007. He
was appointed as a director of China Resources Gas Limited in
November, 2005.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 44, was appointed as a Deputy
General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
in September 2007, responsible for the investment, strategic
management and PRC legal affairs of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited. Mr. Huang holds a Master’'s Degree
majoring in International Finance from the Fudan University
and licenses to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He
joined China Resources Holdings Group in March 2000 and
has been working for China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
since March 2007. He was appointed as a director of China
Resources Gas Limited in November, 2005.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 46, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in
January, 2010, and concurrently held the positions as a
director and the General Manager of Wuxi China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Ge graduated from the Shanghai Institute
of Finance and Commerce Management (currently known as
Shanghai Business School), presently pursuing a Master’s
Degree majoring in Gas Engineering and Control System,
Nanjing University of Technology, and holds a senior economist
qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
September 1996 and has been working for China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007. He was
appointed as a director of China Resources Gas Limited in
September 2008.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 38, was appointed as an Assistant
General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
in January 2010, responsible for the operation management
of members of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited. Mr.
Shi holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from
the Southwest Jiaotong University and a Senior Engineer
qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
2006 and China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March
2007. He was appointed as a director of China Resources Gas
Limited in September 2008.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 43, was appointed as an Assistant
General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
in January 2010, responsible for the human resources and
information management of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor’s Degree majoring in
Automation in Petro-chemical Industry from the Nanjing
University of Chemical Technology (currently known as Nanjing
University of Technology), a Master’'s Degree majoring in
International Economics from the Soochow University, and
a Senior Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources
Holdings Group in August 2003.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible
framework of corporate governance with a view to being
transparent, open and accountable to its shareholders.

THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules after it came into effect in
January, 2005. In line with the mandatory provisions of the
Code, the Company has adopted a Corporate Governance
Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd December, 2005 and
subsequently updated in 2008 and 2009 respectively. The
contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’
duties, model code for directors’ transaction in securities, model
code for securities transaction by relevant employees, the
functions and terms of reference of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees, disclosure of information and
communication with shareholders. All the mandatory provisions
under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the
Handbook. The Company has throughout the year complied
with the mandatory provisions of the Code.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three
Executive Directors, three Non-executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr.
Luk Chi Cheong has the appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise as required under the Listing Rules.
The names and biographical details of each Director are
disclosed on pages 30 to 34 of this annual report.

Mr. Lee Yip Wah Peter resigned as the Company Secretary of
the Company and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken was appointed as
the Company Secretary of the Company to fill the vacancy of
Mr. Lee with effect from 8th June, 2009.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed
he is independent of the Company and the Company also
considers that they are independent. The term of office of each
Non-executive Director, including Independent Non-executive
Director, is for a period of three years subject to the requirement
that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-
laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any,
among members of the Board are disclosed in this annual
report. There is no such relationship between the Chairman
and the Managing Director.
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FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is
managed and the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board
is required for the strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major
acquisition and disposal, major capital investment, dividend
policy, appointment and retirement of Directors and senior
management, remuneration policy and other major operational
and financial matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are
the responsibility of the Company’s management.

The Board has held four regular meetings during the year 2009.
Details of individual attendance of Directors are set out in the
table below:

=) “EEAF=AtTAA  —EEREXRA-B  ZEEAFAANR ZEBAS+-AtEA
Date 16th March, 2009 1st June, 2009 8th September, 2009 15th December, 2009
IE TEREE TEREE BEREE BEREE
Chairman Mr. Wang Chuandong Mr. Wang Chuandong Mr. Ma Guoan Mr. Ma Guoan
HITEE Executive Directors
FEREE Mr. Ma Guoan - - J J
EfEf/EE  Mr Wang Chuandong J J J J
IRAREE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken J J J J
FHTES Non-executive Directors
FRERE  Mr.LiFuzuo J J J J
HXR%%E  Mr.DuWenmin J J J y
Bks Mr. Wei Bin - J J J
BYEHTEE Independent Non-executive
Directors
EEHBEL4E  Mr.Wong Tak Shing J J J J
BEE%4E M Luk Chi Cheong J J J J
ek Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard J J J |
B (MEARTXER) : Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
J = HE J = attended
- = BRE — = didn’t attend
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CHAIRMAN AND THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board
is Mr. Ma Guoan while Mr. Wang Chuandong is the Managing
Director. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and
formulate, together with the Board, the business strategies
and long-term objectives of the Company whilst the Managing
Director carries out the decisions made by the Board and is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance
its expertise, there are three Committees namely, the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees under the Board,
with each performing different functions.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Luk Chi Cheong (chairman) and Mr. Wong Tak Shing
and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin. The
Committee’s role is to provide an independent and objective
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control, risk management as well as internal audit
function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

. responsible for making recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of external auditor and any matters related to
the resignation or dismissal of external auditor;

e review the financial statements of the Company’s annual
and half-year reports and accounts; and

* review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems.

During the year 2009 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements and
results announcement for year 2008, and those for the half-
yearly results and yearly results for year 2009. These include
the review of the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices; the review of the ongoing connected transactions of
the Company conducted in year 2008 and year 2009; and the
review of the internal audit reports prepared by the Company’s
Internal Audit Division.
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out in the table below:

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year
2009. Details of individual attendance of its members are set

ES: 3 K&
Chairman Members
BEEE L EEBELE HXRELE
Mr. Luk Mr. Wong Mr. Du
[SR:] Date Chi Cheong Tak Shing Wenmin
:%@hifﬁha 9th March, 2009 J J J
—EZNFNAMA 4th September, 2009 J J -
FMEES Remuneration Committee
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The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is
to determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of
Executive Directors and senior management, including but not
limited to bonus plan, restricted Incentive Award Scheme and
other long term incentive plan, and bonus allocation and salary
adjustment of each Executive Director and senior management.
As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing (chairman) and Mr. Luk
Chi Cheong and one Executive Director namely Mr. Ong Thiam
Kin, Ken.

During the year 2009, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the existing terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee and the Incentive Award Scheme adopted by the
Company on 1st December, 2008.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during the
year 2009. Details of individual attendance of its members are
set out in the table below:

xE RE
Chairman Members
EEBELE BEEE XL ERRELE
Mr. Wong Mr. Luk Mr. Ong
A A Date Tak Shing Chi Cheong Thiam Kin, Ken

—TTNF+=-A+HHA  15th December, 2009 J
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Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to
review the structure and composition of the Board, and to make
recommendation to the Board on the selection of individual
nominated for directorships. As at the date of this annual report,
the Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-executive Directors namely Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard
(chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Luk Chi Cheong.

The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must
have substantial experience in business relevant to the
Company or in corporate management, or in relevant profession
and must be able to contribute effectively to the objectives of
the Company. Any committee member may propose suitable
candidates for directorship for discussion and approval by the
Nomination Committee, after which the Board will consider and,
if proper, approve such nomination. Directors thus selected
is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as
appropriate, according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During the year 2009, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the existing terms of reference of the Nomination Committee as
well as the composition of the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during the
year 2009. Details of individual attendance of its members are
set out in the table below:

EE 54-1
Chairman Members
BEMEL EEBELE FExE
Dr. Yang
Chonghe, Mr. Wong Mr. Luk
=]t Date Howard Tak Shing Chi Cheong
—EENF+HATHAB 15th December 2009 J J J

R EE 4
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an
effective internal control system.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts annual
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control covering all material controls, including financial control,
operational control, compliance control and risk management
system.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit Committee to
review the effectiveness of such internal control system in
operation. The Division regularly carries out internal audit
and other related audit reviews and reports its findings and
suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit Committee for their consideration. During the year, the
Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported
to the Board for consideration and would form the basis for
further improvement in the future.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct in relation to Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed
that all Directors have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. The statement
by the Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 67 to 68.

% ELEM B9 Fr BN AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
AEERFANENZEEZD s BEMR The Group re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
T EEHRNIT AT AR ERD o AR EX independent auditor during the year. The remuneration paid to

HEVEZ e BIE the Company’s Auditor includes:

—EBEBAEF
2009
FET
Frig (AR % Services rendered HK$°000
EBit R Audit services 540
IEEET RS Non-audit services 4,883
A&t Total 5,423
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31st December, 2009.

CHANGE OF COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LEE Yip Wah, Peter resigned as the Company Secretary of
the Company and Mr. ONG Thiam Kin, Ken was appointed as
the Company Secretary of the Company to fill the vacancy of
Mr. LEE with effect from 8th June, 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are
set out in Note 50 and Note 52 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2009 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 69 to 70.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
and share options of the Group during the year are set out in
Note 37 and Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 73 to 75 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders at 31st December, 2009, amounted to
HK$216,182,000 (2008: HK$250,838,000).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of
a final dividend of 4.50 HK cents per share together with
the interim dividend of 2.00 HK cents per share, amount to
a total of 6.50 HK cents per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2009 (2008: 4.00 HK cents per share). Subject to
the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 14th June, 2010
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on
31st May, 2010.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
25th May, 2010 to 31st May, 2010, both days inclusive. In
order to qualify for the proposed dividend payment, completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 24th May, 2010. The ex-
dividend date for the final dividend will be on 26th May, 2010.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the
Company was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each, of which 1,414,416,710 shares had
been issued and fully paid, and the shareholders’ equity of the
Group was HK$1,031,385,000.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

Acquisition of 51% interest in Wuhan Gas

On 9th January, 2009, Kileen Holdings Limited (“Kileen”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
transfer agreement, together with a supplemental agreement
supplementing the terms thereof, with an independent third
party (the “Transferor”) to acquire 51% interest in Wuhan
Tongbao Gas Development Co., Ltd.* (X2 EBEMRREREE
fR 7~ B]) (presently known as Wuhan China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd.* (RZEHMRBRAF) (“Wuhan Gas”)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC, at a consideration
of RMB265,000,000. The consideration was determined after
arm’s length negotiations with reference to the consolidated net
asset value of approximately RMB43.20 million of Wuhan Gas
as at 30th April, 2008. Following completion of the acquisition
whereupon Kileen holds a 51% interest and the Transferor and
the two other shareholders hold the remaining 49% interest in
Wuhan Gas. Wuhan Gas is principally engaged in, among other
things, the manufacturing and sale of gas and provision of
other gas-related goods and services in Wuhan, Hubei Province
of the PRC.
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Formation of Kunming Gas

On 22nd January, 2009, the Company, through Kileen, entered
into a sino-foreign equity joint venture arrangement with E 85
Ha (£8) EiRABEMRAF (translated as Kunming Gas Group
Company Limited) (the “PRC Party”) pursuant to the joint
venture contract and the articles of association in relation
to the establishment of the joint venture company namely
Kunming China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (EFREBREER
A 7)) (“Kunming Gas”), which became a subsidiary of the
Company upon establishment. Kunming Gas is principally
engaged in, among other things, the manufacturing and sale of
gas and provision of other gas-related goods and services in
Kunming, Yunnan Province of the PRC. The registered capital of
Kunming Gas is RMB200 million of which 64% (being RMB128
million) was contributed in cash by Kileen and 36% (being
RMB72 million) was contributed by the PRC Party by way of
the transfer to Kunming Gas its ownership interests in certain
operating assets such as gas pipelines and related equipment
owned by the PRC Party and such amount of cash representing
the monetary difference between the agreed capital contribution
of the PRC Party of RMB72 million and the appraised value
by a valuer agreed between Kileen and the PRC Party of the
contribution assets as confirmed by the relevant state-owned
asset administration department.

The above transaction was completed in June, 2009 upon
obtaining all the necessary approvals from the relevant PRC
authorities.
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Acquisition of Top Steed

On 8th September, 2009, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement with, amongst others, Powerfaith
Enterprises Limited (“Powerfaith”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRH, the substantial and controlling shareholder of the
Company, to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Top Steed Limited (“Top Steed”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, for a consideration of HK$1,600 million. The
consideration for the acquisition has been arrived at after arm’s
length negotiations between Powerfaith and the Company
after taking into account various relevant factors including
the strategic rationale behind the transactions contemplated,
the nature of the relevant businesses, the historical financial
information, combined net asset value and future prospects of
the relevant industries including general economic trends and
market growth and the prevailing commercial and business
conditions in which Top Steed operates. The consideration
payable by the Company to Powerfaith for the acquisition shall
be satisfied in cash and payable within 12 months from the
date of completion. While such amount remains outstanding,
interest will accrue at a normal commercial or preferable rate
to the Company from the date of completion until the date
of payment of the consideration by the Company (both days
inclusive). Powerfaith has extended the date of payment of the
consideration to 31st January 2011.

The aforesaid transaction was approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held
on 19th October, 2009 and completed on the same day upon
obtaining necessary shareholders’ approval and the fulfillment
of all necessary conditions.

Cooperation Arrangements with Zhengzhou SASAC

On 25th November, 2009, China Resources Gas (China)
Investment Limited (“CR Gas Investment”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Zhengzhou
Municipality (“Zhengzhou SASAC”) entered into various
agreements which relate to the formation of a joint venture (the
“Joint Venture”) between CR Gas Investment and Zhengzhou
SASAC, increase in its registered capital; and the acquisitions
by the Joint Venture of 54,041,510 domestic shares (the “Sales
Shares”) of Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited* (Z5M 4 &A%
B EBRA]) (“Zhengzhou Gas”) which represent 43.18% of the
total issued share capital of Zhengzhou Gas and certain assets
from Zhengzhou SASAC (the “Acquisition”) (collectively, the
“Cooperation Arrangement”). Zhengzhou Gas is a joint stock
limited company incorporated in the PRC whose H shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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On 11th January, 2010, Zhengzhou SASAC, CR Gas
Investment, the Joint Venture and Zhengzhou Gas Group Co.,
Ltd. (ZF )0 ¥ @ £ @ AR 2 7)) (“Zhengzhou GGCL’) entered
into a supplemental agreement in which the Joint Venture has
confirmed its obligations in respect of the Acquisition under the
various agreements entered into between Zhengzhou SASAC
and CR Gas Investment on 25th November, 2009. When the
initial registered capital of the Joint Venture is fully paid up and
following the increase in its registered capital, the Joint Venture
will be held as to 80% by CR Gas Investment and as to 20% by
Zhengzhou SASAC. The Joint Venture and Zhengzhou SASAC
have also agreed to enter into a lease agreement pursuant to
which Zhengzhou SASAC will grant the Joint Venture the right
to use a parcel of land for a term of 30 years at an annual
leasing fee of approximately RMB1.3 million. The proposed
lease agreement, if entered into, will constitute a continuing
connected transaction for the Company and the Company will
comply with the relevant reporting, announcement and approval
requirements under the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

If the conditions to which the formation of the Joint Venture and
the completion of the acquisition of Sale Shares are subject
have been fulfilled, the Joint Venture will acquire the Sale
Shares from Zhengzhou SASAC. This will lead to a change
in control of Zhengzhou Gas under the Hong Kong Code on
Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeovers Code”) and, therefore,
a mandatory general offer will be made to the shareholders of
Zhengzhou Gas.

CR Gas Investment will make the offer in compliance with the
Takeovers Code upon completion of the acquisition by the
Joint Venture of the Sale Shares from Zhengzhou SASAC.
The price of the offer to be made by CR Gas Investment
to the shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas pursuant to the
announcement dated 25th November, 2009 was RMB8.45
per domestic share of Zhengzhou Gas and the Hong Kong
dollar equivalent of HK$9.60 per H share of Zhengzhou Gas,
determined after arm’s length negotiation with reference to,
among others, the net assets value of Zhengzhou Gas, its
future prospects and the staff compensation if Zhengzhou Gas
were changed from a State-owned enterprise to a foreign-
owned enterprise upon completion of the acquisition of the
Sale Shares. As disclosed in the joint announcement of the
Company and Zhengzhou Gas dated 11th December, 2009, in
order to extend the same favourable conditions which will be
extended to Zhengzhou SASAC under the potential cooperation
to all other shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas, the Board of the
Company resolved to increase the offer price under the offer to
RMB12.96 per domestic share, of Zhengzhou Gas or equivalent
to HK$14.73 per H share of Zhengzhou Gas based on the
exchange rate quoted on 11th December, 2009.
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The Joint Venture has been established in 2009 and the
Cooperation Arrangement is still in the process of obtaining
necessary approvals from the relevant PRC regulatory
authorities.

Acquisition of 25% equity interest in Chongqing

On 23rd December, 2009 and 24th December, 2009, China
Resources Gas (China) Investment Limited (“CR Gas
Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into master agreements and a supplemental agreement
respectively, with Chongqging Energy Investment Group* (&
EmeRIEE £ E R AF) (“Chongging Energy”) whereby CR
Gas Investment agreed to contribute cash of approximately
RMB1,162.8 million to Chongqing Gas Group Corp Ltd.* (&
BEMR (£E) BRETAR) (“Chongging Gas”) to increase
its registered capital in return for a 25% equity interest in
Chongging Gas. The cash consideration of approximately
RMB1,162.8 million for the 25% equity interest in the enlarged
registered capital of Chongqging Gas was determined after
arm’s length negotiation with reference to (i) the track record
and potential development of Chongging Gas in the city gas
distribution business in Chongging; and (ii) the appraised net
asset value of Chongqing Gas of RMB2,877.1 million as at
30th September, 2009, based on the independent valuation
performed by an independent valuer in the PRC. Chongqing
Gas is a limited company incorporated in the PRC wholly-
owned by Chongqging Energy and is principally engaged in city
gas distribution business in Chongqing, the PRC. Pursuant
to the agreements, upon completion of the cash contribution,
Chongging Gas will be converted into a sino-foreign equity joint
venture which will be owned by Chongqing Energy and CR Gas
Investment as to 75% and 25% respectively.

The aforesaid transaction is still in the process of obtaining all
the necessary approvals from the relevant PRC authorities.

* Name translated for reference purposes.
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GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities
available, the Group has adequate financial resources to
continue its operation for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, the going concern basis continues to be adopted in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2009 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial
periods is set out on page 221 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 17 and Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and technical know-
how of the Group during the year are set out in Note 22 and
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2009, the aggregate
turnover attributable to the five largest customers accounted for
were less than 10% of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2009, the aggregate
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted
for were less than 70% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ma Guoan
Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Fuzuo
Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Wei Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Mr. Luk Chi Cheong
Dr. Yang Chonghe, Howard

Each Independent Non-executive Director submits to the Stock
Exchange and the Company a written annual confirmation,
confirming his independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company still considers such Directors
are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Du
Wenmin, Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Luk Chi Cheong shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and shall be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including
Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to requirement that one-third of all the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (to which the Company
or its subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow subsidiary
was a party) subsisting during or at the end of the financial
year in which a Director of the Company is or was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his
relevant qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties
and responsibilities and performance of the Company. The
current market situation will also be taken into account. Bonus
and restricted shares may be granted to individual Directors in
recognition of their contribution to the Group. All the aforesaid
form the emolument policy and long term incentive for Directors
of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2009, none
of the Directors, chief executive of the Company and their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.



52

EBMKERBRAT —ZTNFFR

ESEHRE

Directors’ Report

(a) REDF BT

BRAERS

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company
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EEnE 514 Long or short Number of  percentage

Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest!

FIEIESLE BEREAA HAE 51,000 0.0036%
Mr. Li Fuzuo Beneficial owner Long position

RXR%EE EHBEAA Sy} 54,000 0.0038%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position

=RBEE EnlAA e 40,000 0.0028%
Mr. Wong Tak Shing Beneficial owner Long position

BeE Note:
1. WRRZZEAF+-A=+—HMF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
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(b) RERQFAMEBEZEEBAXAR
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shares of the Company to the total issued share capital of the
Company as at 31st December, 2009.

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of China Resources Enterprise, Limited

AR HER (“CRE”), an associated corporation of the Company
SRITHEE
Exercise itz
BREZR price BERDL?
EEpg FRHAKXE BHEA Number per share Aggregate
Name of Long or short Number of share (&) RHEA®  percentage
Directors position of shares options' (HKS$) Date of grant of interest?
ITEREE 55 300,000 300,000° 10.350  04/10/2004 0.0250%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position
HXR%E e 100,000 - - - 0.0042%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
BisE Notes:
1. 1 35 5 A BE RO T 2R 5 2 AR R R 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRE covered by its

nEE -

2. WRARZZEAF+_A=+—HH
FEALBR R AERERM F R AFE
ERIZHDETRANEDLL ©

share option schemes.

2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital

of CRE as at 31st December, 2009.
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3. The exerciseable period during which the share options may be
exercised is from 4th October, 2004 to 3rd October, 2014.

4. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
options granted.

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of China Resources Power Holdings Company

BRRAEBERGHER Limited (“CRP”), an associated corporation of the
Company
BROTEE

Exercise FrikfEs

BREZE price BEE D2

EENE FEIKE BRAEE Number per share Aggregate

Name of Long or short Number of share (B7r) R B  percentage

Directors position of shares options' (HKS$) Date of grant of interest?

SRR %L 55) 22,000 - - - 0.0005%
Mr. Ma Guoan Long position

FERESE e - 101,800° 2.750  06/10/2003 0.0022%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

FRIERE e 741,780 61,080 3.919  18/03/2005 0.0171%
Mr. Li Fuzuo Long position

HXRESE e 297,000 183,240° 2.750  12/11/2003 0.0103%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

B e 121,000 - - - 0.0026%
Mr. Wei Bin Long position

B E Notes:
1. UWHIEEBEE BT 8IPTY kAR 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRP covered by its

B E%E -

2. WURR-EBAFT-_A=t+—RF
FERBENETRREAAERNIFRA
HEEHEN2MERTRANED

=

share option scheme.

2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued share capital

of CRP as at 31st December, 2009.
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3. BER#EAs AR 2RBA-ZTZEN The share options are exercisable in 5 tranches, from 6th October,
FoRTRF TR REFE - -F 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5th October, 2013.
THFERZTTNFTANBRES
T—=F+AAB LT IAITE -

4. BRETR-_Z-ZE=ZA+N\BZE The exercisable period during which the share options may be
“E-RF=A+EBEHBTUT exercised is from 18th March, 2010 to 17th March, 2015.

{5 o

5. ERE S AW 2R —_2Z+ The share options are exercisable in 2 tranches, from 6th October,
ERZZEENEFETARHRE-Z— 2007 and 2008 to 5th October, 2013.
=F+ARAB BB T ITE -

6. BRZEEHFESBBERBERL Mr. Ma Guoan was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares
ZELBEREA S - through the interest of his spouse.

7. BRIF6EAHEBTEIN 0 EXHEN Save as otherwise disclosed under note 6, interests disclosed above
PHERTBEESUEREAAS are being held by each Director in his capacity as beneficial owner.
NFEA -

8. HEREBAT REMRXTHERE In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
BB (41.008 7T © options granted.

(d) REAFEBIEZEEE®RER (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
AT ((EHEH ) BERTEHEBER shares of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an
RMEER G R associated corporation of the Company

BROTEE
Exercise ikt
BREZAE price BEADLL?

EEpg FRAKXE BHEA Number per share Aggregate

Name of Long or short Number of share (B7x) REAH  percentage

Directors position of shares options' (HKS$) Date of grant of interest?

FRELE e 1,000,000 - - - 0.0199%

Mr. Li Fuzuo Long position

HNXREE e 790,000 250,000° 1.230 01/06/2005 0.0207%

Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
B EE Notes:

1. ULIEEEBEMBRE Z TS ROE This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRL covered by its
BRmHEE - share option scheme.

2. WARZZETAF+ZA=+—H8HFfR This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEHBLETRREAERNEFRA
BIEEREM 2 BHTRANED
tE -

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued share capital
of CRL as at 31st December, 2009.
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3. WRETSAME - ARE-FEN
FR-FENFAA-ARE-F-
RERA=+— B FIATE -

TS GEE LT BV £
E N TR SR

5. ESBWRT - REMETHMEE

KA 11.00/ 7T

(e) RERAMBEBEBRNETHR
RoF ((EERWEF]) ERITE

3. The share options are exercisable in 2 tranches, from 1st June, 2008
and 2009 to 31st May, 2015.

4. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
options granted.

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of China Resources Microelectronics Limited

BRRMERARGDHERS (“CRM”), an associated corporation of the Company
BRITHEE
Exercise ikt
BREZE price HERSL
EEpE HRHKE RGEE Number per share Aggregate
Name of Long or short Number of share (&) BRIEHAY percentage
Directors position of shares options (HKS) Date of grant of interest'
ERREE e 1,971,767 - - - 0.0224%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken Long position
FRIERE e 918,000 - - - 0.0104%
Mr. Li Fuzuo Long position
HXEEE iR 1,458,000 - - - 0.0166%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
E ) e e 324,000 - - - 0.0037%
Mr. Wei Bin Long position
FA=pits HE 1,165,912 - - - 0.0133%
Mr. Luk Chi Cheong Long position
B st Notes:
1. WARZZZEAF+_A=+—HfF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEBMETFERRFAAREREE
MEFEMEBITRANEDLL -

2. LXHRBEOMAEDEASESIN

ESHBAINRE

shares of CRM to the total issued share capital of CRM as at 31st
December, 2009.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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() RAXREBZBEBKREZR (f)
BRAR ((EBHAR]) EBTE

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

BRREREBERGOHES (“CR Cement”), an associated corporation of the
Company
BRITHEE

Exercise Frib s

BREZE price HEROL

EEpE FRIKE BAEE Number per share Aggregate

Name of Long or short Number of share (B7x) REAH  percentage

Directors position of shares options (HK$) Date of grant of interest!

ERREE e 100,000 - - - 0.0015%

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken Long position

Bt Notes:

1. WARZZTAF+-_A=+—QHFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FERKRE BT R BFEERKX
RERDETRANE DL

2. EXAEBEMMERSRATESEN

ERATAIBRE
REEE
1. BRESTS

EBRE S ERELREY
RRABEAE R SR 2 EEEL
MAARRE - 2HEBRRNFK
HEMMEBRARAMNES (BEH
TEE) - HRNEBRETEE
MR B A SBREERRK
B BITEMBRE - HER
BrERt Bl e P A MDA E
Mo BRBDEENZTANKE
m T FHEEREERRESS
A] 3 R A R PO AR (D AR B Ay
25% ° AR5 8 e R i AR AL B0 B
RAGHEME L ERE BE
T4 o I AR TE BB B AT (R AT
VRFANREHR - ARKAT
REBRERDZ T N\BRER
FEAHE - WA A B141.00
BT RBER/TIMERZK
=®E (VRO EE: k(i) EEE
R E 2 AR AERS 8K H
FERERZ P U T B RI80% °

shares of CR Cement to the total issued share capital of CR Cement
as at 31st December, 2009.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1.

Share Option Schemes

The purpose of the Old Share Option Scheme is to
promote commitment by its participants and to encourage
its participants to perform their best for the Company.
The participants are the employees (including Executive
Directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. As the
Old Share Option Scheme has been terminated, no more
option can be issued pursuant to the Old Share Option
Scheme but in all other respects the provisions of the Old
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force. The maximum
entitlement of each participant shall not exceed 25% of the
maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Old Share Option Scheme. The
period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the
option is granted. There is no minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised. HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the option within 28 days from
its date of grant. The subscription price is the higher of (i)
the nominal value of a share and (ii) 80% of the average
of the closing prices of the share on the Stock Exchange
on the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options.
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RZZEZRFNMA - +HBE1T
FMBERAFREE BRERBB
TBAZRERENMNETELDT
ERETENFTERELR
BhAREEZA RETBR
265,591,407% x5 (BD £t B &3
BEITRMNHI10%) HFEAAE -

1B I B RS 72 AR 1D O HABR TN 15
R R E 2 BB o
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REREE -+ N NBRENER
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& ()VEREEDE B IRD
RETERARERTRAUWHE
(WEEERERY 2B REE
EBROEBXAMSARERMN
WU mE : R(i)RHmE
B ARFHERETEER
T NFLRIE RN SBERER
BRI BT AW EBAAE -
FERET BT B E M)
RER

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to
promote dedication by its participants and to encourage
its participants to perform their best in achieving the goals
of the Group. The participants are any Director (or any
persons proposed to be appointed as such) and employee
of each member of the Group; any discretionary object
of a discretionary trust established by any employee or
Director of each member of the Group; any executive or
employee of any business consultant, business partner,
professional and other advisers to each member of the
Group (or any persons proposed to be appointed as such);
any substantial shareholder of each member of Group; any
associates of Director or substantial shareholder of the
Company; and any employee of the Company’s substantial
shareholder or any employee of such substantial
shareholder’s subsidiaries or associated companies, as
absolutely determined by the Board.

The scheme mandate limit under the New Share Option
Scheme was refreshed and renewed by ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 25th April, 2005 which enabled the grant of further
share options to subscribe up to 265,591,407 shares
representing 10% of the shares in issue as at the said
date.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the
option is granted. There is no minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised. HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the option within 28 days from
its date of grant. The subscription price is the highest of
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
(ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant and (iii) the nominal value of a share. As the
New Share Option Scheme has been terminated in 2008,
no more option can be issued pursuant to the New Share
Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions of
the New Share Option Scheme share remain in force.
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(a) EFEERDETF (a) Directors’ right to acquire shares
RZEZENF+ZA=+— None of the Directors has any interests in the share
H $IEBEERARAEK options of the Company as at 31st December, 20009.

R A T -

(b) (&S RA 285 HE 5 K7 (b) Employees and other participants’ right to acquire
ZHEF shares
FA - REBEFERESEE A summary of the movements of the share options in
F%‘I%Hﬁ%&ﬁ b B8 1~ &) F0 relation to the employees of substantial shareholder
MEANREE (TRIEAE and its subsidiaries and associated companies (other
I4EE\TD$ AEE) NE than employees of the Group and Directors of the
IR EfatmT - Company) under the New Share Option Scheme

during the year is as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options
RER
R=BZhE RBE 76/ R-ZZEZBhE
BRITEE —A—H dF k¥ t=-HA=+-H
() W RITE Granted/ i RITEE
Exercise Outstanding Exercised/ Outstanding
price as at Cancelled/ as at

REBEH per share 1st January, Lapsed during 31st December,

Date of grant (HKS$) 2009 the year 2009

—EE_FMANA 8.20 210,000° - 210,000

09/04/2002

—ZETNF-A+=H 9.06 2,0002 - 2,000

13/01/2004

PR EE - Notes:

1. BREENKEE 7% 1. The share options are either vested immediately and

ToFMANRRE-S—= exercisable from 9th April, 2002 to 8th April, 2012 or vested in 4
FHANB IEBBFAITE tranches and exercisable on 9th April, 2002, 1st January, 2003,
SO UALEE  IE =TT 2004 and 2005 to 8th April, 2012.
FOMANE —ZFF=F - =
TENFER =TT RF—A—
ARE-FT——_FMANAL
BARE T LASTEE ©

2. BRES=HEE TTE_-% 2. The share options are vested in 3 tranches and exercisable on
ZHE —EEREFR=F 13th January, 2005, 2006 and 2007 to 12th January, 2014.

Tt+FE-AT=ZHRE=ZT—
ME— A+ ZHIEEM T AT
& -
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Incentive Award Scheme

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a restricted
Incentive Award Scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”)
in which selected employees of the Group or investee
companies (being any company in which the Company
directly or indirectly owns 5% or more attributable equity
interests and in calculating the percentage interest so
attributed (the “Investee Company”), the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied
by the percentage interest in each level of entity through
which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to
participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the
scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to
recognise and motivate the contribution of certain
employees and to provide incentives and to enable the
Group and the Investee Companies in retaining its existing
employees and recruiting additional employees and to
provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining
the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless
early termination by the Board, the Incentive Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum
aggregate numbers of restricted shares which can be
awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and to a
selected employee throughout its duration are limited to 5%
and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the
Company has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited
as trustee (the “Trustee”), pursuant to which existing
shares will be purchased by the Trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust
for the relevant selected employees until such shares are
vested with the relevant selected employees in accordance
with the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme. A total
of 70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31st
December 2009, were purchased at an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including transaction
costs) on 7th April, 2009 and held by the Trustee and no
award has been made since then to the date of this report.
The Company does not intend to purchase any further
share under the Incentive Award Scheme.
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On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares
will be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme. The
Company will utilize the proceeds generated from disposal
of the restricted shares held by the Trustee for the awards
made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
and the cash under the award will only be given upon
fulfilment of relevant vesting conditions imposed on the
date of grant of the award.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A.

The Company has entered into certain connected
transactions with connected persons, details of which are
set out bellow:

Acquisition of 6% interests in Zhenjiang CR Gas

On 28th August, 2009, China Resources Gas (China)
Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with
Zhenjiang State Owned Assets Investment and Operating
Company* ((EITMEIEEERELE AT to acquire 6%
interest in Zhenjiang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
BT EBM A AR A AE) (“Zhenjiang CR Gas”), for a
consideration of RMB27 million. The consideration was
determined after arm’s length negotiations between the
parties with reference, to among other business factors,
the audited net asset value of approximately RMB284.39
million of Zhenjiang CR Gas as at 31st December, 2008,
and the appraised net asset value of approximately
RMB350.89 million of Zhenjiang CR Gas as at 31st
December, 2008. The consideration was also arrived at
based on the common understanding among all existing
shareholders of Zhenjiang CR Gas that CRH group as a
whole will hold 51% interest in Zhenjiang CR Gas post
completion taking into account that CRH’s waiver of its
pre-emptive rights as an existing shareholder of Zhenjiang
CR Gas and its agreement to the Company’s proposed
acquisition.
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(i) REAEE-—RNABEBH
AT

Zhenjiang CR Gas was 45% indirectly owned by CRH, the
substantial shareholder of the Company. Upon completion,
Zhenjiang CR Gas will become an equity joint venture
between CRH and the Company on the one hand, holding
an aggregate of 51% equity interests in Zhenjiang CR Gas
and the remaining 49% interests will be held by the two
other existing shareholders of Zhenjiang CR Gas. As a
result, the proposed acquisition, upon its completion, will
constitute a connected transaction between CRH and the
Company.

The above transaction has not yet completed pending the
necessary approvals from the relevant PRC authorities.

Acquisition of Top Steed

On 8th September, 2009, the Company entered into
a share purchase agreement with, amongst others,
Powerfaith, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company,
to acquire the entire issued share capital of Top Steed,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, for a
consideration of HK$1,600 million. The acquisition was a
major and connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules and completed on 19th October, 2009
upon obtaining necessary shareholders’ approval and the
fulfillment of all necessary conditions.

Ongoing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into
ongoing connected transactions with connected persons,
details of which are subject to the reporting requirements
under rule 14A.46 of the Listing Rules and are summarised
herein below. The Board engaged the Auditor of the
Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures
in respect of the ongoing connected transactions to
assist the Board to evaluate if the ongoing connected
transactions are in accordance with the requirements of
rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. The Auditor has reported
their factual findings on these procedures to the Board.
The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed
the ongoing connected transactions and confirmed that the
ongoing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether
they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no
less favourable to the Group than terms available to
or from (as appropriate) independent third parties and
on arm’s length basis;

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them;

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interest of the shareholders as a whole; and

without exceeding the relevant cap disclosed in
previous relevant announcements.

Details of the above-mentioned ongoing connected
transactions are summarized as follows:

(i)

Goods and services provided by connected persons
to members of the Group

FET
Nature HK$’000
(1) Sale and Purchase Agreement 1,650
Purchase of natural gas from
Xiangfan China Resources Gas
Limited* (B EHMABR A
Al) (“Xiangfan CR Gas”), a fellow
subsidiary which is a limited
liability company established in the
PRC and beneficially owned as to
71.43% by CRH, the substantial
and controlling shareholder of the
Company (Note 1).
(2) Sale and Purchase Agreement 59,753
Purchase of natural gas from
Shanxi Natural Gas Limited*
(LBEAXARKMDBR DA, a
limited liability company established
in the PRC and is the substantial
shareholder of certain subsidiaries
of the Company namely, Yangquan
China Resources Gas Limited,
Hongdong China Resources
Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd. and Huozhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.*
respectively, from a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.
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(i) Goods and services provided by member of the Group
to connected person

FTERT
Nature HK$’000
(1) Sale and Purchase Agreement 1,974

Sale and supply of nature gas
to Gucheng China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd., a limited liability
company established in the PRC
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRH.

Notes:

1. The Board has previously on 27th March, 2009 announced that
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Zaoyang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.* (ESZEHRRER AR has
entered into continuing connected transactions with Xiangfan
CR Gas for the purchase and supply of natural gas. As Xiangfan
CR Gas became a subsidiary of the Company in October, 2009,
the aforementioned transactions with Zaoyang CR Gas ceased
to be treated as continuing connected transactions..

2. All the ongoing connected transactions which have been
carried out in 2009 and disclosed above constitute related party
transactions set out in Note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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“A=1t—RH EFERARQFITEHRA
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F2R3DWHREARAR B ENE
BHIAR - HRHEN AR AERES
KB G PIFE 3361617 E 2 IR A A
RImIORR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of
the Company are not aware that there was any party (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company), who, as at
31st December, 2009 had an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant

to Section 336 of the SFO:

RAEDTNEFRE Long position in the Company
Firf g
BEASL
BEEA BHME 353 RBBE  Aggregate
Name of &% Nature of Long or Number of  percentage
shareholder Capacity interest short position shares of interest'
Splendid Time Investments Inc. ERBEA ERER e 1,059,999,983 74.94%
(“Splendid Time")? Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
ZREE? REHRRNESR RS e 1,060,001,983 74.94%
CR Holdings? Controlled company’s interest  Corporate interest Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited REHI AR R REER & 1,060,001,983 74.94%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
ZEROBRLART ([£HRG]):  XEHADNER DR 78 1,060,001,983 74.94%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL)?
mEEEANT ([hEZEE])? REHI R R NSIE ) 1,060,001,983 74.94%
China Resources National Corp.  Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC™?
B 5E Notes:
1. ARZZETAF+_A=+—HFHR 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
MFEBBEARB 2D BITRANT total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2009.
ik e

2. Splendid Time & Commotra Company
Limited® B 9 5l & # % A & & &
1,059,999,9830% % 2,000/% f% 15 - A5 A
EHEENZENBAR - BUREFHFR
HMERPIEXVE - EHEEERAEALR
A 7)1,060,001,983/% % 17 K i 2 o ZE R &
[E ACRC Blueskyf & &K E 27 - CRC
Bluesky A ZEHR M EZEMBE AR - M
2B R 5 Al B B2 B % A H99.98%1#
o MURIRE #H R ERPIEXVE - CRC
Bluesky - E R 1) [ #p BIZE M9 4R A
A2 71,060,001,983 % % 17 #) 2 o

2. Splendid Time and Commotra Company Limited directly hold 1,059,999,983
and 2,000 Shares in the Company respectively and both companies are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CR Holdings, which is therefore deemed to
be interested in 1,060,001,983 Shares of the Company under Part XV of
the SFO. CR Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky. CRC
Bluesky is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRCL which in turn is 99.98%
owned by CRNC. CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are all therefore deemed
to be interested in 1,060,001,983 Shares of the Company under Part XV of

the SFO.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 26th March, 2009, the Company as borrower and a
syndicate of banks entered into a 2-year term loan facility
agreement of up to an aggregate amount of HK$800 million.
The facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling 2
years from the date of the facility agreement.

On 8th September, 2009, the Company as borrower and a bank
entered into a 5-year term loan facility agreement of up to an
aggregate amount of HK$800 million. The facility is unsecured
and interest bearing with any outstanding amount to be repaid
in full on the date falling 5 years from the date of the facility
agreement.

On 17th December, 2009, the Company as borrower entered
into two facility agreements each relation to a HK$300 million
term loan facility with two banks respectively. Each of the loan
facilities is unsecured and interest bearing with any outstanding
amount to be repaid in full on the date falling 3 years from the
date of the facility agreements.

On 17th December, 2009, the Company as borrower entered
into two facility letters (the “First Facility Letter” and the “Second
Facility Letter; collectively the “Facility Letters”) with two banks
respectively. The First Facility Letter is for a fixed loan facility
of up to an aggregate amount of HK$300 million and the final
maturity date of the facility shall be the date falling 36 months
from the date of the acceptance of the facility. The Second
Facility Letter is for a term loan facility of up to aggregate
amount of HK$800 million, which shall be repaid in full 6
months after first drawdown.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements/letters, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”) is required, at all times,
to hold an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly)
of not less than 50 per cent. in the issued share capital of the
Company (the “Specific Performance Obligation”). It will be
an event of default if the Specific Performance Obligation is
breached; and in such case, the relevant banks shall declare
the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding
amounts together with interests accrued thereon and all other
sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted
to the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
re-appoint Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

MA GUOAN

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2010
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 69 to 220 which comprise the Group’s and
the Company’s statements of financial position as at 31st
December, 2009, and the Group’s consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
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Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st
December, 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
16th March, 2010
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2009 2008
FET FHTT
HK$°000 HK$’000
hr=g (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
BE Turnover 8
4B R R TR Continuing operations 3,746,779 2,525,582
BRI EER Discontinued operations 11 = 841,531
3,746,779 3,367,113
HERA Cost of sales (2,586,070) (2,359,386)
EH Gross profit 1,160,709 1,007,727
HA Other income 140,694 102,225
HE KD HAX Selling and distribution expenses (231,969) (219,056)
TR Administrative expenses (409,501) (397,669)
HAth 52 Other expenses - (56,067)
659,933 437,160
BA TSR AR Finance costs 9 (39,878) (31,211)
il NCIE Share of results of associates 7,187 3,387
BR A5 A1 g 71 Profit before taxation
B RS Continuing operations 605,268 424,078
BERIEREXRG Discontinued operations 11 21,974 (14,742)
627,242 409,336
AL Taxation 10
B I R Continuing operations (86,896) (50,443)
ERIEREET Discontinued operations 11 - (14,893)
(86,896) (65,336)
F N A Profit for the year 13
RELEET Continuing operations 518,372 373,635
B4R RS ETE Discontinued operations 11 21,974 (29,635)
540,346 344,000
FAEMEEKA Other comprehensive income
for the year
BMESINESHEN =%  Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations (4,184) 81,227
AHEEREN A TE Fair value gain on available-for-
e sale investments 326 =
JEMREE AR H A2 E Share of other comprehensive
WA income of associates 5 524
(3,853) 81,751
FREEBRABEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 536,493 425,751
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2009 2008
FET FHTT
HK$°000 HK$’000
hr=g (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
AT ATEIEERRH Profit for the year attributable to:
VNN ZEWN Owners of the Company
B AT Continuing operations 421,599 320,529
BRI S TS Discontinued operations 11 21,974 (23,561)
443,573 296,968
DHRR R Minority interests 96,773 47,032
540,346 344,000
IWTATEEFERAEZE Total comprehensive income
WA sR%E for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NEIE 2SN Owners of the Company
B RS ER Continuing operations 419,683 387,715
BRI E X Discontinued operations 21,974 (23,561)
441,657 364,154
DER R Minority interests 94,836 61,597
536,493 425,751
BT BT
HK$ HK$
(E3))
(Restated)
SIKER| Earnings per share 16
REFBERERIE From continuing and
BEETE discontinued operations
HAR Basic 0.31 0.62
3] Diluted 0.31 0.62
REIFE L E T From continuing operations
R Basic 0.30 0.67
3] Diluted 0.30 0.67
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“EENE —TE)N\EF —ERENF
+=A=+—-R +ZA=+—H —H—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
TERT FHEIT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B (&%) (&%)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
FERBDEE Non-current assets
ME - BB NERE Property, plant and equipment 17 2,749,535 1,641,992 5,387,786
A FIE Prepaid lease payments 18 171,588 129,942 259,986
BEME Investment properties 19 11,358 7,909 7,119
N NG Interest in associates 20 17,732 10,272 7,987
AIEHERE Available-for-sale investments 21 18,545 9,440 23,933
Bk Goodwill 22 352,088 41,925 64,323
BREEE Exclusive operating rights 23 632,061 637,030 652,368
iy 4035 Technical know-how 24 - - 35,678
EERIBEE Deferred tax assets 36 49,614 1,312 15,767
BENE BEK Deposit for acquisition of
Bl property, plant and
equipment - - 17,011
BREOFERS Deposit for prepaid lease
payments 44,273 — —
i) WNGI:of Deposit for investment in
REMEZES a subsidiary - 84,940 _
R—RE&E AT Deposit for investment in
REMZRS a joint venture company 44 1,321,423 = =
5,368,217 2,564,762 6,471,958
MEEE Current assets
FE Inventories 25 132,644 51,498 886,852
FEWE FERF R Trade and other receivables
Hofh U TR 26 565,521 328,312 1,264,099
EWEEALNIRIE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 27 243,075 193,920 89,068
A AFIE Prepaid lease payments 18 11,389 3,828 8,090
fEW R ZKIBARZIE  Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 28 5,011 37,335 1,797
ALRIR Taxation recoverable = - 4502
BRI TR Pledged bank deposits 29 19,262 740 6,030
RITEHR R Bank balances and cash 29 2,226,689 1,346,770 1,777,453
3,203,591 1,962,403 4,037,891
DHEAREHENSE Assets classified as held for sale 12 - - 46,708
3,203,591 1,962,403 4,084,599
mEEE Current liabilities
[ERTE SRR R Trade and other payables
HoAh TR 30 1,641,329 1,175,172 2,097,512
ENEFEA4IEZIE Amounts due to customers
for contract work 27 711,091 413,823 266,466
ERRIZFTBATZE  Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries 28 22,646 239 1,233,487
JEEEERARZIE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 28 - 17,039 -
BB & Government grants 31 1,022 - 13,221
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 32 1,039,653 107,790 808,763
B Provisions 88 - - 42,183
FEf R 18 Taxation payable 58,689 17,808 18,266
3,474,430 1,731,871 4,479,898
nE (A% EEFE Net current (liabilities) assets (270,839) 230,532 (395,299)
5,097,378 2,795,294 6,076,659
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31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
FEx FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B (E7) (E7)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
BERRHE Capital and reserves
R Share capital 37 141,442 141,442 281,215
A Reserves 889,943 2,087,405 3,332,519
RNRBHEA AR BEA Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,031,385 2,228,847 3,613,734
— P A A R Ak A Share option reserve of
] a subsidiary - - 10,840
DHRFEER Minority interests 536,189 310,543 735,084
1,567,574 2,539,390 4,359,658
FREEE Non-current liabilities
BB Government grants 31 13,349 = 98,746
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 32 1,691,800 39,494 1,311,660
RERERR Long-term payables 34 - = 66,026
HinRHBE Other long-term liabilities 35 86,122 73,309 62,385
FENFRZMBATZE  Amount due to a fellow
subsidiary 28 1,600,000 - -
ELEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 36 138,533 143,101 178,184
3,529,804 255,904 1,717,001
5,097,378 2,795,294 6,076,659

EFgERN T ZEF=-A T E#H
ERBEETEHNFE69E220 HHARE
MBHmEk BBRTIALRREZS

mE

EHEZ%Z MA GUOAN
#% DIRECTOR

FEHK WANG CHUANDONG

#% DIRECTOR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 220 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
16th March, 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:
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For the year ended 31st December, 2009 HEZZZNF+_A=+—HLFE
KAAREAEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRAXR L
iHE il P
2B BRERRE
Shares  REEH Share
BhRgE held i opion  HBR
BE  REGEE  EABE  EXER Share  forshare Investment  KkEE  ABEE  REEA reserve B RAEE
Share Share Capital ~ Translation option award  revaluation Other Merger  Retained #if ofalisted  Minority Total
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserves reserve profits Total  subsidiary interests equity
ThL Thn Thn ThR ThTL ThL ThRL Thn Thn ThL ThL Thn Thn ThL
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
(W) (Hito)
(Note a) (Note ¢)
W=EE\5-A-A (FJ) At 1st January, 2008, as previously stated 281,215 1,015,332 3816 445,58 18,436 - - 165,642 50300 1560954 3526217 10840 713229 4250346
Gl ai@ﬁ]%}ig yie7 4 Eflect of business combination of enites
(H3t2) under common control (Note 2) - - - 1400 - - - - 83,504 2,558 87457 - 21,855 109,312
R-ZE\E-A-R (8] At 1st January, 2008, as restated 81215 1015332 3816 446,982 18,436 - - 165,642 133004 1563507 3613734 10840 735,084 4359658
EREH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 296,968 296,968 - 47032 344,000
FREBRERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 6718 - - - - - - 67186 - M5 BiTA
EREANAEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 67186 - - - - - 2998 3p41n4 - 61597 425751
AEEREENZESARG  Shares issued at premium upon
exercise of share options 1,668 10720 - - - - - - - - 12,388 - - 12,368
EEES (Capital reduction (254,595)  (1,026,082) ® = = - - - - 1200647 - - - -
#h Rights issue 113,154 3,756,691 - - - - - - - - 3869845 - - 3869845
HhRER Rights isue expense - (6,000) - - - - - - - - (6,000) - - (6,000)
BB EENRRHE Recogriton of equity-setled share-based
payments - - - - - - - - - - - 1129 430 1559
WELEAGHBAARARE  Consideration paid for acquisiton of
(Kb subsidaries under common contrl
(Note b} - - - - - - - - (0 - (0s) - - (0
SEEAEL Avising from group reorganisation - - - - - - - - e - i - - e
ARAHHEATRARE Shares issued by a subsidiary
under common control - = = = = = = - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 = - 1,000,000
Distribution by way of dividend in specie - - - - - - - - - (2731463 (2731,463) - (509512) (3,240,975)
ENDRRS Release of reserves upon distribution
(Riikd) by way of dividend in specie (Note d) - - - (356,389) - - - (09,015) - an3n 11,969 (11,969) - -
WEMEAF (Hi40) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) - - - - - - - - - - - - 3,610 36,610
HERBRF (Hit) Disposalof subsiciaries (Note 42) - - (3816) - - - = - (13p) = = - =
AmER Transfers between categories - - - - - - - 32470 - (4 - - - -
HEAT) ERE R Contrbution from minority shareholders
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - 4725 4725
Bit)silRRE Divdends paid to minority nerests - - - - - - - - - - - - (%) (18391)
WoFE\E+ZEZ+—R (E]) At 31t December, 2008, at restated 141442 3,750,691 - 167780 13,436 - - 79007 (2554519 640920 2208847 - 310543 2539390
Egh Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 435n 443573 - 96,773 540,346
EREBZENL Other comprehensive income for the year - - - M) - - % - - - (1,916) - (1997 (3859
FREANNEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (2.242) - - 26 - - W35T3 AT - 9483 536493
e RE D Purchass of shares under share
(HizE38i) award scheme (Note 38(i) = = = = - (263999) = = = - (2839%9) - - (2839%)
YEARESREAARNRE  Consideraton paid for acquiring
(Htb) subsidiaries under common control
(Note b} = s s = = s = - (110969) - (1.10969) = - [1,10969)
AREHHEAR Share issued by a subsidiary under
B ( 1 451ci, common control (Note 43()) - - - - - - - - 4B -4 - - 4B
BiELE-F Deemed disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - (880) (880)
WERBAT (Wa‘ﬂo] Acquisiton of subsiciaris (Note 40) - - - - - - - - - - - - 357 437
WEAERHERYE (1) Discount on acquisiion of jointly
controlled entiies (Note 41) - - 147765 - - - - - - - 147765 - 3567 161,322
HEATSHBRES Contribution from minoity nterest
of subsidiaries - 5 S - S - - S - 5 - - 116,576 115,576
FERER Transfers between categories - - - - - - - 55008 - (3,008 - = o o
EffRe Dividend pid - - = - - = - = S () (486 - )
Bfi-BRZNERA Dividends paid o a fellow subsidiary
(HEARARR) RE which is former shareholder of
subsidares - - - - - S s - - (i) (i S ) (f616)
B ERERS Dividends paid to minority nferests - - - - - - - - - - - - (AT (4T59)
R-SBAETZA=t-R At 315t December, 2009 141,442 3,750,691 147765 155,538 13436 (263,999) 326 134105 (3990415 932498 1,031,385 - 536,189 1567574




74

EBMKERBRAT —ZTNFFR

RERTEREET R
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2009

BE-SEAE+-AS+—AILEE

MEE

(a)

(b)

HitFHERERFEARKME (TF
B 1) B EIHT B R R — R JATE
BMER CEBRES EEAHD

—REHBEEETHBRRNBRTE R
FIHE5%ZE10% M ELE S - WHEES
ANESSRESHBARAMERZM
AETEE - ZFEEEEBHES - &
FREARBEREENMER 2 ©

R-ZZBEENFE=AHBE AEBENURSE
X {8217,757,000/8 T A AN A 7 — [ &
WEBAREMERLERAR ([EHE
B WEREERLIERAR ([F75
SEET]) M100%BAHEXR - R=ZT T
NETA=+H AEBXXUBRSRE
3,814,800,000/%5 T AN A 7] 5 — & R T
BARAOEEERAR ([NHE]) WE
EERTARAA ((EBRR (EERE
ZEE) ) HI100%M A S -

R-ZTETAFNA=Z+A ZHER
AR ([RE%]) REWBAR ([FHE
B |) b4 {8310,969,000,000/% T B
EBMRA (B ARAA ([FHRR
SERAF]  ARRKWERKTEAR) U
BETHBEARRERIZEHEES - H=
ZTAE+ATAA  AEENRBRER
{&1,600,000,00078 T 1) 1112 W EE =56 1Y
100% A& A #E 2.

B EREHE RS RERZEHEE X
BE6 (FERME2) - Z5XR5 (TeE
B EEREEE R A UE — B R
BERCHEERRARAAREER (&
) ERAR ([EHEE]) KES—MH
HEEH ERETERRIRARAAF]
ZERSGERABEZAR) EREES
eHAE ([BESMAE]) BHH
EEHIESI E5% [KREH Az E0E
HE 1 ([&5H4E51 855 ) ZRAIALR °
BHE_ZTZTZNF+_A=+—HI*F
B 9B TFERRRLRAOGENE
3 4217,757,0007% 7T }3,814,800,000
BTRBE_ZTTNFEF+=_A=+—8
EFE SRR AEREBRRER
A 7 ¥ 1+ 9 3] 4£1,600,000,000/% 7T &
310,969,000/ 7T * B A AE & ©

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10%
of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their
board of directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and operation.

On 5th March, 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Redland
Concrete Limited (“Redland Concrete”) from China Resources Concrete
Limited (“CR Concrete”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for a cash
consideration of HK$217,757,000. On 30th October, 2008, the Group
also acquired 100% equity interest in China Resources Gas Limited
(“CR Gas (BVI)") from Powerfaith Enterprises Limited (“Powerfaith”),
another fellow subsidiary of the Company, for a cash consideration of
HK$3,814,800,000.

On 30th June, 2009, Top Steed Limited (“Top Steed”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Top Steed Group”) acquired certain subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities from China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
(“CR Gas Holdings”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for a total
consideration of HK$310,969,000,000. On 19th October, 2009, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Top Steed from Powerfaith for a cash
consideration of HK$1,600,000,000.

These are business combinations that involve entities under common
control as explained in Note 2. These transactions, excluding the
acquisition of JEZEHMABRAF], a jointly controlled entity, from CR
Gas Holdings and the acquisition of $E)TZHMR A B R A A, another
jointly controlled entity, from China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (“CRH”) which are accounted for using purchase method of
accounting, are accounted for in accordance with the Accounting
Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common Control Combination”
(AG 5”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA’). The total cash paid to CR Concrete and Powerfaith of
HK$217,757,000 and HK$3,814,800,000, respectively, during the year
ended 31st December, 2008 and the cash paid to Powerfaith and CR
Gas Holdings of HK$1,600,000,000 and HK$310,969,000, respectively,
during the year ended 31st December, 2009 were included in merger
reserve.
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(c)

(d)

R-ZZEZNFE— A —BHEHRHEEE)
TERRLIREEAR (RBRELES)
MEBETRARBENEHE  R(I)AR
ANRARMNERRNERRAERARRARN
WEEARERMRAERAR LG REH
MRBR R R HRIED IR

BHE-_ZTZNF+-_A=+—HLHF
£ * (i)4 1,000,000,000/% T &) & 58
EFERRR (RBERHES) BT1R
BREMBIEZTHEINRD  (ii)AH
126,777,000/ T H) & SRR B A R A &)
REFREER A AR R E=ER
REEARRKEEIZERIBRD
A BBERRRER NG REMKES
MEBRAREENBEDIR i (i) BE
217,457,000/ L) € FE 5 & K 1A 7
H—HEEMNBARBAERER AR
(ITBR]) BAHREERE -

RZZEZENFEF+_A=Z+—8BH
AHREEBEEVAEEEHESNKE
3,814,800,000/8 7T £ ¥ B # & (3
BREZES) HEETRAREE
1,050,000,0005% 7T 2 5 #) 2 %8 + J (i)
B ERARREFEZEGR D AWK
AAREBRREE R AR KE KR
HRRBRAR - BREBRIERA
A BIEBEMAERAR - BREH
MRRAEBRAREEREERIER AR
BFRRIED IR ©

BE-_ZZNAF+=-A=+—H8L*#F
&+ BE475,073,0008 TS REIERHE
BT SR EE 1R TTREINED ©

R-_EBENE+-_A=+—HEHHA
HREEEBOAEESHNASREY
3,814,800,0007% st £ % B B & (X
BREAZES) WEZHTRAREE
1,050,000,000/% 7T 2 & & % 5 ; (i)
A& B % 1 893 € 1 {E1,600,000,000
BTHRREETRARSEN S
475,073,000/ JC 1Y Z= 58 5 K (iii) 2 B M
REBEQBELHRIESDIR100,688,000
BT BERREEIMNONBRESRER
EREBEZES MK AMER R
R AN EE 2 PR Z BT o

BER-_ZZENF_AT=ZHETHR
RERIRE LRBNEBRAER AR
ALED DK E T A D IRERHE A
AEEMEFARAR ([EBEMEFD
ZHBED, - EREBTRAEARF008
47 AT K1 80 FE B E F D - KD
IREMBRE®  ARRRERMETA
FAMEZHERCHEEE

(c)

(d)

Merger reserve as at 1st January, 2008 represented (i) the amount of the
issued capital and premium of Redland Concrete and CR Gas (BVI); and
(ii) the deemed contribution from CR Gas Holdings, a fellow subsidiary
of the Company, upon the acquisition of ARZEEMRRAR AT and HR
FERRRARAT.

During the year ended 31st December, 2008, (i) the amount of
HK$1,000,000,000 represented one additional share of US$1 each
issued by CR Gas (BVI); (ii) the amount of HK$126,777,000 represented
the share capital of Profit Dash Limited and Favor Sea Investments
Limited, and deemed contribution from CR Gas Holdings upon the
acquisition of EHIEBMAER AR, BEXEBMITEMR AT and T
EBMRABR AT and (i) the amount of HK$217,457,000 represented
the release of merger reserve upon disposal of Rich Team Resources
Limited (“Rich Team”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Merger reserve as at 31st December, 2008 represented (i) the difference
between the cash consideration paid by the Group of HK$3,814,800,000
and the amount of the issued capital and premium of CR Gas (BVI) of
HK$1,050,000,000; and (ii) the share capital of Profit Dash Limited and
Favor Sea Investments Limited, and deemed contribution from CR Gas
Holdings upon the acquisition of ARZEBMREEMR AR, BREBREE
RARE, BIFEBRRARAR, BEREHMIBR AR and EHEBERR
BRAA].

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the amount of
HK$475,073,000 represented one additional share of US$1 each issued
by Top Steed.

Merger reserve as at 31st December, 2009 represented (i) the difference
between the cash consideration paid by the Group of HK$3,814,800,000
and the amount of the issued capital and premium of CR Gas (BVI) of
HK$1,050,000,000; (ii) the difference between the cash consideration
paid by the Group of HK$1,600,000,000 and the amount of the issued
capital and premium of Top Steed of HK$475,073,000; and (iii) deemed
distribution to CR Gas Holdings of HK$100,688,000, calculated based on
the difference between the cash consideration paid by Top Steed Group
and the total amount of share capital of its subsidiaries incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at a special general meeting
held on 13th February, 2008, the Company distributed all of its holding of
shares in its subsidiary, China Resources Microelectronics Limited (“CR
Microelectronics”), by way of a dividend in specie on the basis of 180
shares in CR Microelectronics for every 100 shares in the Company held.
After the distribution of dividend in specie, the entire entity interests held
in CR Microelectronics by the Company were disposed of.
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2009 2008
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
REXEK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 5% B4 A Profit before taxation 627,242 409,336
FEE Adjustments for:
FMBEXZEH Interest expense 39,878 31,211
FLEWA Interest income (23,316) (17,559)
ERRBRAHE Government grants recognised (96) (13,215)
S = NCIE S Share of results of associates (7,187) (3,387)
At ER AR S U A Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments (2,416) (10,163)
HEME - BER (Gain) loss on disposal of property,

B (W) B8 plant and equipment (5,788) 2,228
&= FE A FRIE RS Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments (6,239) =
HERHEERERIEE  Gain on disposal of available-for-sale

investments (10,453) -
WFEN L FIERE R Release from prepaid lease payments 8,370 4,458
T R0 50 £ Amortisation of technical know-how - 657
BRE SRR H Amortisation of exclusive operating rights 23,701 23,276
ME - BEREETE Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 130,366 139,114
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 436 866
@A NG i Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries - (22,104)
e EEE Impairment loss on goodwill - 3,036
M - HE X Impairment loss on property,

RERESE plant and equipment = 38,980
Al E IS B R VEES 1B Impairment loss on available-for-sale

investments - 15,683
U E 5 R FORE R 1B Net reversal of impairment loss on trade

JF o] receivables - (1,573)
Hib e E 5 R s s Allowance for other receivables - 3,612
FERRBZE &I %E Write down of inventories to net

realisable value - 8,793

EmE TS Provision for product liabilities — 4,500

R~ FR Share-based payment expense - 1,559
RIEHE—EWB AR

SolEey Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary (880) -




Annual Report 2009 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

For the year ended 31st December, 2009

GmERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BE-_ZTZAF+-_A=t+—HIEE

77

ZEBNAF ZETNF
2009 2008
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
EEECEFFN Operating cash flows before movements
KERERE in working capital 773,618 619,308
TZE N Increase in inventories (63,016) (19,047)
FEUE ZRA & (Increase) decrease in trade and
H it e Uz (38n) H/J\ other receivables (100,802) 121,552
R R P& #) T2 Decrease (increase) in amounts due from
A () customers for contract work 12,772 (96,361)
ENE SRR R Increase in trade and other payables
H A FE A FRIE AN 234,076 92,630
JENEFEAATIRFIAEI Increase in amounts due to customers
for contract work 184,733 98,770
B B Utilisation of provisions - (212)
REEBEENR S Cash generated from operations 1,041,381 816,640
BERNBEBFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid - (34,257)
BERFBEEMSEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (99,070) (45,020)
REXBMEBRSTH NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 942,311 737,363
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—EBAF —EZ)N\F
2009 2008
TERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
B3 (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
BREXEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
R RKIBRRIER Repayment from fellow subsidiaries 53,913 -
HEWE  BEL&EFT{SIE Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment 18,046 39,744
B UF B Interest received 23,316 17,559
BWBSHEE Government grants received 14,467 21,208
B & AR E Dividend received from associates 3,236 1,977
& TR R A SRIBATIS 38 Proceeds from disposal of
prepaid lease payments 11,742 1,195
& AR SR E 1S FIE Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale investments 10,453 -
ERAI I ERERE Dividends received from
available-for-sale investments 2,416 10,163
HEREMEMSHRIEA Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 231 -
R—RKEERERENIRE Deposit for investment in a joint
venture company 44 (1,321,423) -
BEWE  BEMEZENMNZ & Payments and deposits for
b acquisition of property, plant
and equipment (599,133) (429,322)
W EE KT B A R Acquisition of subsidiaries 40 (266,925) 125,855
WEETER A QIR RS Deposits for acquisition of prepaid
lease payments (44,273) -
XA AR RIE Prepaid lease payments made (46,347) (22,288)
W REIR & 1) B TR Payments for acquisition of
investment properties - (748)
BRI (3E) R (Increase) decrease in pledged
bank deposits (15,967) 1,335
U B Ak [R]42 1) EE BE Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 41 (8,729) -
HEHT B AR Disposal of subsidiaries 42 - (330,272)
BER—RWBRRINZE Deposit for investment in a
subsidiary - (84,940)
AR T RAN B AR Advances to fellow subsidiaries - (44,236)
REIE R FUER Repayment of long term payables - (7,738)
BREEREMNR Payments for exclusive
operating rights (17,630) (1,351)
REE R A Z2IE Investment in associates - (399)
WS AT SH SR E BV K Payments for acquisition of
available-for-sale investments - (122)
BREXBFARES TR NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (2,182,607) (702,380)
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—EZhE —TT)N\F
2009 2008
FERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
mMEER FINANCING ACTIVITIES
SRR REMEER New bank and other borrowings raised 2,475,677 41,479
Bt BB A B BUAR R AR 5K Contribution from minority shareholders
of subsidiaries 115,576 4,725
RIBI D BB EIE B D Purchase of shares under share
award scheme 384(ii) (253,999) -
EARLS) Dividends paid (84,865) -
ERRITEERNE Interest paid on bank borrowings (37,604) (28,832)
EERITREMEE Repayments of bank and
other borrowings (29,505) (174,489)
B A B D BAR AR S Dividends paid to minority shareholders
of subsidiaries (24,759) (18,391)
EBEEEERARIER Repayment of advances from
immediate holding company (21,178) =
EAS — il B & BT A ) Dividends paid to a fellow subsidiary
(M RARIMBIRE) & & which is a former shareholder of
subsidiaries (16,165) -
A% Rights issue - 3,869,845
SR Il B B A R B AT AR 19 Shares issued by a subsidiary under
common control - 1,000,000
HEEZERARBR Advance from an intermediate
holding company - 31,674
17155 R P Exercise of share options - 12,388
B BEMR (LB R 2B S ) Deemed distribution in relation to
BRENKRIED K the acquisition of CR Gas (BVI) - (3,814,800)
ERERAMBABER Repayment of advances from
fellow subsidiaries - (1,221,948)
B RBRR T BN Deemed distribution in relation to
RIED IR the acquisition of Redland
Concrete - (217,757)
ERHARE FERIF Expenses paid in relation to
rights issue - (6,000)
BEEKHE (FTA) RE&FEE NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,123,178 (522,106)
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2009 2008
FHET T
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&E5)
(Restated)
HERRESEEEM NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
(R4 =5 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 882,882 (487,123)
FURESRREEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,346,770 1,777,453
IEERSENTE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES (2,963) 56,440
FRESRRESEE - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
ABITEBEERS OF THE YEAR, representing
bank balances and cash 2,226,689 1,346,770
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ARFRNNEEE /AR - &
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GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s
parent company is CRH, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its ultimate holding company is China Resources
National Corp. (“CRNC”), a company established in the
PRC. The addresses of registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information in the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi. The
Company uses Hong Kong dollars as its presentation
currency because the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities are set out in Notes 50, 51 and 52,
respectively.
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mBEE
ERSEEHE ((SBEZ=HE]) B
—Hr BRAMRZIZETLHF
+A=F+H#FMEY) R=F
ENE=ZAREBURBEEKREY
217,757,000 7T [A) 2= BR & T Uk
%¢%ﬁﬁi%%ﬁh$ﬁ*o
RZZBEENEFE+A=FTH &R
AILAIR £ X {E3,814,800,000/% T
MAOEKREBEERR (ABEX
HE) N2l rEm RZF
ZNF+ZA=+—H  KAF
NESRERNERRHME QA EF
BACREKR AR AAHEZAN
EEHBRAEE R R EARR TR
REF  ZHESREBZERD
AESNERAR_ZEZENF+ A
=+ HRNGEEEFE Im
BZEZENGF+—H—RAE=
ENFFTZA=F— E%ﬁm&
5RO (L BR B 18 0% 7 ok B 8 1 D 7
B o IR B4 A304,698,000/8
cHRZZEZNF+A+NA
ZK 7] AIR £ . {81,600,000,000
BITWEZRNEBRAER -
SEEAFBIERAERRAFTRE
ENF—AF+ARH —ZEETNF
HA+HAB —EENE+=-A
+—HBER=ZEEAF+A=HET
EHNZEBERAN - REBEHAT
K% AEBERBEESRER
HERMREBEEER -

BASIS OF PREPARATION

As part of the group reorganisation (the “Group
Reorganisation”), Rich Team, which was incorporated
on 30th October, 2007, acquired 100% equity interests
in Redland Concrete from CR Concrete for a cash
consideration of approximately HK$217,757,000 on 5th
March, 2008. On 30th October, 2008, the Company
acquired 100% equity interests in CR Gas (BVI) from
Powerfaith for a cash consideration of HK$3,814,800,000.
On 31st December, 2008, the Company disposed of 100%
equity interests in Rich Team and a shareholder’s loan
due to the Company to China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for a cash
consideration which was the face value of such loan plus
the consolidated net asset value of Rich Team as at 31st
October, 2008, and adjusted based on any profit or loss
after taxation attributable to its shareholders between
1st November, 2008 and 31st December, 2008. The
final consideration was approximately HK$304,698,000.
On 19th October, 2009, the Company acquired 100%
equity interests in Top Steed for a cash consideration of
HK$1,600,000,000. Details of the Group Reorganisation
are set out in the Company’s circulars dated 16th January,
2008, 19th September, 2008, 12th December, 2008
and 2nd October, 2009. Upon completion of the Group
Reorganisation, the Group is engaged in sales of liquefied
gas and connection of gas pipelines in the PRC.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Group, Redland Concrete and its subsidiaries
(“Redland Concrete Group”), CR Gas (BVI) and its
subsidiaries (“CR Gas (BVI) Group”) and Top Steed Group
are ultimately controlled by CRNC before and after the
Group Reorganisation, and that control is not transitory.
The Group, Redland Concrete Group, CR Gas (BVI) Group
and Top Steed Group are regarded as continuing entities
as at the dates of business combinations and hence the
acquisitions have been accounted for as combinations of
entities under common control by applying the principles
of merger accounting in accordance with AG 5 issued by
the HKICPA. Accordingly, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group for the two years ended 31st December,
2008 and 2009 include the results of operations,
changes in equity and cash flows of the companies now
comprising the Group as if the current group structure
upon the completion of the Group Reorganisation had
been in existence throughout the two years ended 31st
December, 2008 and 2009, or since their respective
dates of incorporation or establishment where this is a
shorter period, except for the subsidiaries acquired from
independent third parties during the year ended 31st
December, 2008 as disclosed in Note 40, which are
included in the consolidated financial statements since
their respective dates of acquisitions. The consolidated
statements of financial position of the Group as at 1st
January, 2008, 31st December, 2008 and 31st December
2009, had been prepared to present the assets and
liabilities of the companies now comprising the Group
as if current group structure had been in existence as
at the respective dates, except for the subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities acquired from independent third
parties by CR Gas Holdings or the Group during the two
years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009 as disclosed
in Notes 40 and 41, which are combined since their
respective dates of acquisition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As Rich Team was disposed of on 31st December, 2008,
the results of operations, changes in equity and cash
flows of Rich Team and its subsidiaries (the “Rich Team
Group”) were included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of
the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2008 (date
of disposal) only, and the assets and liabilities of the Rich
Team Group were included in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group as at 1st January, 2008
only.

Apart from the aforesaid business combination of entities
under common control, an expense of HK$18,823,000 has
been reclassified from other expenses to administrative
expenses to conform with current year’s presentation.

(a) The effect of those restatements on the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the year
ended 31st December 2008 is as follows:

T~
HE 2
BEREY
A E
Effect of
business
combination of
“ZEENE EHSE  entities under —EENE
2008 Reclassification common control 2008
TAT THL TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
(REZ5) (E31)
(originally stated) (restated)
et Turnover
EmLEE Continuing operations 2,144,567 - 381,015 2,525,582
BIRPREER Discontinued operations 841,531 = = 841,531
2,986,098 - 381,015 3,367,113
HEMKAR Cost of sales (2,111,671) - (247715) (2,359,386)
ES | Gross profit 874,427 - 133,300 1,007,727
ECON Other income 76,984 = 25,241 102,225
HERDHASY Selling and distribution expenses (190,041) - (29,015) (219,056)
THAX Administrative expenses (341,072) (18,823) (37,774) (397,669)
Rz Other expenses (74,890) 18,823 - (56,067)
345,408 - 91,752 437,160
BBRR Finance costs (27,565) - (3,646) (31,211)
ELBE AR ERE Share of results of associates 3,387 - - 3,387
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mBLEE (F)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

HEEH
BREYR
ety e
Effect of
business
combination of

“BENF EH2E  entities under —E2ENF
2008 Reclassification common control 2008
THL T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS’000 HKS'000
(REZ5) (&31)
(originally stated) (restated)
BRBLALE R Profit before taxation
BERSEK Continuing operations 335,972 - 88,106 424,078
BRIHEEER Discontinued operations (14,742) - - (14,742)
321,230 - 88,106 409,336
it Taxation
GEMG K Continuing operations (33,668) - (16,775) (50,443)
BRHEEER Discontinued operations (14,893) - - (14,893)
(48,561) 5 (16,775) (65,336)
EREA Profit for the year
BERSER Continuing operations 302,304 - 71,331 373,635
BRIHEEEK Discontinued operations (29,635) - - (29,635)
272,669 - 71,331 344,000
FREMEZEKA Other comprehensive income for the year
BESNEKMESZE  Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations 73,615 - 7612 81,227
i A=k Share of other comprehensive
LG ON income of associates 524 = - 504
74,139 - 7612 81,751
FREERALE Total comprehensive income for the year 346,808 - 78,943 425,751
IAFATEEERET . Profit for the year attributable to:
ARAERA Owners of the Company
FEmaEK Continuing operations 260,338 - 60,191 320,529
B HERERH Discontinued operations (23,561) - - (23,561)
236,777 - 60,191 296,968
SRR Minority interests 35,892 - 11,140 47,032
272,669 - 71,331 344,000
U TATEGER Total comprehensive income
PEBALE for the year attributable to:
ARAERA Owners of the Company
=R S Continuing operations 323,683 - 64,032 387715
BRIHEE K Discontinued operations (23,561) - - (23,561)
300,122 - 64,032 364,154
DERRER Minority interests 46,686 = 14,911 61,597
346,808 - 78,943 425,751
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

R (b) The effect of business combination of entities under
common control on the consolidated statement

of financial position as at 1st January, 2008 is as

follows:
HEE
EREK
By E
—ZZ/\fF Effect of business —EENE
—A—H  combination of —R—H
1st January, entities under 1st January,
2008 common control 2008
THT TR TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(REZ25) (231))
(originally stated) (restated)
FEmBEE Non-current assets
mE - BERFRE Property, plant and equipment 5,276,940 110,846 5,387,786
TBRRAZE Prepaid lease payments 259,986 - 259,986
REYE Investment properties 7119 - 7,119
REEE AR Interest in associates 7987 = 7987
AEEERE Available-for-sale investments 23,933 - 23,933
B Goodwill 42,443 21,880 64,323
BRCERE Exclusive operating rights 652,368 - 652,368
Bl Technical know-how 35,678 - 35,678
ELFHBEEE Deferred tax assets 15,767 - 15,767
BEVE WER Deposit for acquisition of property,
RERe plant and equipment 17,011 - 17,011
6,339,232 132,726 6,471,958
MENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 886,505 347 886,852
BKEZESR Trade and other receivables
H fth fE R 1,256,376 7,723 1,264,099
ElEFEA#TIZZIE  Amounts due from customers
for contract work 68,104 20,964 89,068
AR AL TE Prepaid lease payments 8,090 - 8,090
fEMRZNIBARZIE  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 1,797 = 1,797
AR RIE Taxation recoverable 4172 330 4,502
BEMBTEX Pledged bank deposits 6,030 = 6,030
RITEBRAS Bank balances and cash 1,715,382 62,071 1,777453
3,946,456 91,435 4,037,891
NEREEHENEE  Assets classified as held for sale 46,708 - 46,708
3,993,164 91,435 4,084,599
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2. WBEXE (F)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

HE
BREX
ez E
—ZZ/\E Effect of business —EENE
—B—H  combination of —HR—H
1st January, entities under 1st January,
2008 common control 2008
THL THL THT
HK$'000 HKS’000 HKS’000
(REZ25) (23))
(originally stated) (restated)
RBEE Current liabilities
EHEZERR Trade and other payables
H At R 50 2,076,301 21,211 2,097512
ENZPA#TIZZE  Amounts due to customers for
contract work 236,896 29,570 266,466
ERNRZNBARTZIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,233,487 = 1,233,487
HE®ESE Government grants 13,221 - 13,221
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 744,695 64,068 808,763
B Provisions 42,183 - 42,183
FEfHFi7E Taxation payable 18,266 - 18,266
4,365,049 114,849 4,479,898
mEBERE Net current liabilities (371,885) (23,414) (395,299)
5,967,347 109,312 6,076,659
BARGEE Capital and reserves
BRAR Share capital 281,215 - 281,215
s Reserves 3,245,062 87,457 3,332,519
APRHEEANEERA  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,526,277 87,457 3,613,734
NG Share option reserve of a subsidiary 10,840 - 10,840
SRR ER Minority interests 713,229 21,855 735,084
4,250,346 109,312 4,359,658
FnBaE Non-current liabilities
BREE Government grants 98,746 - 98,746
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 1,311,660 - 1,311,660
REEMT Long-term payables 66,026 - 66,026
HiRBEE Other long-term liabilities 62,385 - 62,385
ELERERE Deferred tax liabilities 178,184 - 178,184
1,171,001 - 1,717,001
5,967,347 109,312 6,076,659
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(c) N —_ZFEENF+_A=+

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) The effect of business combination of entities under

—BEA BB RBER common control on the consolidated statement of
THIERMERS 2N financial position as at 31st December, 2008 is as
™ follows:
HEEH
BRER
e
—ZZ)\F Effect of business “EENE
+=ZA=t+—-H combination +=HA=+-H
31st December, of entities under  31st December,
2008 common control 2008
AT THT FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(REZ5) (&51)
(originally stated) (restated)
FEmBEE Non-current assets
ME - BEMEE Property, plant and equipment 1,244,440 397,552 1,641,992
AR AL FIE Prepaid lease payments 110,514 19,428 129,942
REMH Investment properties 7,909 - 7,909
REEE N B Interest in associates 10,272 = 10,272
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 8,299 1,141 9,440
B Goodwill 18,836 23,089 41,925
BREEHE Exclusive operating rights 637,030 - 637,030
ERFIEEE Deferred tax assets 1,312 1,312
WER—ZMBAR  Deposit for investment in a subsidiary
mize 84,940 - 84,940
2,122,240 442,522 2,564,762
MENEE Current assets
e Inventories 45,252 6,246 51,498
JEWE SRR Trade and other receivables
H ot R 205,247 123,065 328,312
EWEFA4TI2%E  Amounts due from customers for
contract work 131,997 61,923 193,920
ENELTE Prepaid lease payments 3,760 68 3,828
EWRZMBARZIE  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 11,636 25,699 37,335
BERBBRITER Pledged bank deposits 740 - 740
RITHEB RS Bank balances and cash 1,185,086 161,684 1,346,770
1,583,718 378,685 1,962,403
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2.

mBIERE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
£EEH
(L ES
Abthre
—ZEN\E Effect of business “EENE

+=A=t+-8 combination +=A=t+-A
31st December, of entities under  31st December,

2008 common control 2008
THL THL FHT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(REZ5) (E5)
(originally stated) (restated)
REEE Current liabilities
ERE SRF R Trade and other payables
H ot RT3 873,913 301,259 1,175,172
ERNEEA4TIEZIE  Amounts due to customers for
contract work 316,885 96,938 413,823
ERRZMEARTE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 239 = 239
ENEZEERATZVE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company _ 17,039 17,039
RITRHEMEE Bank and other borrowings 68,033 39,757 107,790
FEHiTE Taxation payable 7,961 9,847 17,808
1,267,031 464,840 1,731,871
REAEFE Net current assets 316,687 (86,155) 230,532
2,438,927 356,367 2,795,294
ERREE Capital and reserves
AR Share capital 141,442 = 141,442
EA Reserves 1,807,139 280,266 2,087,405
AREE AEGRA  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,948,581 280,266 2,228,847
LHRR R Minority interests 234,442 76,101 310,543
2,183,023 356,367 2,539,390
*rRBaE Non-current liabilities
PIIREMEE Bank and other borrowings 39,494 - 39,494
HihRHEE Other long-term liabilities 73,309 - 73,309
ELHEARG Deferred tax liabilities 143,101 - 143,101
255,904 - 255,904

2,438,927 356,367 2,795,294
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(d)y BRAEBEEEZE_ZTZTN\F (d) The effect of business combination of entities under

common control described above on the Group’s
basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31st December, 2008 is as follows:

LU
BREXR SREE
BRNEE ERNETE
Impact on Impact on
basic earnings diluted earnings
per share per share
BT BT
HK$ HKS
REFER From continuing and discontinued
ERIEREER operations
B FTR RS B Report figures before restatement 0.50 0.50
B HEEZEHER Restatement arising from business
XA combination of entities under
common control 0.12 0.12
E7 Restated 0.62 0.62
REFESEEK From continuing operations
0.55 0.54
BIETHREHRT Report figures before restatement
B HEEHER Restatement arising from business
E i combination of entities under
common control 0.12 0.13
E7 Restated 0.67 0.67
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mBLEE (F)
RREGRA M RERE - AR A
EEERNR-ZTEAF+=-RA=
T-ARBEERAHEERD
#9270,839,0008 THEE - BEZ
BASKEBROREBESNAN

R-ZBEFZANE+-_A=+—8"
AEENBERERITREM
f& & /Y BD 89 26 151,039,653,000
BIL e RAREBH - A&EEH
627,000,000/ 7T A B) A A S 4K 1R
A o

RARABELENES RATBHHA
MEE  ARAEFHELAEHE
B BN FE A RIS 2R B B ey B
BEE LBREIAFEEEL
= Bl f\?éﬁﬁk#ﬁi‘élfﬂif

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given consideration to
the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$270,839,000 as at 31st December,
2009.

At 31st December, 2009, the Group’s liabilities included
the current portion of bank and other borrowings
amounting to HK$1,039,653,000. The Group has un-
drawn but committed unsecured facilities amounting to
HK$627,000,000 at the date of this report.

Taking into account of the internally generated funds
and the availability of credit facilities, the directors of
the Company are confident that the Group will be able
to meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the
foreseeable future and be able to operate on a going
concern basis. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year,

the Group has applied the

following new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the

HKICPA.

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC)* — INT 9 &
HKAS 39
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - INT 13

HK(IFRIC) - INT 15

HK(IFRIC) - INT 16

HK(IFRIC) - INT 18

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

*

Committee

Presentation of financial statements

Borrowing costs

Puttable financial instruments and
obligations arising on liquidation

Cost of an investment in
a subsidiary, jointly controlled
entity or associate

Vesting conditions and
cancellations

Improving disclosures about
financial instruments

Operating segments

Embedded derivatives

Customer loyalty programmes

Agreements for the construction of
real estate

Hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation

Transfers of assets from customers

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2008, except for the amendment
to HKFRS 5 that is effective for
annual periods beginning or after
1st July, 2009

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009 in relation to the
amendment to paragraph 80 of
HKAS 39

IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs had no material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the current or prior
accounting periods.

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and
disclosure only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial
statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology
changes (including revised titles for the financial
statements) and changes in the format and content of the
financial statements.

In addition, the adoption of HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)
has resulted in the presentation of a third consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1st January, 2008 as
the Group has made retrospective restatements in respect
of the reclassification of some items in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and has accounted
for business combination of entities under common control
based on the principles of merger accounting (see Note 2
for further details).

HKFRS 8 Operating segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has resulted in a
redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments (see
Note 8).

Improving disclosures about financial instruments
(amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial instruments:
Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures
required in relation to fair value measurements in respect
of financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
The amendments also expand and amend the disclosures
required in relation to liquidity risk. The Group has not
provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision
set out in the amendments.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 (Amendment)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 9
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14

(Amendment)

HK(IFRIC) — INT 17

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19

Amendment to HKFRS 5 as
part of Improvements to
HKFRSs 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs
20092
Related party disclosure®

Consolidated and separate
financial statements’
Classification of right issues*

Eligible hedged items!

Additional exemptions for
first-time adopters®

Limited exemption from
comparative HKFRS 7
disclosures of first-time
adopters®

Group cash-settled share-
based payments
transactions?®

Business combinations'’

Financial instruments”
Prepayments of a minimum
funding requirement®
Distributions of non-cash
assets to owners'
Extinguishing financial

liabilities with equity
instrument®



Annual Report 2009 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

A MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2009 HEZZZNF+_A=+—HLFE

95

RAFEI RAEETNERY
BEHRBER (&)

1 RZFFNFEHA - B2 RFAKN
FREHRMER ©

2 RIBENFLA-BR-_Z—ZF
—HA—B (WER) A2 RFAIRHF
JE B R ERT ©

3 R-ZE—TF— - A ZRFAKK
FEHMER -

4 R-ZE—ZF - A—Ba2&FKRN
FREHRMER ©

5 RIE—TF+ A - B2 &RAKD
FREHREMR

6 R-Z——F—H—- B2 &RAKN
FREHRMER ©

7 R-ZE—=F—F B 2&RFAKK
FREHREMY

& P & 78 B 795 B i RI SR 3R (4R
Z7]) AEFERBERE_F
—ZEF - A - HRABIAKRNE
BEHNEFTRE - BEFE
275k (RIER]) SR EERR
AMFHBRATREGENER
THEFTRERE

BV R RERFNR [ /T
BEISIAESREEDHERFEN
MHRE BEA-ZE-—=F—H—
REEN UAFRFER %
AR EE B £RIE395% [
BTA: BRANMTE]HKEAMN
FrECHERSREERBIHKA
F A FEFE - LHEZ)H KX
BHHRESREMUAEBEAFA
MEBKRE  R(iEEEORE
MEBHRE  BEBBE TR
BAXNAE MAEEASH
BB —ARIZEE AT E » F7
BHMEBRERRARERR
FERE - Uho  RIBEEMH
R ERFE - RERENRD
FEE AR E A 2 A A
R ERERAREBSEPER -
F& A &8 7 755 BR R R R 52 95 AT e
TEAEETHMEEN D AL

=
EZ©

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009.

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2009 and 1st January, 2010, as appropriate.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2010.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st February, 2010.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2011.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting for business combination for which the
acquisition date is on or after 1st January, 2010. HKAS 27
(Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for changes
in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” introduces new
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial assets and will be effective from 1st January,
2013, with earlier application permitted. The standard
requires all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” to be measured at either amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that (i) are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at fair value. In addition, under
HKFRS 9, changes in fair value of equity investments
may be recognised in other comprehensive income, with
only dividend income recognised in profit or loss. The
application of HKFRS 9 might affect the classification and
measurement of the Group’s financial assets.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009, HKAS 17 “Leases” (“HKAS 17”) has been
amended in relation to the classification of leasehold
land. The amendments will be effective from 1st January,
2010, with earlier application permitted. Before the
amendments to HKAS 17, lessees were required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and presented as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The amendments have removed such
a requirement. Instead, the amendments require the
classification of leasehold land to be based on the general
principles set out in HKAS 17, that are based on the
extent to which risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. The
application of the amendments to HKAS 17 might affect
the classification and measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
which are measured at fair values at initial recognition, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the
interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority
has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional
investment to cover the losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combinations
involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements items of the combining entities or
businesses as if they had been combined from the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are consolidated using the existing book values from
the ultimate controlling parties’ perspective. No goodwill
nor excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination is recognised, to the extent of the continuation
of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
includes the results of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the
date when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter period
and up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses
had been combined at the previous reporting period or
when they first came under common control, whichever is
shorter and up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business or a
jointly controlled entity (which is accounted for using
proportionate consolidation) is carried at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of
goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as
adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s
share of net assets of the associates, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and
a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment
separately. Instead, the entire carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment as a single asset.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment in the associate. Any reversal
of impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Investments in jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment
of a separate entity in which venturers have joint control
over the economic activity of the entity are referred to as
jointly controlled entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled
entities using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s
share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenses of the jointly controlled entities are combined
with the Group’s similar line items, line by line, in the
consolidated financial statements.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s
interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill
arising on the acquisition of a business or a jointly
controlled entity (see above).

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled
entity of the Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Distribution in specie

The amount recognised as distribution in respect of a
distribution in specie is measured at the carrying value of
the net assets of subsidiaries distributed at the date of the
distribution.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only
when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ (disposal
groups’) previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Income from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of a construction contract
for gas connection can be estimated reliably and the
stage of completion at the end of reporting period can
be measured reliably. Revenue from and expenses on
construction contracts for gas connection are recognised
using the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the value of work carried out during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When
the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract cost incurred that is probable to be
recoverable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used
by customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes other than construction in
progress are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account their estimated residual values using the
straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes,
the leasehold land component is classified as a prepaid
lease payment and amortised over a straight-line basis
over the lease term. During the construction period, the
amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is
included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses and are classified as property,
plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences
when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
charged so as to write off the cost of investment properties
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the
period in which the item is derecognised.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of
contract completion at the end of the reporting period can
be measured reliably, contract costs are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity
at the end of the reporting period on the same basis as
contract revenue is recognised.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred. When it is probable that total contracts costs will
exceed contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers
for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position, as a
liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under
trade and other receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the exclusive operating rights for
city pipeline network and technical know how.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Research, design and development expenditure

Research, design and development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred, except for development costs incurred on
a clearly-defined project, which are anticipated to be
recovered through future commercial activity, such costs
are recognised as intangible assets.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of
the two categories, including loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the asset on initial
recognition. Interest income is recognised on an effective
interest basis for debt instrument.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL’), loans
and receivables, or held-to-maturity investments. The
Group designated listed and unlisted equity securities as
available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period, except for
available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
investment revaluation reserve, until the financial asset
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

o when it becomes probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
and loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit and loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amount due to an intermediate holding
company, long-term payables and other long-term
liabilities, are measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issued costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation.
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
in which case, the entire lease is generally treated as
a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant
and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease
payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land
are accounted for as operating leases and amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the costs of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint controlled entities, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period, and
their income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (translation reserve).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1st January, 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to
employees after 7th November, 2002 and vested on or
after 1st January, 2005

For share option schemes, the fair value of services
received, determined by reference to the fair value of
share options granted at the grant date, is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At
the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will continue to be held in share option
reserve.

For share award schemes, the fair value of services
received, determined by reference to the fair value of
awarded shares granted at the grant date, is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in share award reserve. The cost
of acquisition of the Company’s share held for the share
award scheme is recorded as treasury shares (shares held
for share award scheme). At the time when the awarded
shares are vested, the amount previously recognised in
share award reserve and the amount recorded for the
relevant treasury shares will be transferred to retained
profits.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of share options and awarded
shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in the profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve and
share award reserve respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to
employees on or before 7th November, 2002, or granted
after 7th November, 2002 and vested before 1st January,
2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the consolidated financial statements until
such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is
recognised in the profit or loss in respect of the value of
options granted. Upon the exercise of the share options,
the resulting shares issued are recorded as additional
share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the
excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal
value of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options
which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date
are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Government grants
related to depreciable assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
related assets. Other government grants are recognised
as revenue over the periods necessary to match them with
the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on a
systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that has the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Application of principles of merger accounting

As mentioned in Note 2, combinations of entities under
common control are accounted for by applying principles of
merger accounting in accordance with AG 5 issued by the
HKICPA. The management considers merger accounting
can reflect the economic substance of such combinations,
not merely the legal form, in the absence of a standard
or an interpretation that specifically deals with common
control combinations.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future in preparing accounting estimates. The resulting
accounting estimates may not be equal to the actual
results. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both the current and future periods. The
key estimates and assumptions that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant
and equipment based on the expected lifespan of those
property, plant and equipment. The useful lives of property,
plant and equipment could change significantly as a result
of technical obsolescence. When the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment due to the change of
commercial and technological environment are different
from their estimated useful lives, such difference will
impact the deprecation charges and the amounts of assets
written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31st December, 2009 is HK$2,749,535,000 (31st
December, 2008: HK$1,641,992,000 and 1st January,
2008: HK$5,387,786,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant
and equipment have any indication of impairment, in
accordance with the relevant accounting policies. The
recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
have been determined based on value in use calculations.
These calculations and valuations require the use of
judgement and estimates on future operating cash flows
and discount rates adopted. In case where the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment assessed are
less than expected, a material recognition of impairment
of property, plant and equipment may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such
recognition takes place.

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of nil
(2008: HK$38,980,000) was charged to profit or loss for
the year.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at
31st December, 2009, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$352,088,000 (31st December, 2008: HK$41,925,000
and 1st January, 2008: HK$64,323,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 22.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of exclusive operating rights

At the end of the reporting period, management
reconsidered the recoverability of its exclusive operating
rights arising from acquisition of businesses/assets, in
which the carrying amount at 31st December, 2009 is
HK$632,061,000 (31st December, 2008: HK$637,030,000
and 1st January, 2008: HK$652,368,000). Recoverability
analysis has been carried out by the management
annually and details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in Note 23. Any change in the business
environment may lead to the change of expected future
cashflows in the future. If the future recoverable amounts
falls below the carrying amounts, additional impairment
loss of exclusive operating rights is required.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on
an assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances
are made on trade debtors whenever there is any objective
evidence that the balances may not be collectible. The
Group makes judgement in assessing the collectability
based on observable data including creditworthiness and
payment history of the customers (for details please refer
to Note 26). When objective evidence for allowance exists,
the amount of allowance is the difference between the
carrying amounts of the debts and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate. Where the expectation on the recoverability
of the debts is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying amounts of debtors
and doubtful debt expenses in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed.

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance,
at 31st December, 2009 is HK$109,878,000 (31st
December, 2008: HK$64,783,000 and 1st January, 2008:
HK$1,041,242,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on
an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Allowances are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net
realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of
judgement and estimates on the conditions and usefulness
of the inventories. In cases where the net realisable value
of inventories assessed are less than expected, a material
recognition of allowance for inventories may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2009, the carrying amount of
inventories is HK$132,644,000 (31st December, 2008:
HK$51,498,000 and 1st January, 2008: HK$886,852,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance
between continuity of cash flows from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of bank and other
borrowings. The Group also monitors the current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants regularly to ensure that sufficient
working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include bank and other borrowings, bank balances and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review,
management considers the cost of capital and the
associated risk, and take appropriate actions to adjust the
Group’s capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or the
redemption of existing debts.
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7. €®TAH 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SRt T BER Categories of financial instruments
“EZhE —ETNF —ETNF
t=A=t-8B +-A=t-H —A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
THERT FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&51) (&51)
(Restated) (Restated)
CREE Financial assets
B & e AR K Loans and receivables
(BREReRREEME) (including cash and
cash equivalents) 2,507,032 1,545,050 2,877,559
A{EHERE Available-for-sale
investments 18,545 9,440 23,933
cRARE Financial liabilities
BHMA At amortised cost 5,141,494 545,914 4,689,656
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-
for-sale investments, trade and other receivables, amounts
due from/to fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
amount due to an intermediate holding company, bank
and other borrowings, long-term payables and other long-
term liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets
and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies,
i.e. currency other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which are mainly amounts due
from/to fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank
and other borrowings, at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

—EEhEF —EENF
2009 2008
FET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%3)
(Restated)
BE Assets

ET United States dollars 34,529 29,008
BT Hong Kong dollars 268,454 301,149
302,983 330,157

=L Liabilities
BT Hong Kong dollars 4,023,000 29,672
BT Euro 20,050 20,926
4,043,050 50,598

AEBE BT RITINEE XK
BIAEHIEINEE R - AEER
R AT AR SN E S A0 Y
HONE R - ERERR U ER
ZREPINERR ©

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign
currency risk. Management will consider hedging foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional
currency of the group entities, against relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate which represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive (negative)
number indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax
profit for the year when RMB strengthens 5% against the
relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against the relevant currency, there would be an equal but
opposite impact on the profit for the year.

—EEAF —ZTENF
2009 2008
F#&xT T
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&E7))
(Restated)
EYH United States dollars
FRFIE @ T Post-tax profit for the year (1,726) (1,450)
BT Hong Kong dollars
FANFLE = A Post-tax profit for the year 187,727 (13,574)
BT Euro
FERFE % Post-tax profit for the year 1,003 1,046

BEERS  ARNEFREEERD
Rl TR FaEE - Bt
FREDI M TR REBNINE
Ak o

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank and other borrowings (see
Note 32 for details of these borrowings). The management
continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation and will
consider further hedging interest rate risk should the need
arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see
Note 32 for details of these borrowings). The management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider repay
the fixed-rate borrowings when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances (see Note 29 for
details of the deposits). The management considers the
Group’s exposure of the short-term bank deposits to
interest rate risk is no significant as interest bearing bank
balances are within short maturity period.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank
balances, amount due to a fellow subsidiary and bank
and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming
those balances outstanding at the end of each reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point (2008: 100 basis point) increase or decrease which
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used. The management
adjusted the sensitivity rate from 100 basis points to 50
basis points to assess interest rate risk after considering
the impact of the stabilised financial market conditions
during the year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances carried at variable
rates and floating-rate bank and other borrowings
(including amount due to a fellow subsidiary) had been
50 basis points (2008: 100 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31st December, 2009 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$9,795,000 (2008: increase/
decrease by approximately HK$13,152,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
bank balances with variable rates and floating-rate bank
and other borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising from the Group’s
borrowings denominated in RMB and Euro.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 46.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies
in place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer
and assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. For deposits paid to suppliers, the Group
assesses the credit quality of the suppliers before
payments and reviews the recoverability on a regular
basis. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.

At 31st December, 2009, the Group has concentration
of credit risk in relation to the receivables from
fellow subsidiaries amounting to HK$5,011,000 (31st
December, 2008: HK$37,335,000 and 1st January, 2008:
HK$1,797,000). In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management has reviewed the recoverable amount of
each receivable from its fellow subsidiaries at the end of
each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on deposits paid to suppliers in the PRC
gas industry is concentrated on certain well-known
suppliers. The management have considered the strong
financial background and good creditability of those
suppliers and believe there is no significant credit risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management also monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants, if any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

BE1F
BREBSEF AERRS
Over 1 year RELH
RERE FEF but not 5N L Total REE
On  Lessthan  more than Over undiscounted Carrying
demand 1 year 5 years 5years cash flows amounts

T T TR TR T T
HK$000  HK$'000  HK§000  HK$'000  HK§000  HK$000

RZZENE At 31st December,
TZA=t-H 2009
fEZ 585  Trade and other
BN payables
[ERFEZNE  Amounts due to
INGEE] fellow subsidiaries
RITREMEE  Bank and other

borrowings 2.01%

EfRHEE  Other long-term

liabilities 3.93%

BEERA4  Financial guarantee
(MzE) contracts (Note)

255,127 446,146 - - 701,273 701,273

22,646 - 1,627,337 - 1,649,983 1,622,646

- 1,092,942 1,714,984 16,651 2,824,577 2,731,453

= 7,722 21,750 105,796 135,268 86,122

= 65,419 = = 65,419 65,419

277773 1,612,229 3,364,071 122,447 5,376,520 5,206,913
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

BiB1E
BN ERSE RERR
Over 1 year MERE
RERF TEE but not 5 F Total FEE
On  Lessthan  more than Over  undiscounted Carrying
demand 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows amounts
TiEx TR TR TR TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=ZZENE At 31st December,
+ZA=+-H 2008 (restated)
(E51)
ERE5%EHL  Trade and other
Ef RN payables 38,416 206,876 15,363 47388 308,043 308,043
JEREIZHE  Amounts due to
INGIE O] fellow subsidiaries 239 - - - 239 239
FEMEEZE  Amount due to
INGIE§-| an intermediate
holding company 17,039 - - - 17,039 17,039
FITREMEE  Bank and other
borrowings - 113,553 24,612 24,311 162,476 147284
EfRHEE  Other long-term
liabilities - 9,696 11,460 102,752 123,908 73,309
SKERAY  Financial quarantee
(Mzt) contracts (Note) - 65,439 - - 65,439 65,439
55,694 395,564 51,435 174,451 677144 611,353

Mia: MBERANEEREEREF S
RHFRMERT » AKEREHH
4P B BB R S BRI LW &
HMAIBE AT /REN RS S - BRE
BEHRRNTRY - AEERARE
ZER P REBASNEMRIE © A
- E— A EBURRE F HREZ
RERRE BRI - MRl e
YRR DEF 7 TR R R 5 U

RARZEEBERNATELE -

Note: The amounts for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum
amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount as stated in Note 46 if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices for observable current market transactions as
input.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments
with effect from 1st January, 2009. HKFRS 8 requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal
reports about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in
order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance. In contrast, the predecessor standard
(HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”) required an entity to
identify two sets of segments (business and geographical)
using a risks and returns approach, with the entity’s
system of internal financial reporting to key management
personnel serving only as the starting point for the
identification of such segments. In the past, the Group’s
primary reporting format was business segments. The
application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation
of the Group’s reportable segments as compared with the
primary reportable segments determined in accordance
with HKAS 14. Nor has the adoption of HKFRS 8 changed
the basis of measurement of segment profit or loss.
Accordingly, the Group has identified four operating
segments — semiconductor, concrete, sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products and gas connection, which
are used by Group’s chief operating decision maker to
make strategic decisions.

”
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The activities of these divisions are as follows:

Semiconductor — design, fabrication and packaging of
integrated circuits and discrete devices

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products —
sale of liquefied petroleum gas and natural gas for
residential, commercial and industrial use

Gas connection — construction contracts for gas
connection to the Group’s pipelines

During the year ended 31st December, 2008, the
Group disposed of all of its equity interests held in CR
Microelectronics, which is engaged in semiconductor
operation, by way of a distribution in specie, and the entire
equity interest in Rich Team, whose subsidiaries were
engaged in concrete operation, and a shareholder’s loan
due to the Company. Details of the disposals are set out in
Note 42. Upon completion of the disposals, the Group is
principally engaged in the gas operations.

Segments results represent the profit before taxation
earned by each segment, excluding sundry income,
interest income, finance costs, central administration
costs, release from prepaid lease payments, discount on
acquisitions of subsidiaries and directors’ salaries. This is
the measure reported to the Group’s executive directors
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The information of segment results, segment assets and

RERIT : segment liabilities are as follows:
BE-ZEFhE+=-A=1+—H For the year ended 31st December, 2009
LFE
DR e AR Segment revenue and results
HERDHRE
MBI RAEBEE M
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MR ER
and related Gas a5t
products connection Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
= Turnover
HNEH External sales 2,822,369 924,410 3,746,779
ES Result
DEFEE Segment results 317,192 354,472 671,664
B 7% A AN Finance costs (39,878)
RO BEEA Unallocated income 65,896
ROEHZ Unallocated expenses (92,414)
R 5 AT A Profit before taxation 605,268
TIE Taxation (86,896)
F N A Profit for the year 518,372
fisx: BE_ZTTHAE+-_A=+—HI1 Note:  The profit from discontinued operations during the year ended

FE  BRIEKEXBSENELE
ETWE - BEREERBHAELY
811,521,000/ 7T /) &2 F K&

EEm+E

AR ERE

10,453,000 TR & F ©

31st December, 2009 represents gain on disposal of certain
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
of HK$11,521,000 and gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments of HK$10,453,000 in respect of the semiconductor
operation.
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
BE-ZEZENFE+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31st December, 2009 — continued
IEFE-&
SHEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHRRE
RE R ERAE m
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MR ER
and related Gas we
products connection Consolidated
FHETT FET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE ASSETS
DBEE Segment assets 3,127,577 739,616 3,867,193
RIEFHIEE BE Deferred tax assets 49,614
ROWARIEE Unallocated corporate
(PftzEa) assets (Note a) 4,655,001
8,571,808
afE LIABILITIES
DEBaE Segment liabilities 510,368 1,527,142 2,037,510
e R IR Taxation payable 58,689
EERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 138,533
RAOEAFIEE Unallocated corporate
(P Eb) liabilities (Note b) 4,769,502
7,004,234
H M EH Other information
HERAHRR
RERERER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MRER
and related Gas KRAE &t
products connection Unallocated Total
FHr FHR THR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BN Capital additions 659,702 - 42,015 701,717
TER#EH Depreciation and amortisation 135,925 - 18,578 154,503
HENRNTEEE Release from prepaid lease payments - - 8,370 8,370
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2008

Segment revenue and results (restated)

REREEH BRIAEEH
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HERDBRR
HHEABER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RS
and related Gas Aif FEE it Aif e
products connection Total ~ Semiconductor Concrete Total  Consolidated
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEE Turnover
S External sales 1,902,822 622,760 2,525,582 439,685 401,846 841,531 3,367,113
E+ | Result
AEXE Segment results 193,178 214,685 407863 (75,907) 89,564 13,657 421,520
B Finance costs (16,623) (14,588) (31,211)
AARMA Unallocated income 81,799 1,189 82,988
KPRFE Unallocated expenses (48,961) (15,000 (63,961)
Al Profit before taxation 424,078 (14,742) 409,336
ik Taxation (50,443) (14,893) (65,336)
ERaT Profit for the year 373,635 (29,635) 344,000
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EERRIEER (B) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-_ZEEN\E+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31st December, 2008 — continued
LHFE-4#&
DHEEERE E (E3) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HERDHAE
AR R 4B B EE
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MR
and related Gas A
products connection  Consolidated
FHETT FHIT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 2,433,595 575,850 3,009,445
BELEHIREE Deferred tax assets 1,312
ROBLARIEE Unallocated corporate
(FftzEa) assets (Note a) 1,516,408
4,527,165
afE LIABILITIES
niEaE Segment liabilities 246,174 1,148,201 1,394,375
FESRIIE Taxation payable 17,808
BIEFRIER R Deferred tax liabilities 143,101
RAOEAFIEE Unallocated corporate
(FzEb) liabilities (Note b) 432,491

1,987,775
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2008 — continued

Other information (restated)

REREXH BRIEERH
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HERDHRE
HHEABER
Sale and
distribution
ofgasfuel  EFEX
and related Gas AR it TEE i = )
products  connection  Unallocated Total Semiconductor Concrete Total ~ Consolidated
T T ThL TR T T T Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BN Capital additions 235,538 - 857 236,395 190,014 392 190,406 426,801
EREH  Depreciation and
amortisation 110,181 - 3 110,184 44,820 8,909 53,729 163,913
FEME Write down of
inventories - - - - 8,793 - 8,793 8,793
HEHESE  Impairment loss on
goodwill = = 3,036 3,036 - = = 3,036
EWZ 5% Netimpairment loss
REEE (reversal of
(RERHE impairment loss)
EB)FE  ontrade
receivables 47 - - 417 2203 (4,193) (1,990) (1573)
% HER  Impairment loss on
REFEEE  property, plant and
equipment 4,044 - - 4,044 34,936 - 34,936 38,980
HENE - Loss on disposal of
BERFEN  property, plant
B and equipment 1473 - 754 2,207 - 1 1 2,208
EEEMHE  Release from
FE prepaid lease
payments - - 4,458 4,458 - - - 4,458
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EERRIEER (B) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
R-ZSEENF—H—H At 1st January, 2008
THEEEREE (EF) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HELEEE BAHEEEE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HERIHRA
RAREBER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RRER
and related Gas &t ¥ER BBt &t &&
products connection Total ~ Semiconductor Concrete Total  Consolidated

TAR TT TR TT TR TiT Tm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

213 ASSETS
NEBE Segment assets 2,103,519 408,281 2,511,800 6,408,422 294,065 6,702,487 9,214,287
RHE Taxation recoverable 330 4172 4,502
BRHELE Deferred tax assets - 15,767 15,767
APEATEE  Unallocated corporate

(Hifza) assets (Note a) 750,174 571,827 1,322,001

3,262,304 7,294,253 10,556,557

88 LIABILITIES
DL Segment liabilities 181,663 761,712 943,375 1,516,620 49,806 1,566,426 2,509,801
EiHE Taxation payable 1,731 16,535 18,266
ELRERE Deferred tax liabilities 148,206 29,978 178,184
APEAFEE  Unallocated corporate

(Fi3Hb) liabilties (Note b) 1,615,735 1,874,913 3,490,648

2,709,047 3,487,852 6,196,899
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

The activities of the semiconductor operation were carried
out in Hong Kong and other regions in the PRC (countries
of domicile), those of the concrete operation were carried
out in Hong Kong (country of domicile) and those of the
gas operations have been carried out in the PRC (country
of domicile).

The Group’s revenue from continuing operations from
external customers (based on location of customers) and
information about its non-current assets by geographical
location of the assets are detailed below:

RENDEE I kE FRBEE (HFc)
Revenue from Non-current assets
external customers (Note ¢)
HET-A=1t-HILEE
Year ended R+=A=1+-H
31st December, At 31st December,
“ETNE N ZEZNE —TE)N\E
2009 2008 2009 2008
TET THL T T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(E51) (251)
(Restated) (Restated)
m PRC 3,746,779 2,766,089 3,960,903 2,448,527
B Hong Kong - 523,259 - 10,271
e United States of America - 23,784 - -
B Europe - 3,410 - _
Hitr Others - 50,571 - -
3,746,779 3,367,113 3,960,903 2,458,798
FEXEEFNER Information about major customers

REZMER - WHEREE I
BEP R 5 H) U a5 A & B it
10%3kbA £ -

No single external customer contributed revenue from
transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of
the Group during both years.
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EXBERSEER (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

B st Notes:

(@) AROMAREELBBENEHERSD (@) Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition
BB PR R I 4B I 2 A IR MR R B of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities which are engaged
HIBRRIMEENEE REWE in sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products and gas
TEMHEARIE - REE AR - I connection, investment properties, prepaid lease payments, interest
BREMNHEOREZRS  R—REEQ in associates, deposit for acquisition of prepaid lease payments,
ARENKRS  AJHEERE - Hib deposit for investment in a joint venture company, available-for-sale
FEWGK - FERRIRMBARHIE - B investments, other receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries,
ERRITERARBITEHRRIRS pledged bank deposit and bank balances and cash.

(b) RAOWARBEHEEMERK - BT (b) Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
Ffﬁi IEHIT ZBAR, HEE expenses, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries/an intermediate holding
RARRIBARIBITREMEE © & company and bank and other borrowings. The amounts due to fellow
1TH%M‘J§’/}ET/ET%T§—E%QET%K subsidiaries/an intermediate holding company and bank and other
TE DA R 8R1T R oAb ﬁ§m$§lﬁ’\]i borrowings are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities because
ERRERE  BWHOEARRIEARE they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.

f& o

(c) SERBEETBEAHEERE LR (c) Non-current assets excluded available-for-sale investments and
ERHEEE deferred tax assets.

B % R 2 9. FINANCE COSTS

—EENEF —ZEENF
2009 2008
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(E31)
(Restated)
e : Interests on:
AR A FREBERNRIT Bank and other borrowings
FEMES wholly repayable within five
years 30,648 27171
BAREFRNEHEESN Bank and other borrowings not
RITREMEE wholly repayable within five
years 1,414 1,661
FANIEES ) VNCIE @ Amount due to a fellow
subsidiary 5,542 -
RAIFERT SR Long-term payables - 900
HEuREAEE Other long-term liabilities 2,274 1,479
39,878 31,211
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10. B8 10. TAXATION
—EENEF —TENF
2009 2008
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(E3))
(Restated)
MBS (FR) 815 : The tax charge (credit) comprises:
BVER7S 18 Current taxation
EENER Hong Kong Profits Tax - 16,357
R E TS PRC Enterprise Income Tax 128,670 55,242
BAEFERENZ Underprovision in prior year 2,104 3,116
130,774 74,715
EEFIIA (FI5E36) Deferred taxation (Note 36)
FRE O Credit for the year (43,878) (7,945)
o 8 R R 2 g Attributable to a change in tax rate - (1,434)
(43,878) (9,379)
86,896 65,336

FAMBEBFGH TRIB G E
R AR T E16.5% (ZTE)\
F:16.5%) it EHE - RZFEZEN
FEXRNAZ+RB BELEEHE
BCZEENFRAGHESR)
B_TEN-_ZZNREREE
HEEMERERD EEFEE1%E
16.5% ©

o [ 24 )R8 51 T 1R I A SR
ERIRERBEE -

RIFPEECEMRFETE (XM
BRZED REXMBHRABRER
EhENBARNREH —F
ZENF—A—HER25% °

£ T 5o B E 0 B 2 R 7E 40
A 88 A B T SRS 9R 44 o M
1 [ 48 51 73 4F 53R T 28 B o 0 A
HRGTECERER - ARE
& = 4 7 M5, $2.50% B 1o % Ff
a5 -

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2008:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year.
On 26th June, 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Revenue Bill 2008 which includes the reduction
in corporate profit tax rate by 1% to 16.5% effective from
the year of assessment 2008-2009.

Profits tax arising in the PRC is calculated based on the
applicable tax rates on assessable profits.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st
January, 2008 onwards.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC are exempted
from income tax applicable in the PRC for two years
starting from the first profit making year after utilisation of
the tax losses brought forward and were granted a 50%
relief for the following three years.
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10. BiE (&)

“?F$lﬁ%%@%%%“
HAEHEEEEZHHER

%%mﬂ SR BB AR R
Fre BB BB E15% o

RIET B MERBREERE S

T B A B A BT BE20098F 157 - AN
BLEERAIINREESE HIRE
RZZEZENFE— A —HATHKIRA
o M B A A R U TR RS - TR
%E%@ﬁ%?iﬁﬂﬁ“ﬁm

f& B RIZBEIRIE#T B A B 315 KR E27
G A B AL A E e 38 B 59115 3%
5%3%10% ) Tt 2 0 Al 10 ZE P 1S m
(B EHEENER) - ARAR
EERBRD M%ﬂ%%imﬁ
ERBBEBEHEE D AR E
EETNFR_ZTENF+=
A=+—BLIMEFELRFEE
% FIT Ik BX /9 2R 0 i 28 ) i R I A
HIBEE -

10. TAXATION (Continued)

Certain subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities which
are operating in the Western China have been granted tax
concessions by the local tax bureau and are entitled to
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at concessionary rate of 15%.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2009 No. 1, only
the profits earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior
to 1st January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors,
can be grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax.
Whereas, dividend distributed out of the profits generated
thereafter, shall be subject to the Enterprise Income
Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC entities,
pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules. No deferred tax
liability on the undistributed profits earned during the two
years ended 31st December, 2009 and 2008 have been
recognised as the directors of the Company consider the
amount is insignificant.
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F T IR B S R) B B A BT O N

10. TAXATION (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

BRENE ¢ before taxation as follows:
—gBhE —TTN\F
2009 2008
FET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&E31))
(Restated)
B 35 A A Profit before taxation 627,242 409,336
TﬁLﬁﬁFﬁ ST E25% Tax at the applicable income
ZET)N\F : 25%) FTER tax rate of 25% (2008: 25%)
IE (BsE) (Note) 156,811 102,334
BB A i Al HR B 2 9 Tax effect of expenses not
M E deductible for tax purposes 21,042 14,907
AR TS %ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁz}\ﬁ’\] Tax effect of income not taxable
Higs s for tax purposes (13,092) (16,816)
FEEBE N R EENTHBTE Tax effect of share of results of
associates 1,797 847
RERRIBE BN NS E Tax effect of tax losses not
recognised 1,450 9,482
BT AERNIEER Utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised (1,475) (632)
RERELETIBEE/ Tax effect of deferred tax asset
MG 2 not recognised 454 4,449
P R B 4 5 B B B Effect of tax exemptions granted to
Fﬁﬁgmlﬁ%%m%@ subsidiaries operating
in the PRC (33,862) (20,185)
REBRREFTERFEH Income tax in concessionary rates (11,861) (9,977)
B AR TR R 2 Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries (16,182) (22,140)
iﬂ&ifﬁéﬁZ—E Under provision in prior year 2,104 3,116
HEAREREEHFIER Decrease in opening deferred tax
HERERD liabilities resulting from
a decrease in applicable tax rate - (1,434)
Hh Others (20,290) 2,035
FERFMIEL H Tax charge for the year 86,896 65,336

MisE EAAERRIEANEBAID EHT
EOBE  HEZTZTNFR-ZZT
NFE+ZA=+—BILMEFENF
B (b ¥ A5 B X R25% o

Note: The applicable income tax rate represents PRC Enterprise Income
Tax rate of 25% for the two years ended 31st December, 2009 and
2008, of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.
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11.

Ell\% ;Fé%ﬁi
R-FTLF+-AMA AR

EEEMT%@?QE/FWJ FEIL
—TEEEGHE RMEBMRSE
FHERARRETEEREF
gﬁ”%_%ﬂ‘kmiﬁﬁﬁ% AHY
HEZUAERBRET TZENE
’“Tﬁ’aﬂxﬁiém BRED A
1,488,900,000/8 7 * BB ERAIA
N B1%£173,106,932,31 7% ZE B
BEFRHOIN - HEZEHEBA
TEBA_??)\E A+=H8%
THREER RS EHE - B
Eé:%@%)\izﬂ ABTEK -

ZHEHER  NRARIUEYSIK
H%%?‘iﬁﬁ$"ﬂﬂ§%“ﬁf&ﬁﬁ
EREEERMETFRSD
REFEARA T1ooﬂxﬂx1ﬁ‘f ,IL%
180X ZE BEME T - UEWMH
KB E  RARBEHEHERE
HME TN 2R A ER -

HEWB AR "ﬁﬁif'ﬂ*ﬁl%%
MR pAEBELA —3H  H
ERHME TR LB GG
B BEEBLHENRARAZ
& [ff B8 A TITP Semiconductors
Limited ([ TP Semiconductors )
(EFERBRERHEEEKER
R REREHE) 22 BHXZMZ%
@ ARAEEREBE_ZZN
F+-A=+—RHIEELRIF¥
BEEETS  WEFEREBIRE R

IEREHK 2T -

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 4th December, 2007, the Company entered into
a conditional agreement with its subsidiary, CR
Microelectronics, for the sale of the entire interests in
certain of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries
engaging principally in the manufacture of semiconductors
and the shareholders’ loans advanced to these subsidiaries
to CR Microelectronics, for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$1,488,900,000 which was satisfied by
the issue of 3,106,932,317 shares in CR Microelectronics
to the Company. The disposal of these subsidiaries was
approved at a special general meeting held on 13th
February, 2008 and was completed on 5th March, 2008.

Immediately after the disposal, the Company distributed
all of its shares in CR Microelectronics, by way of a
dividend in specie on the basis of 180 shares in CR
Microelectronics for every 100 shares in the Company
held. After the distribution of dividend in specie, the
entire equity interests held in CR Microelectronics by the
Company were disposed of.

The disposal of subsidiaries and distribution of shares in
CR Microelectronics are part of the Group Reorganisation,
and upon signing the above-mentioned conditional
agreement with CR Microelectronics, the management had
the intention to dispose of the entire equity interests in TP
Semiconductors Limited (“TP Semiconductors”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company which was engaged
in manufacture and sales of integrated circuit design and
wafer packaging. As the Group ceased the semiconductor
operation during the year ended 31st December, 2008, the
semiconductor operation was presented as a discontinued
operation.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The results of the semiconductor operation for the two

years ended 31st December,

2008 and 2009, which

have been included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as discontinued operations, were

HWT - as follows:
ZEEAEF —ETNF
2009 2008
TER FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
S Turnover - 439,685
$HE AR Cost of sales - (346,512)
EF Gross profit = 93,173
HagA (&) Other income (Note) 21,974 8,977
SHE MDA Selling and distribution expenses - (13,936)
THRAX Administrative expenses - (111,230)
H A2 Other expenses = (56,067)
B 5 A AR Finance costs - (14,588)
BRTLAT B 18 Loss before taxation 21,974 (93,671)
A Taxation - (617)
FRmH (BE) Profit (loss) for the year 21,974 (94,288)

ek Attributable to:

IN/NCIEZ Z DN Owners of the Company 21,974 (88,214)
D ER RS Minority interests - (6,074)
21,974 (94,288)

M BE_TTAF+_A=+—HItF
B HtWAELEEDE  BE KK
5 R IR AFRIE11,521,000/8 LK)
B R E A B BB r Al i
£E1%%410,453,00078 TR EF -

Note: The other income for the year ended 31st December, 2009 represents
gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments of HK$11,521,000 and gain on disposal of available-for-
sale investments of HK$10,453,000 in respect of the semiconductor

operation.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The net cash flows of the semiconductor operation for the
two years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009, were as

IERESEMIR M E /55 ¢ follows:
—EBAF —ZZEENF
2009 2008
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEFFEREFRE Net cash from operating activities = 42,413
REZEGAS (FTH) IR&$%  Net cash from (used in) investing
(BRELEEERUET activities (including cash flow from
sl &meE) disposal of CR Microelectronics) 32,195 (697,064)
BE EBFSIH S F 5 Net cash from financing activities = 25,931
SN [ R F B R S 2 Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes - 259
RekBeFEBM CRd) Net increase (decrease) in cash and
FEE cash equivalents 32,195 (628,461)

R-ZEZNE+-_A—HB &&
B EEPEBII L — B 0 A
MEFEENERZNEMNEE
AREEEANEIEEHITRA
HRRBAQANBRERER - R
BAZEEFRNHABEEAINZ
EENE+TA=1+—BHEEE
ESRENEN  WIRE-_FEN
F+—A—BE_ZTZNF+=
A=+—BHRRKRREGREE
A EETIARAE  HFERRE
#7/5304,698,000/5TC ° BANAS—
FIERAR - EB AR ER
BT ENRERNERBEERELT
X ZHEERZEZENF T
—A=+t—H=EK -

On 1st December, 2008, the Group entered into an
agreement with CRH to dispose of the entire issued share
capital of Rich Team, together with a shareholder’s loan
due to the Company, to CRH or any of its subsidiary
nominated by it for a consideration which was the face
value of such loan plus the consolidated net asset value
of Rich Team as at 31st October, 2008, and adjusted
based on any profit or loss after taxation attributable
to its shareholders between 1st November, 2008 and
31st December, 2008. The final consideration was
approximately HK$304,698,000. Rich Team was a holding
company and its subsidiary was Redland Concrete which
was engaged principally in the manufacture and sale of
concrete business. The disposal was completed on 31st
December, 2008.
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REBEZZZNFT+_A=1+—
Etiruﬁlﬁﬁqﬂ/’éwbﬁiﬁﬁ'm
AAEEEREZABEERAEH
HRHENPBERRETAEZ - 8
I BEKEIRSBEE Ffﬁ
iqu/%/tb&iiE@%%ﬁEE
Wﬁ]ﬂh%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ%m%%@ﬁ%
PHRZEHEEBES - XA
%%Eﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬁmﬁlﬁﬁiﬁé
MOgNERANTE  HERE
REEHRRAEBRRESZE
R At ARER_ZEZTNF
T A=+—BHEERFER
RETEENZERARE AN
BAER BERLEEEANGE
HENARBBHR_TZNEFET
ZHTZHRBEA o

BE_TT\F+_A=+—H
I FEHRRTEBOXEDIE
RERIEBEXHHAREER
WA - WEHNAT -

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

At the time of entering into the acquisition of Redland
Concrete during the year ended 31st December, 2008, it
was the stated intention of the directors of the Company
for the Group to maintain its interest in Redland Concrete.
Since then, the economic prospects in Hong Kong
declined drastically and the medium term outlook for the
construction industry in Hong Kong, on which Redland
Concrete Group’s fortunes depend, worsened considerably.
These conditions were considered by the directors of the
Company to be likely to have an adverse impact on its
contribution to the Group’s cash flows and profits, and
hence management believed that greater resources should
be directed towards the gas operation. Accordingly, the
Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Rich Team,
the holding company of Redland Concrete Group on 31st
December, 2008. More details of the disposal of Rich
Team are disclosed in the circular of the Company dated
12th December, 2008.

The results of the concrete operation for the year ended
31st December, 2008, which have been included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
discontinued operations, were as follows:

FH&TT
HK$’000
X Turnover 401,846
$H B A AR Cost of sales (245,239)
EF Gross profit 156,607
E A Other income 6,649
HE RS HAX Selling and distribution expenses (40,079)
ITER X Administrative expenses (44,247)
FE(REE 2 N RIRE Share of results of associates (1)
B R Profit before taxation 78,929
A Taxation (14,276)
F = Profit for the year 64,653
FEML Attributable to:
ZIN/NEIETZS DN Owners of the Company 64,653
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The net cash flows of the concrete operation for the year
ended 31st December, 2008, were as follows:

M2 FEE
FAT
HK$’000
IR SR AT S IH £ SRR Net cash from operating activities 99,697
KREEGREHREFE Net cash from investing activities 33
ReMBESSEEINFERE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 99,730

H-ZEENF=ZFAAB (KES
BERLHE E-TZTNF+
“A=+—BHMERLTEKLHN
&3R8 Mom M9 51 £333,521,000
77T 52 50,059,00058 7T °

RZZFZNFE—A—-BEFAL
B BAON KBRS L EFB R
BEHIIWMT

The turnover and profit of the concrete operation for
the period from 5th March, 2008 (date of acquisition
of Redland Concrete) to 31st December, 2008 were
HK$333,521,000 and HK$50,059,000, respectively.

The net assets of the concrete operation which were
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1st January, 2008 were as follows:

TAT
HK$’000

e S
NNk et

Property, plant and equipment
Interest in associates 48

218,127

A ERE Available-for-sale investments 6,227
EEFIBE E Deferred tax assets 4,881
=& Inventories 2,006
FEWE FER N EMEWZ  Trade and other receivables 67,657
RITEHR KBS Bank balances and cash 15,635
ENESERAZANEMESF  Trade and other payables (49,806)
FER A Taxation payable (6,208)
RIERIARE Deferred tax liabilities (29,978)
BEFE Net assets 228,589
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

ERERIEEEEBHE_TTN
FR-_FFAFEtT-A=t—HL
MEFENFEEBRRNT -

The total results of the above discontinued operations for
the two years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009 are

summarised as follows:

—EENF —EENEF
2009 2008
FHET FABT
HK$’000 HK$'000
X Turnover - 841,531
5 AR Cost of sales - (591,751)
EF Gross profit - 249,780
HAm g A Other income 21,974 15,626
SHE R DAY Selling and distribution expenses - (54,015)
THFEX Administrative expenses - (155,477)
H bR Other expenses - (56,067)
EURCID N Finance costs - (14,588)
JEAR B E R BIRE Share of results of associates - (1)
BRERRF (EE) Profit (loss) before taxation 21,974 (14,742)
B Taxation - (14,893)
Fras (BE) Profit (loss) for the year 21,974 (29,635)
FRERIELEEB T Profit (loss) of discontinued
(E8) operations for the year 21,974 (29,635)
FEfh Attributable to:
AN Z YN Owners of the Company 21,974 (23,561)
DER RS Minority interests - (6,074)
21,974 (29,635)

FHRERIEEEERE ST
NER-EEAFE+-A=+—
BERMESEENRS RS TR
BT -

The total net cash flows of the above discontinued
operations for the two years ended 31st December, 2008

and 2009, are summarised as follows:

—EEBAF —ZENF
2009 2008
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
KB EKTSIR € FE Net cash from operating activities - 142,110
REZEGAS (FTH) IR&$%  Net cash from (used in) investing
(BELEERMET activities (including cash flow from
FrisR&ns) disposal of CR Microelectronics) 32,195 (697,031)
BB ERMEIREFRE Net cash from financing activities - 25,931
INETE R B R B Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes - 259
ReRBeFEBM CRd) Net increase (decrease) in cash and
FFE cash equivalents 32,195 (528,731)
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BT RZFEZTN
F—A—H EBEEEELE
TP Semiconductorsty 2 #F i% 7%
Bxm o REEREREENEETRE
HER+—EAREE  WEH
HARBEHENHSAER - K
ZENF— A —BNGE MK
MERNEFAEBYIEEH - BERE
BER BV - MEEEREIKE
BEX BTBREHEZEEERN
STEIERAE - At - E N HE
REFEEHENEETR-_ZZN
FH+_A=Z+—HEEHTHEAL
ZEEHNIMNEE - ARAEER
HE_ZZN\F+_A=+—H
LEFERIEFBBEL  BEER
34,936,0007% 7T H & (B 185 18 LA Hf
HME - BERIENERERZ
HER AU BB %E o

S ABERENTEEERET
mF :

12. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

As mentioned in Note 11, the management had an
intention to dispose of the entire equity interest in TP
Semiconductors as at 1st January, 2008. The assets
attributable to the production plant, which were expected
to be sold within twelve months, had been classified
as disposal group held for sale and were presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1st January, 2008. The letter of intent was
cancelled subsequently and the management was unable
to locate a buyer and no longer committed to a plan to
sell these assets. Accordingly, these assets classified as
held for sale were reclassified to respective categories of
assets as at 31st December, 2008. As the Group ceased
the semiconductor operation during the year ended 31st
December, 2008, impairment loss of HK$34,936,000
was recognised to write off the carrying values of plant,
machinery and equipment to their recoverable amounts.

The major classes of assets classified as held for sale are
as follows:

—geAF  —ET\E  —2I\F
+=A=+—-B +ZA=+—H —A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
FTET T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Mm% - BEKEE Property, plant and
equipment - - 38,869
B AFRIR Prepaid lease payments - - 5,535
=& Inventories = = 2,304
DEARIEHENEE Assets classified as held

for sale - - 46,708
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—EENEF —ZTENF
2009 2008
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(E3))
(Restated)
FARAFBBEMORIEELERRN Profit for the year from both
A B2 HIBR continuing and discontinued
operations has been arrived
at after charging:
BIAA Staff costs
BEME (HrE14) Directors’ emoluments (Note 14) 2,738 4,537
HEMET Other staff
— e NEMER — Salaries and other benefits 223,418 300,505
— RIREFE B — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 9,782 23,085
AR - SR =2 Share-based payment expense - 1,559
B T AN4258 Total staff costs 235,938 329,686
ZE BB & Auditor’s remuneration 2,800 4,929
M - WENREETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 130,366 139,114
WEMEINE Depreciation of investment
properties 436 866
BRE LR Amortisation of exclusive operating
(Bt ATTHAR) rights (included in administrative
expenses) 23,701 23,276
B it 0 5 Amortisation of technical know-how
(BFFATTEFASR) (included in administrative
expenses) - 657
NSELE OB 2 E Release from prepaid lease
payments 8,370 4,458
g~ BT MNERHEX Research, design and development
(Bt AEMAR) expenses (included in other
expenses) - 22,660
BHAMAX Reorganisation expenses - 14,148
AR EEE (B ATTHMY) Impairment loss on goodwill
(included in administrative
expenses) - 3,036
W - BERFEREBRE Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment - 38,980
ARIEERERAERE Impairment loss on
available-for-sale investments - 15,683
b Uk 2R B Allowance for other receivables - 3,612
FEMRZ R #1357 )%E Write down of inventories to net
(Bt AEMAR) realisable value (included in
other expenses) - 8,793
HEMENKEHAES Operating lease rentals in respect
of rented premises 12,860 15,717
EmEERE Provision for product liabilities - 4,500
HEWE  BERZERNEIER Loss on disposal of property, plant
L and equipment - 2,228
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13. FREF (&)

13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

ZEBAF —EENF
2009 2008
FExT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
WatA - and after crediting:
U BE T BB 1 R HTRE Discount on acquisition of
subsidiaries - 22,104
AHERERERA Dividend income from
available-for-sale investments 2,416 10,163
BIELE —BHB QR AR Gain on deemed disposal of
a subsidiary 880 -
HEBMEL B Gain on disposal of prepaid lease
payments 6,239 =
HEWE « BERREWS - F5 Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 5,788 =
& A ISR E WS Gain on disposal of
available-for-sale investments 10,453 —
BT/ S Government grants 96 13,215
SRITTERF B Interest on bank deposits 23,316 17,559
FEWE 5 R FUR A B 1R F R [l Net reversal of impairment loss
on trade receivables - 1,573
REFREMFEHESBA Rental income from investment
(BEHBRATERAX) properties (net of negligible
outgoings) 344 6,880




154

EBMKERBRAT —ZTNFFR

A M AR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2009

BE-SEAE+-AS+—AILEE

14. EEME R EEESHFEES

E=

ENfRKEMNEZAMEIT

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as

follows:
ERNE
2009
BYTE BIER
&R s b S

R%X  Performance  Retirement ZEEN\F
Salaries related benefit 2008
#i&  andother incentive schemes &t it
Fees benefits payments  contributions Total Total
fisk TR Th T T T T
£ Name of Director Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Kok Zhu Jinkun a - - - - - 189
B Zhou Longshan ab - - - - - 497
SE% Ma Guoan b 35 - - - 35 -
TER Wang Chuandong ¢ 35 - - - 35 -
8T Wang Guoping d - - - - - 26
THR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 30 1,560 450 173 2,213 2,243
RET Chen Cheng-Yu, Peter d - - - - - 843
B Jiang Wei e - - - - - 30
LT Wei Bin e 35 - - - 35 -
LN Liu Yanjie d - - - - - 15
TR Li Fuzuo 30 - - - 30 30
HXR Du Wenmin d,1 30 - - - 30 2
B Wong Tak Shing f 120 - - - 120 120
B8 Luk Chi Cheong f 120 - - - 120 120
BR% Ko Ping Keung d - - - - - 60
BEA Yang Chonghe, Howard 120 - - - 120 120
555 1,560 450 173 2,738 4,531

BiE Notes:
(8) SemEER-TENEF=A=-4— (a) Mr. Zhu Jinkun had resigned as Chairman and executive director

(b)

(c)

BREARAEERNTES - A
RIS EREREE - THRAER
RPTESE -

FERRLEEN—ZENF+—A=H
BHEARRRIERE  (THAHRRTE
Z-FARABFERELEEZERERER
HITES -

FEREENR_ZENF+—A=H
BZEREFTREERATES -

of the Company on 21st March, 2008. Mr. Zhou Longshan was
appointed as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and executive
director on the same date.

(b)  Mr. Zhou Longshan had resigned as Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and executive director of the Company on 3rd November,
2008. Mr. Ma Guoan was appointed as Chairman and executive
director on the same date.

(c) Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as Managing Director and
executive director on 3rd November, 2008.
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14. EEMER T EEHES

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE

(#%&) HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
BEE (&) Directors (Continued)
MisE - () Notes: (Continued)

(d) FEBFRLE  REFEE  ZHANL
ERERBEENR_TTNF=A=
T HREE - AREXRELEERE
RERBIFATES -

(e) BREAEVR-_ZTN\E+—HA=B#
FEARAIERITES - AIBZELEE
BRI AIENTES -

() DBUFATEERERZEEK

g o

(9) BN REAIIREESFAERBR
BARREE BNE AT ERR © %
W FENERER AR

WITEN RS DIREBEAEED
REEE AARARATHLIR
RIS HRT BIRETE ©

(=]

AEELBRREFALEE B
—ET)\F:MB) ATES
BENMSFBHINLX - IE
BEHINE (ZTTNF: =5)

(d)  Mr. Wang Guoping, Mr. Chen Cheng-Yu, Peter, Mr. Liu Yanjie and Mr.
Ko Ping Keung had resigned on 21st March, 2008. Mr. Du Wenmin
was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on the same
date.

(e) Mr. Jiang Wei had resigned as non-executive director of the Company
on 3rd November, 2008. Mr. Wei Bin was appointed as non-executive
director on the same date.

(f) Being independent non-executive directors and members of the Audit
Committee.

(g) Share-based payment expense is recognised based on the estimated
fair value of the share options granted to directors at the date of
grant. No such expense was recognised for both years.

Performance related incentive payments were determined
with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual
performances and comparable market statistics.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included
one (2008: two) executive directors, details of whose
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2008: three) highest paid employees of the

e EEMNEOT Group are as follows:
—EEAF —EENF
2009 2008
F&xT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
e REMEF] Salaries and other benefits 1,578 1,909
WITERN RS Performance related incentive
payments 2,644 1,101
RIRAEFFT B R Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 720 69

4,942 3,079
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14.

15.

%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ

B (#)
biErEHNME N FIATEE :

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Employees (Continued)

The emoluments of the above employees are within the

following bands:

—EEBAF —EENF

2009 2008

EBEAH EEAH

Number of Number of

employees employees

021,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1

1,000,001%7C%1,500,000/%87c HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 - 2

1,500,001/%7C%2,000,000%5 77t HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 -
B 15. DIVIDENDS

—EEBAEF —TENF

2009 2008

FER T

HK$°000 HK$’000
FABRED KIS Dividends recognised as

distribution during the year:

—EZNFIRMNA R EIRE Interim dividend paid for 2009 28,288 -

“ETN\FIRMEARPE Final dividend paid for 2008 56,577 -
B IRRE Distribution by way of

dividend in specie - 2,731,463

84,865 2,731,463

EFRAARERARE_FS
NE+ZA=+—BLLEEMHE
#1% 8  4.508 1l (S B BN
¥ S1R4.00(L) -

BER-_ZSTENF_A+=HE
THREERAS FRANEE
RER ARFTABYD IR A
FADIRKERWNEB AR EBME
FHRBRGD  EERBERHBER
A F11000% f% 17 B K 180 % 2=
MEFRD - & $£5,091,900,165
fREEMEFRG (BMEY A
3,055,140,000% 70) ERN—ZTZ
NE=ZAEHDRTFARRIE °

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 4.50 HK cents per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2009 (2008: 4.00 HK cents per share).

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at a special
general meeting held on 13th February, 2008, the
Company distributed all of its holding of shares in its
subsidiary, CR Microelectronics, by way of a dividend in
specie on the basis of 180 shares in CR Microelectronics
for every 100 shares in the Company held. A total
of 5,091,900,165 shares in CR Microelectronics
with aggregate market value of approximately
HK$3,055,140,000 were distributed to the shareholders of
the Company on 5th March, 2008.
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16. BIREF
BIFERCRILREEBMS

SRERREBEF TN TR
HBEtH

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

is based on the following data:

—BBNE —TT)\F
2009 2008
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
B : Earnings:
AN E ERER R ERF Earnings for the purpose of
E’JZ%WJ ($”& aAEEa A basic and diluted earnings
FEAEFE A& per share (profit for the
year attributable to owners of
the Company) 443,573 296,968
—EEAEF —EENF
2009 2008
ROEE : Number of shares:
PR E SRR E AR ZF 5 Weighted average number of
IR n 8 E shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 1,414,416,710 477,539,087
BEEERO T E Effect of dilutive potential shares
B % fe Share options - 754,697
R ETRES BT Weighted average number of
niEF RN 2 A shares for the purpose of
diluted earnings per share 1,414,416,710 478,293,784

EHE_TZTAF+Z=ZA=T
—HBIEFENSREERT I E
BREZATIE A A A M AT /0 B8 A%
o RERZSERENTER
BREARDHFEHTE -

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31st December, 2009 does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s outstanding share options as the
exercise price of those options is higher than the average

market price for shares for the year.
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16. ERER (&)
RBERDRILEEEETS (£)
BTz \E+=-A=+—A8
IHEE - BREARF ML @R
ANAE S 45 24 2 34 BT SE37 5T it w0
LA R IR 1D A B 1T I8 1 3
o MAERESRERE B
B - O 48 Y AR VR 1 38 9 1t

A -

KEFBELEEBNERERNR
SRR A TEHRETHE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

For continuing and discontinued operations (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December 2008, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share had been adjusted retrospectively
for the capital reduction and share consolidation as stated
in Note 37. No retrospective adjustment had been made
for the rights issue since the rights issue price was higher
than the market price on the date of rights issue.

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
from continuing operations is based on the following data:

—EENF ZEENF
2009 2008
FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
(E31)
(Restated)
FAUGESREAR N EE R Earnings for the purposes of
MAEF (RARHEE A basic and diluted earnings
FEMEFEARF) per share (profit for the year
attributable to owners of
the Company) 443,573 296,968
W ARAREB A (Profit) loss for the year from
JEMRE RIS E ER discontinued operations
BER CaA) R attributable to owners
of the Company (21,974) 23,561
AUGTE R EEEER Earnings for the purposes of
BB AR E R N 5 A A Y basic and diluted earnings
B N #E per share from continuing
operations 421,599 320,529

FTRDSE EMAESRERAR
BERNMAEMER -

REREKEXBEMS

RIBA E2HRE B KR IEEE
¥BHaA, EEESEE
RBEE_ZTZNAF+_A=+—
BIEFE BRIEKEEEBNE
BREARBEBEREFND B AER
0.O1B L (ZEENF: ERE
$80.05%870) REK0.01%ET (=
T )\F : §REE0.058TT) °

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted earnings per share.

For discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operations for the year ended 31st December, 2009 are
HK$0.01 per share (2008: losses of HK$0.05 per share)
and HK$0.01 per share (2008: losses of HK$0.05 per
share), respectively, based on the profit/loss from the
discontinued operations and the denominators presented
above.
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17. )% - BERRE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ME
BERZE
Plant, GRREE
HEME  machinery REEE Furniture ke HENEEE RE ERIR
Leasehold and Gas and Logistics  Leasehold Motor Construction &it
properties  equipment pipelines fixtures  equipment improvements vehicles in progress Total
T THT TEL TAL THEL TAL THL THAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
r5E THE GROUP
A CosT
RZEENE At 1st January, 2008
—A—H (&) (restated) 770,736 3,381,899 821,191 193,945 63,089 5,421 92,856 1,516,413 6,845,550
E A% Exchange adjustments 7522 6,681 61,276 1,723 = 267 3,185 17,110 97,764
NE Additions 13,190 22,426 8,455 10,212 - - 14,842 356,928 426,053
WERBAR Acquisition of
subsidiaries 23,409 21,193 151,109 5,529 - - 6,982 23,392 231,614
DEARIEEEEE  Reclassified from assets
held for sale 6,500 12,529 - - - - - 26,024 45,053
e Disposals (20,250) (34,280) (1,637) (9,934) = (1,451) (4,369) (1,915 (73,836)
LEHEA Disposal of subsidiaries (634,363)  (3,299,320) - (172,467) (63,089) (2,879) (50,486)  (1,425,389)  (5,647,993)
HEER é% ¥ Transfer to investment
properties (24,471) - - - - - - - (24,471)
HERER Transfers between
categories 13,396 62,094 79,163 4,268 - - 12,812 (171,733) -
R=ZENE At 31st December, 2008
+-A=1+-A 155,669 173,222 1,119,557 33,276 = 1,358 75,822 340,830 1,899,734
E 5 A% Exchange adjustments 35 () (225) 1 - - 13 (80) (259)
NE Additions 49,218 36,918 126,341 10,876 = = 31,139 429,595 684,087
KB AR Acquisition of
subsidiaries 11,093 3,528 204,984 545 - - 2,423 25,679 248,252
WEEAREHEE  Acquisition of jointly
controlled entities 34,703 16,003 221,751 1,767 = = 3,935 39,881 318,040
HE Disposals (8,012) (21,507) (5,575) (4,707) - - (1,958) - (41,759)
DR R Transfers between
categories 68,224 26,844 349,363 419 - - 327 (445,177) -
R=EENE At 31st December,
+:H =ft-8 2009 310930 235005 2,016,196 4,177 - 1,358 1701 390728 3,108,095
FERAEE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZENE At 1st January, 2008
—A—H (&3l) (restated) 136,895 1,060,876 75,934 84,566 58,464 3,749 36,473 807 1,457,764
[E 5% Exchange adjustments 2,250 4,103 14,488 974 - 85 826 - 22,726
AEERRE Provided for the year 9,182 58,185 57273 6,970 894 382 6,228 - 139,114
BRZRESE Impairment loss
recognised - 8,070 4,044 842 - - - 26,024 38,980
NEREE Reclassified from
HEEE assets held for sale 1,725 4,459 = = = = = = 6,184
HERHE Eliminated on disposals (587) (23,118) (670) (4,623) = = (2,866) - (31,864)
HERBLR AR Eliminated on disposal
e of subsidiaries (181,140)  (1,069,916) = (76,946) (59,358) (2,879) (28,642) - (1,368,881)
Lﬁél % B4 £ 5 M b Eliminated on transfer
to investment
properties (6,281) - - - - - - - (6,281)
ERER Transfers between
categories - (72) - 33 - - 39 - -
R=ZENF At 31st December, 2008
+-A=1+-AH 12,044 42,587 151,069 11,816 = 1,337 12,058 26,831 257,742
[ 5 32 Exchange adjustments 1 3 (59) 2 - - 6 - (47)
KEERE Provided for the year 12,036 28,552 71,636 6,149 - 21 11,972 - 130,366
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (2,846) (20,420) (606) (4,605) - - (1,024) - (29,501)
R=ZTHhE At 31st December,
+=A=t-H 2009 21,235 50,722 222,040 13,362 - 1,358 23,012 26,831 358,560
QEEE CARRYING VALUES
R=ZENE At 31st December,
+ZA=+-R 2009 289,695 184,283 1,794,156 28,815 = - 88,689 363,897 2,749,535
R-ZTNE At 31st December, 2008
“R=t+-8 143,625 130,635 968,488 21,460 = 21 63,764 313,999 1,641,992
R=EENE At st January, 2008
—A-R 633,841 2,321,023 745,257 109,379 4,625 1,672 56,383 1,515,606 5,387,786
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17. ¥ - BERZE (&)
BE-_TT)\H&+-FA=+—8
I EEOREREEE AN
YR LMY BER
REHRRMNEENREE -

Lt BERZRBERE (£
BITRERIN LA AR EH
TUAE  HEFFREFBREER
ABRER0%ZE10%MITEXR T
AT EE -

HEWME 25Z 404 5

%75 7
(HAEEE)
BE - #es  5F204F
B
MREE 20E304F

RIREE 3F124F
Y ek 1 102404
HEWHEERE 3254
RE 31/:E104F

AREBENHEMEUN L

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment loss for the year ended 31st December, 2008
was mainly made to write off the carrying values of plant,
machinery and equipment and furniture and fixtures upon
cessation of semiconductor operation.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, ranging from 0% to 10%, using
the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 to 40 years or over the
relevant lease terms, if shorter

Plant, machinery and 5 to 20 years

equipment
Gas pipelines 20 to 30 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 12 years
Logistics equipment 10 to 40 years
Leasehold 3 to 5 years
improvements
Motor vehicles 3'/5 to 10 years

The Group’s leasehold properties are situated on land:

“EERE —EENF —EENF
t=A=t+-8 +-A=t-H ~A-8
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
THET FTHAT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(E%)) (&251)
(Restated) (Restated)

BBBEINAR AL Outside Hong Kong
on medium-term lease 289,695 138,907 426,508

BE In Hong Kong on

— REFEH - long lease - - 189,102
— RHEATE AT — medium-term lease = 4,718 18,231

289,695 143,625 633,841
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17. W% - BERSE (&)
R_ZTEANFE+_A=+—8 "
R M 42 {2 /495,978,00058 JT (—
ZTN\F+-A=+—8: T
BTk ZTEENFE—H—H:
15,358,000/ JT) M ¥ % - W &=
MEEBEEEE LB TA
EEMIEITHEE (FizEs2) -

18. RN HELI I

AEENBMNEOFASE L
RIS :

17.

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31st December, 2009, property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$95,978,000
(31st December, 2008: nil and 1st January, 2008:
HK$15,358,000) are pledged to secure the bank
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 32).

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise of land
situated:

—BENEF —ETNEF —TENEF
+=A=+-A +=A=t-A ~A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
FTEx TAT THT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(E71) (&31)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEIRINAFR HIFEAY Outside Hong Kong on
medium-term lease 182,977 128,267 266,086
B HAELD In Hong Kong on
medium-term lease - 5,503 1,990
182,977 133,770 268,076
RERBETHNA Analysed for reporting
purposes as
FRBEE Non-current assets 171,588 129,942 259,986
mEEE Current assets 11,389 3,828 8,090

182,977 133,770 268,076
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19. REYE 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FET
HK$’000
2% COST
N-ZZEZTN\FE—H—H (F%]) At 1st January, 2008 (restated) 7,467
b Exchange adjustments 518
HEEYE - BEMRE Transfer from property, plant and equipment 18,190
NE Additions 748
o BT B 2 Al Disposal of subsidiaries (18,190)
R—ZZTZN\FE+=-_H=+—H At 31st December, 2008 8,733
PE 57, 5 & Exchange adjustments 2
WRE R E Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 4,114
k= Disposals (231)
R-EBEENF+_A=1+—H At 31st December, 2009 12,618
e DEPRECIATION
RZZEZNF—H—H (F%]) At 1st January, 2008 (restated) 348
PE 5 % Exchange adjustments 59
REFZ RS Provided for the year 866
o & BB A BB AR Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (449)
RZZEENF+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2008 824
REFEEME Provided for the year 436
RZZZNF+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 1,260
FRIEIE CARRYING VALUES
RZETNF+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 11,358
RZZEZENF+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2008 7,909
R-_ZEENF—H—H At 1st January, 2008 7,119

AEEMAENEEROTLARTA
AREBE S WA R EERNEER
B ERE ST AR AN R G
B YNBRREMEAR -
ENRANAEEFHUAREREM
HIREYM R o

R-BENFR_FFN\FT=
A=+—H0  AEENMERE
MEDMRTE - BH 5+ HHE
# o

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using cost model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties. Depreciation is
provided to write off the cost of investment properties
using straight-line method over the remaining terms of the

leases.

At 31st December, 2009 and 2008, all of the Group’s
investment properties are situated in the PRC with medium

terms of leases.
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20. REEE DB RER

20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

—EENEF —EENF —EENF
+=B=+-8B +-A=t-H —A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
TERT FTHAT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(&251) (&51)
(Restated) (Restated)
EEMRG - BERA Unlisted shares, at cost 9,564 5,207 49,808
e UL BB 18 5 5 & Share of post-acquisition
Hip2HEBA - Mk profits and other
B A% S comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 8,168 5,065 3,179
W BRERRESR Less: Impairment loss
recognised - - (45,000)
17,732 10,272 7,987

RMEHR - REBMEBZL QR
IR W ST -

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the

reporting period are set out in Note 51.

NS BB A A AR B A A R The summarised financial information in respect of the
wmr Group’s associates is set out below:
“EZhE —ZENF —ZENF
t=f=t-A +=A=t-R ~A-H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
THET TAT THT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(2%)) (&251)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEAE Total assets 235,275 131,407 87,771
BARE Total liabilities (121,157) (65,582) (44,699)
BE%E Net assets 114,118 65,825 43,072
REBEEGERE AT The Group’s share of net
BEFE assets of associates 17,732 10,272 7,987
N Income 152,179 150,368
53 Expenses 133,551 130,938
REE R Profit for the year 18,627 19,430
Hith 2 IRA Other comprehensive
income 13 1,456
REEEGBE QA The Group’s share of
i A 2 B A 2 AR profit and other
comprehensive income of
associates 7,192 3,911
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21.

22,

AHEERE 21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
“EZhE —ZENF —ETN\E
+=-B=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —A—AH
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
TR FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
(E7)) (E7)
(Restated) (Restated)
REPBEH ETRG Listed shares in the PRC,
YN at fair value 8,959 = =
FETRAKRE : Unlisted equity investments:
— BB B — in Hong Kong, at cost = 9,334 21,701
—RARE - ERA - in the PRC, at cost 9,586 9,440 7,802
18,545 18,774 29,503
w o ERRORESE Less: Impairment loss
recognised - (9,334) (5,570)
18,545 9,440 23,933

ERBROOAFEFETIRAE
BHIgH M ERE

FELEMBRARRERN RE R
RARERERBRAE R
AV EMBFAHSEBRA - WER
BRA/ERTETRA EHEE -

EEEDHAHESIREN T
CERETEN BE_ZFTZN
F+-_A=+—HILFE B
28 (B E51815,683,000/8 7T+ LA
HEREEREKE SR - %%
BERFALE -

The fair value measurements of the listed shares are
derived from quoted prices in an active market.

The unlisted equity investments are measured at cost
less impairment losses at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the management is of the opinion that their
fair values cannot be measured reliably.

The management undertook a review of the recoverable
amounts of the available-for-sale investments. An
impairment loss of HK$15,683,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31st December, 2008 to reduce
the carrying amount to the recoverable amount. Such
investment was disposed of during the year.

[EES 22. GOODWILL
FHIT
HK$’000
ARMEE CARRYING AMOUNT
RZZZEN\F—H—H (&%) At 1st January, 2008 (restated) 64,323
M B Exchange adjustments 1,662
& I B A R REBR Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (21,024)
DR EER Impairment loss recognised (3,036)
R-EENFE+=_A=+—H At 31st December, 2008 41,925
P& 5 Exchange adjustments (622)
g B — I B B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 275,610
U BE HL[FE ) A Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 35,175
R-EZhNFE+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 352,088
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22. & (&)

KWE—HHBAREENEE
275,610,000 7T & W BE — i £ [F)
7 I H S E A /Y 7928 384,395,000
BT REEMELGE - U
HRADHEENRBERET
@ °

MEBEHANGEHNEEE DA
EBEHRBIERNZEHAHLZ
ReESBEM - B RENH
ms r EEERSMEARRHK
REZEHERSBUNASELSE
- AfE AR RARZEHER
FIBS7E 3= (3 & S 0 $H SR BB IRt
MKHEBEm RRRER] 2
B EEmERE—FSORESD
BoREHREHE BENKD
BEFrZHEBAREATHELRR R
HFRZEHEBAELNEE

22. GOODWILL (Continued)

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisition
of a subsidiary amounting to HK$275,610,000 and the
acquisition of a jointly controlled entity amounting to
HK$34,395,000 is based on a provisional basis, awaiting
the completion of the identification of separable assets
and valuation of the assets and liabilities.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to
benefit from that business combination. The management
considers each subsidiary and jointly controlled
entity represents a separate CGU for the purpose of
goodwill impairment testing. As the subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities are engaged in both “sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products” and “gas
connection” segments, the goodwill is not further allocated
to each segment. At the end of the reporting period, the
carrying amount of goodwill mainly represents goodwill
arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities as follows:

—EEhF —TTNE
2009 2008
FET FH&TT
HK$°000 HK$°000
(&%)
(Restated)
RZEZEBHMRRBR AR REZEBMIBRAF

(AR ZEHBE (formerly known as &% % HmE

HRAER A F] WA AR AR "Wuhan CR Gas")

([EVEEBEMELD)) 275,610 =
BN ZE B EE R R AR AR EMNEBEERR AR AR 34,395 =
ARZE BRI ERA A ANRZEBMRRERAF 23,089 23,089
g EERRBRA R SEERRRBRA A 11,624 11,624
HAb Others 7,370 7212

352,088 41,925
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SEEAFTSAST-BLEE

22. & (&)

ReELBMMAKREEER
EREENAEE - FEER
ERNEERR/ITHEER B
EENEBEEEXANNTERE
B BEENRAARRA MR
i?iiuﬁﬁmf%%ﬁﬁ&

@ ER TG E B AT R
Eﬁ%ﬁf°?ET&%WP
BAGE EERERKANE
BHRBEEI RBHMERRK
BCMETE °

REBERESREREN EBH
AR=ZFH ORI BBEE (85
EREARMREREBN K
HRY) RERSKEEN - &
REFEER A% (ZTEN
F 1 5%) REEHFEEMFNIRS
MERIEMBFTIERE B0% (=
T )\ F:0%) REEHE%E T
TFENREeRE - BARESES
BAMNESREMANMEEXA
10.3% (ZZTNF : 9.7%) ° &
ERE RBEFRPR  RREK
BRI & IR E KRB
B -HREZE-_ZTNF+_F
T+ HLEFEERILEELEHNF
BREEEMES  BEEMGTRS
EEBEMMr KB eERAE B
It B 5t 723,036,000/ 7T B H HE
R EEE -

22. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based on value in use calculations. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding the
discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to
selling prices and direct costs. Management estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on
industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectations
of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from
the most recent financial budgets approved by senior
management for the next three years, which is the general
development period for sales of liquefied gas and gas
connection business and extrapolates cash flows for the
following two years based on the estimated growth rate
of 5% (2008: 5%) and fifteen years based on 0% (2008:
0%) estimated growth rate. The rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 10.3% (2008: 9.7%).
In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment loss
of goodwill on gas operation is identified at the end of the
reporting period. For semiconductor operation which was
ceased during the year ended 31st December, 2008, the
management assessed the recoverable amount of the
CGU was minimal, accordingly, full impairment loss was
recognised in respect of the goodwill of HK$3,036,000.
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23. BREEHE

23. EXCLUSIVE OPERATING RIGHTS

FHET

HK$’000
2% COST
RZZEZN\F—H—H (&%) At 1st January, 2008 (restated) 704,668
PE X A% Exchange adjustments 8,577
R-FBEEN\FE+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2008 713,245
PE 5 A% Exchange adjustments 116
INE Additions 17,630
Lk B X [] 450 o) 1 Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 1,004
R-ZZEENF+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2009 731,995
#o AMORTISATION
R-ZZEENF—HF—H (F%]) At 1st January, 2008 (restated) 52,300
PE A #E Exchange adjustments 639
F B Provided for the year 23,276
R-EBEENE+—_HA=+—8H At 31st December, 2008 76,215
b 5, 8 B Exchange adjustments 18
FREE Provided for the year 23,701
R-ZBEZNFE+_B=+—8H At 31st December, 2009 99,934
BREIE CARRYING AMOUNT
R-ZBEZNFE+_B=+—8 At 31st December, 2009 632,061
R-ZZTENF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2008 637,030
RZEZENF—H—H At 1st January, 2008 652,368

WHEBRGHBREEHETIA

BEAREDI0FHH o

AEFEETBRLEEEBENHR
TEB M sE22FT I FE Y S5 & K 8
B J@ﬁ‘ﬂ'4&$ﬁf§§uuﬁ%§$

i 19— &R 47

The exclusive operating rights for city pipeline network

are amortised over 30 years on a straight-line basis.

The Group tests for impairment of exclusive operating
rights as part of the CGU of sale and distribution of gas

fuel and related products as disclosed in Note 22.
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24. F il &N

25.

24. TECHNICAL KNOW-HOW

FET
HK$’000
R COST
R-ZZBEENF—HF—H At 1st January, 2008 41,404
LEMB AR Disposal of subsidiaries (41,404)
RZZEZNERZZTNF At 31st December, 2008 and 2009
+=—A=+—H -
b X7 AMORTISATION
RZZEZENF—H—H At 1st January, 2008 5,726
R FHHE Provided for the year 657
& B B N BB MR Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (6,383)
R-BZ/\FR_FTNF At 31st December, 2008 and 2009
+=A=+-H -
FRIEIE CARRYING AMOUNT
RZZBENFRZZZTNF At 31st December, 2008 and 2009
+ZRA=1+—H =
R-ZZEZENF—-H—H At 1st January, 2008 35,678

Bty A0 832 B A R A B F HI0

F12F LAE A -

FE

Amortisation was provided on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of ten to twelve years.

25. INVENTORIES

—EZhE —ETN\F —ETNF

+=A=+-B +=ZA=+—H —A—H

31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2009 2008 2008

TET FAHT FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

(&%) (&%)

(Restated) (Restated)

R Raw materials = = 237,119
EEME Construction materials 109,829 39,419 68,121
&M Work in progress - = 319,033
S m Finished goods 22,815 12,079 262,579
132,644 51,498 886,852
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26. EWE GERFREMEWRR 26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—EENE —ETT)N\EF ZZENF
t=A=+-A +-A=t-8 ~A-H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
THET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(E7)) (E7)
(Restated) (Restated)
EUWE SRR - KB Trade receivables from

—%=5 — third parties 109,878 67,406 1,085,859
—RZMBAR] — fellow subsidiaries - - 3,589
109,878 67,406 1,089,448

B RIRBE Less: Allowance for doubtful
debts - (2,623) (48,206)
109,878 64,783 1,041,242

Hip ek~ ek Other receivables, deposits
TAfFRIA and prepayments 455,643 263,529 222 857

565,521 328,312 1,264,099
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26. BN E 5 RN H B UK
(%)

REBRTEEZ ST PR KRR
— MR AE30KXEIOK & ERIFFERE
FRREHIERE180K ' 8T
FENRHEREEERIME °
EHRRERENERE SRR
(BREEKRER) RREHRERER
BEAHMBRRSTOT

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30
to 90 days to its trade customers, which may be extended
to 180 days for selected customers depending on their
trade volume and settlement terms. The aged analysis
of trade receivables, including notes receivables, net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—EERE —EENF —EENF

t=A=+-A +=A=1-H —A—H

31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2009 2008 2008

THERT FAET FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

(2%)) (251)

(Restated) (Restated)

0—90XK 0 - 90 days 95,308 52,649 833,707
91 — 180K 91 — 180 days 7,221 5,710 190,088
180K A £ Over 180 days 7,349 6,424 17,447
109,878 64,783 1,041,242

AEFBR-_ZEZNF+_A=+
—BHNEKRESEABEREE
B HAETBR 4 /590K &Y FiE UL B B &
7] > & P& 5 X IE6,680,000/% JT
—EENF+_A=F+—H: F
BT ZEFENF-—H—HB: %
BIT) °

RZZEZNFE+=_A=+—H"
AEBNEWE ZERBER
HwE H e B R T A PR BR K
14,570,000 T (Z T T\ F
+ = A =+ — H 12,134,000
BTk TEENF—H—H:
130,742,000/8 7T) - AR E A
MEARSEERES - At
WEHZERBELRE K&
B 30 47 5L 5% 5 P WUR R A
IR o

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31st
December, 2009 are amounts due from minority
shareholders of subsidiaries amounting to HK$6,680,000
(31st December, 2008: nil and 1st January, 2008: nil),
which are aged within 90 days based on the invoice date.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31st
December, 2009 are receivables of HK$14,570,000 (31st
December, 2008: HK$12,134,000 and 1st January, 2008:
HK$130,742,000) which are past due at the reporting date
but are regarded as not impaired as there has not been a
significant change in the credit standing of the debtors. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these receivables.
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26. EWE ZERA K HEMEWR
(4 )
EESETERENERE SRR
RERR T

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired

—EENE —ETT)N\F ZZENF

t=A=+-A +-A=t-8 ~A-H

31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2009 2008 2008

THET TET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(E7)) (&251)

(Restated) (Restated)

0—90K 0 - 90 days - - 62,038
91 — 180K 91 — 180 days 7,221 5,710 51,257
180K A = Over 180 days 7,349 6,424 17,447
14,570 12,134 130,742

REE RERRES AR EE
REEZBEHANERMRRLE
EERVRHARETEHER
THES AR AEEHREAE
BEF BEERBRETAER - B
o RRAREZR/BREERE
MBHRPIEHAORRBEEI
BASTTIELEERE -

ARERBRRETEFSAEBRMND
AR ERERKERAEXTET
(ZEENF+-_A=+—8:
2,623,000/8 ) - ZEEH AL
FE 3 1705 £8 oK 1E 0 & BF IR PR 26 o
AREBVARZEEWERES
(EREIEEEEETID

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the
Group considers whether there has been adverse change
in the credit standing of the debtor from the date credit
was initially granted. The concentration of credit risk is
limited as the Group’s customer base comprises of a
large number of customers. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful
debts already provided for in the consolidated financial
statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are
individually impaired receivables due from certain debtors
with an aggregate amount of nil (31st December 2008:
HK$2,623,000) which have either been placed under
liquidation or are in financial difficulties. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these receivables.
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26. EWE ZRA K HEMEWR 26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(#) (Continued)
RIRBESE Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
—EEAEF ZETNF
2009 2008
FHBT FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
n—A—H At 1st January 2,623 48,206
[E 3 3 B8 Exchange adjustments - 484
HEMRB AR Disposal of subsidiaries - (28,986)
18 /57 A] U [B] 9 2K T8 i 8 Amounts written off as uncollectible (2,623) (19,120)
ERERREEIEFE Net impairment loss recognised - 2,039
RNt=—A=+—8H At 31st December - 2,623
27. ij K ENEFENIR 27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR
I CONTRACT WORK
—EENE “ETN\F —ZENF
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—8 —A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
FET FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%) (E51)
(Restated) (Restated)
EERE N Contract costs incurred plus
BRI profits recognised 323,290 277,681 133,602
B TREERR Less: Progress billing (791,306) (497,584) (311,000)
(468,016) (219,903) (177,398)
RERMETH Analysis for reporting
purposes as:
s EFE#HTIEFIE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 243,075 193,920 89,068
ENEFAEHTIIEFIE Amounts due to customers
for contract work (711,091) (413,823) (266,466)
(468,016) (219,903) (177,398)
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28.

29.

FE U FEAS [ 2 MY D B
REEZRQBNIEA

BREKE XKB QA RE
1,600,000,000/% 7T (ZZEZE )\

t=A=t+-R:TBAR-F
TAF-A—B: BEL) (XK

BRERM REBRITEEN
BEMEFE1.2%:0 8 RER —
FREE) S ZEFREDER
A RBRAREKREEER -

BT CEAETE
£
BRITEBRETBSBENRT R
2.25% (ZZETNF : TE1.4%)
E‘I—/%\ °

RZZTEENF+=ZA=+—H "
BIOTEREB LT (ZEENF+
—HA=+—H : 740,000/ T —
ZZENF—A—B:ZTEFT)BE
ERTFROTEALAERGEHRES R
19,262,000/ 7T (Z 2T N\ F +
—“A=+-—"H: B TK-_ZEZT
NEFE—F—H: &) BEEF
EREN —BRARBEENE
NEBESERHER - RN
F—H—H - #R171756,030,000
BB AR ITALNEERA
EAEKEBMNIKRIBEE N MEMT
FiRTT - CHEBBITERILTH
F R R0.7%E1.4% (Z T T N\
F:0.7%%21.4%) 5t 8 °

28.

29.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY

Except for an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$1,600,000,000 (31st December, 2008: nil and 1st
January, 2008: nil) which is unsecured, interest bearing at
HIBOR plus 1.2% per annum and repayable after one year,
the amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging
from nil to 2.25% (2008: nil to 1.4%) per annum.

At 31st December, 2009, bank deposits of nil (31st
December, 2008: HK$740,000 and 1st January, 2008:
nil) are pledged to banks for utility services and
HK$19,262,000 (31st December, 2008: nil and 1st January,
2008: nil) are pledged as security for trade payable to
a supplier of natural gas. As at 1st January, 2008, bank
deposits of HK$6,030,000 were pledged to banks for
letters of credit issued by those banks for the Group and
for employees’ mortgage loans. The pledged bank deposits
carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.7% to 1.4%
(2008: 0.7% to 1.4%) per annum.
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30. ENEZRARHMENK

31.

e E SR ANRE P RER
SEHNRERDIT251A0T

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based
on invoice date at the end of reporting period as follows:

—EENE —EENF —ZENF

+=-—B=+—-H +ZA=+—H —HA—H

31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2009 2008 2008

FTET THET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

(&z51) (&51)

(Restated) (Restated)

0-90K 0 - 90 days 332,075 106,285 806,954
91 - 180k 91 — 180 days 23,466 16,694 250,974
180K A Over 180 days 90,605 14,004 36,244
446,146 136,983 1,094,172

BEMNTHEEHATRKZE180
X AEBEEHTEYKREREE
R UEERREBEESHAX
NET B R BRI -

R-BZAFE+-_A=+—8W
Hibh BB EH B Rz KA
B 8 & F # 7801,680,000/%5 7T
—EENFE+ZRA=+—H:
628,319,000 T K —EZT N\ F—
B — B : 488,783,000/8 jT) ° &
REERMHB AR DEBEER
1H186,000/8 T (ZEZEN\F+=
A=+—B:EF TN
F—A—R:ZTHL)

B £
R_EZENF+_A=+—8"
B T %8 Bh £14,371,0007% 7T (=
EZNF+_A=+—H: =
BTk ENFE—H—H:
111,967,000/8 1) £ ZE+H HIK
NEBERRENER AR
WEEMSE - BB REHARER
MREBREESD -

31.

The average credit period on purchases of goods
ranges from 7 to 180 days. The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are within the credit timeframe.

Included in other payables as at 31st December, 2009 are
receipts in advance from customers on gas connection
projects of HK$801,680,000 (31st December, 2008:
HK$628,319,000 and 1st January, 2008: 488,783,000).
The receipts in advance include amounts due to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries amounting to HK$186,000
(81st December, 2008: nil and 1st January, 2008: nil).

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2009, government grants of
HK$14,371,000 (31st December, 2008: nil and 1st January,
2008: HK$111,967,000) mainly represent subsidies granted
by PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of
financing the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and construction gas pipelines.
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32. RITRHMEE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

“EERE —EENF —EENF
+=A=+-B +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
THERT FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(E7) (E7)
(Restated) (Restated)
RITER Bank loans 2,691,034 72,697 2,071,068
HiER Other loans 40,419 74,587 49,355
2,731,453 147,284 2,120,423
BHER Secured 57,923 - 76,425
EEA Unsecured 2,673,530 147,284 2,043,998
2,731,453 147,284 2,120,423
NEBNRITREMES  The Group’s bank and
ER AT EIR(EE other borrowings are
repayable as follows:
BRERHK—FRN On demand or within
one year 1,039,653 107,790
LR —EBTBBRE More than one year, but
not exceeding two years 1,621,277 5,150
SZRMEENERAF More than two years, but
not exceeding five years 56,445 15,449
ZHREF More than five years 14,078 18,895
2,731,453 147,284
o ORBBEMRR SR Less: Amount due within
FE IR one year shown
under current
liabilities (1,039,653) (107,790)
SEREEBR RN —F%  Amount due after one year
b iEop e shown as non-current
liabilities 1,691,800 39,494
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32. RITREMEE (&)

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)
AEBARITREMEENRR Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other
BT : borrowings are set out below:
—EENF ZEENE
BERFAE 2009 2008
Effective interest FTExT FHAT
rate per annum HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
EEEE Fixed rate borrowings:
EHEMARBRITER Secured RMB bank loans 6.12% 57,923 =
EIRHARBETER Unsecured RMB bank loans 4.62% - 5.4% 48,269 61,338
ERHARBEMBER Unsecured RMB other loans 2.55% — 5% 20,369 53,661
EREERE Total fixed rate borrowings 126,561 114,999
FEREE: Floating rate borrowings:
EERARBRT Unsecured RMB bank

B BPEAR
RITRERF R R

loans at the People’s
Bank of China
Base Rate 4.62% — 4.78% 161,842 11,359

BB TRTER - Unsecured HKD bank
BREEMNBEERIT loans at margin plus
REFSEGTE HIBOR 1.64% 2,423,000 =
ERARUTEMER Unsecured Euro other
RHPBARBITER loans at 0.3% over
IR N0.3%H) FI| = the People’s Bank of
AR China Base Rate 1.8% 20,050 20,926
ZEEERE Total floating rate borrowings 2,604,892 32,285
BB Total borrowings 2,731,453 147,284
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33.

34.

BE 33. PROVISIONS
ETIEEREF BEARAK
Staff housing  Restructuring &5t
benefits costs Total
FHET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(MizEa) (Hi5Eb)
(Note a) (Note b)
RZEZNF—A—H At 1st January, 2008 31,392 10,791 42,183
BARE Utilisation of provisions - (212) (212)
HEMB AR Disposal of subsidiaries (31,392) (10,579) (41,971)
R-ZEZENF+-A At 31st December, 2008 and
=t—HR-ZTTNEF 31st December, 2009
+-A=+—8 = = =
B EE Notes:

(@) BIEREANIEHERERIEAR
OB RICR » st TP BEKIZA
MEARSEENEERE TRMHE
ANEEMENERZHENBEEELDN
RfEMA - REESERETIHER
EFEBh TR R ARy - EIEAARN
B o

(b) ZEBINEAKER-_TT_F+=
REBYEESEHNEFERARA
B 2 BP R AT BB I B A B AR
B {EH RO (B B RERAE TR - Bl
AR 2 M B o S5 T B8 /2 B s T ER AR Y
ERFEMBA AXNEHER
(BREERREHNE) - AHNHRSEHR
B t+—EARMHEE -

REIEMNR

AEBAKMBAREI M — DB
ERTEBREETHA®ERE
HEMEBREMAZAOHE —
& N JE (E 2 X 185,791,000 7T
R AZZEENF—A—BHE
NEZERREAMETR - 8758
66,206,000/8 LB —F 1R ©

(a) The provision for staff housing benefits represented management’s
best estimate of the liabilities of certain subsidiaries established in
the PRC in respect of housing allowances available to the remaining
eligible staff for the purchase of residential properties, based on the
local government policy in this regard. The outflow was expected
upon the receipt of application to be submitted by the eligible staff for
such allowance.

(b) The amount represented provisions for employee termination benefit
in relation to restructuring activities of subsidiaries acquired by the
Group through the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Wuxi
China Resources Microelectronics Co., Ltd. in December, 2002.
The provisions were to be utilised, to meet restructuring expenses,
including staff redundancy, in accordance with the restructuring plans
adopted when such subsidiaries were acquired. The outflow was
expected within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

34. LONG-TERM PAYABLES

A subsidiary of the Group entered into an agreement to
acquire certain machinery and equipment and technical
know-how relating to the manufacture of wafers, an amount
of HK$5,791,000 was repayable within one year and was
included in trade and other payables at 1st January, 2008.
The remaining balance of HK$66,206,000 was repayable
after one year.
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35. HttRHAE

35. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

RZEZENF+=-_A=+—H
FAEMRBEENRES
59,667,000 T (= T T )\ &F
+ = B =+ — B :59,172,000
BT ENFEF—H—H:
54,375,000/%57T) © AWEHTE
EREBREEREERNRIBERD
FETENEB(D o

WRHHEERERERECEERE
NFAEMFBERIIOT

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December,
2009 is an amount of HK$59,667,000 (31st December,
2008: HK$59,172,000 and 1st January, 2008:
HK$54,375,000), representing non-current portion of
payables for acquisition of exclusive operating rights for

city pipeline network.

The payables for acquisition of exclusive operating rights
for city pipeline network are repayable as follows:

—EENE —ZENEF ZTENE
+=-A=t+—-H +=ZA=+—H —HA—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
THET THAT FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(&31) (&51)
(Restated) (Restated)
—ER Within one year 4,555 3,408 2,830
ZR—FETBBAMRFE More than one year, but
not exceeding two years 4,555 3,408 749
ZRMFERTBBAAF More than two years, but
not exceeding five years 33,163 10,224 2,899
ZRAF More than five years 21,949 45,540 50,727
64,222 62,580 57,205
o RB A BRI A Less: Amount due within
e E SRR R one year included
Hit RN —FER in trade and other
b iEop e payables shown
under current
liabilities (4,555) (3,408) (2,830)
FEREBEEMRN—F%E  Amount due after
B EARFRIE one year shown as
non-current liabilities 59,667 59,172 54,375

ZERENDRFTBARS REF
8 MERNTERTERER
HIR30F M ERFMK59E -

The present values were based on cash flows discounted
using effective interest rate of 5.9% per annum for a term

of 30 years.
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36. IELEHIH

36. DEFERRED TAXATION

NTARERERAEFRFED

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)

RRBLHELE (AF) RES

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

g : prior years:
MERBHE BRCEE HitERER
Accelerated  Exclusive EERE Other
tax  operating Impairment temporary CH)
depreciation rights of assets differences Total
TR TR TR TR TR
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
RZFEZENFE—F—H At 1st January, 2008
(&51) (restated) (30,942) (148,129 8,050 8,604 (162,417)
SRR Exchange adjustments 44 (5) = = 39
EREE () Credit (charge) for the year 2,664 4,919 920 (558) 7,945
HEREFHHFE Effect of change in tax rate 1,763 - - (329) 1,434
HEMBLA Disposal of subsidiaries 27,897 = (8,970) (7,717 11,210
RZZETNGF At 31st December, 2008
+-A=+—-H 1,426 (143,215) - - (141,789)
fE oA Exchange adjustments - 40 - - 40
FREE Credit for the year 1,875 6,099 - 35,904 43,878
Y- AR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - = 197 197
WL REHEE Acquisition of jointly
controlled entities - - = 8,755 8,755
RZZEZNE At 31st December, 2009
+=RA=+-H 3,301 (137,076) - 44,856 (88,919)

Mz R=—TThF+-—A=1+—8 " Hfth
ERNEZEXZHAMMRERERN

Note: Other temporary differences at 31st December, 2009 are mainly
arisen from receipts in advance from customers on gas connection

BEFBR (GRS EERD) EE -

projects which are taxable on a cash basis.

EAHENDTAT : Analysed for reporting purpose as:
= L3k = Ut —BT\F
+-A=+-B +=ZA=+—H —A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2009 2008 2008
TET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%) (&7)
(Restated) (Restated)
EERIBEE Deferred tax assets 49,614 1,312 15,767
EERIEE G Deferred tax liabilities (138,533) (143,101) (178,184)
(88,919) (141,789) (162,417)
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36.

37.

EERIIE (&)
RZEBEZENF+=_AR=+—
H AEBEARAPHEBEEISE
34,408,000 7L (ZZEZE N\ F +
—A=+—8 : 34,508,000/ T)
A AR OB F o R R AR F
RIREELAREE » LA e
BHRERAEEHRBEE R_2F
NFERZZEENF+ZA=+—
AN EBEEERRFERR
FREIE -

36.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2009, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$34,408,000 (31st December, 2008: HK$34,508,000)
available to offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax
losses at 31st December, 2009 and 2008 will expire within
5 years from the year of origination.

P N/NEST N 37. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
RHEE ROEE
Number of shares Nominal value
-4 3 i ZEENE —TEN\E
t=A=t-R tZA=t-8 +t+=B=t-B +zA=t-8
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2009 2008 2009 2008
TR T
HK$’000 HK$'000
R0.10B TR Shares of HK$0.10 each
ET Authorised:
R—A—H At 1st January 10,000,000,000  6,000,000,000 1,000,000 600,000
BRI Capital reduction - - = (540,000)
REH Share consolidation - (5,400,000,000) - =
EIEERA Increase in authorised share capital - 9,400,000,000 - 940,000
R+=—A=t—H At 31st December 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
BETRAR Issued and fully paid:
w—A—H At 1st January 1,414,416,710  2,812,155,425 141,442 281,215
RiTEERER Tk Shares issued upon exercise of
share options - 16,678,000 - 1,668
BRI Capital reduction - - - (254,595)
Bt A Share consolidation - (2,545,950,083) - -
R Rights issue - 1,131,533,368 - 113,154
Wt=A=f+—H At 31st December 1,414,416,710  1,414,416,710 141,442 141,442

BE-FT\F+-A=+-A
IR B THRG A S A
EHRABERTROFTEAS
s -

The new shares issued during the year ended 31st
December, 2008 rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing shares in issue.



Annual Report 2009 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

A MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2009 HEZZZNF+_A=+—HLFE

181

37. KRAFRAK (&)

RER-_ZFETENF_A+=BxK
ZEEN\FZAZ+TNAARTH
BREFRAS BB EER
FRMEFIDAZRER > A RFHK
KBRS REGERIRAK
7 B9 BT B AN HIR0.0978 7T+ #5
BAEBBTRMDAOEERO10/E
TURZE0.01/8TT © AR A D
ERNAEERBDHRETE
TT o kst B e B A O 18 IR S
HHERBCHARRADIKE
SRR - MELEREMA LA
FEBRERHEZMDA (B
DIRBLE) © AR BIRARAS K Bl Bt A
MEEERNEFARADHEITR
DR ES T mEHR RS -

RETEY D IKE (FFIEER W
#215) - § 1+ R &K@ (E0.01%5
TTHEBEITRARETROE A
— R EREE0.10H TR IRD -
FE2£775A5M9,400,000,000 % = A%
HE0A0B TR M KB AR R
5 € I& 7N F160,000,0007% JT 1 =
1,000,000,000/8 7t * B B K%

EHHEREBERNOHZH RS -

RESRBEBAR (ABEX
HE) IHES  AARDUH
BHNX meRFEE —REEFRD
FE D PO AR AR ARt 8O L 5 - LA
% B RS B% 10 R BB (E3.4278 T 31T
1,131,533,368 8 it & it * &£ &
#473,869,800,0007 jT (& 15
) o HARFTIS RIEE AE IR
BEERR (ABEREXHES) IR
EREWER‘REENER X
X o

37. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions and special
resolutions passed at special general meetings of the
Company held on 13th February, 2008 and 29th February,
2008, the capital of the Company which involves the
nominal value of each of the existing shares in issue
being reduced from HK$0.10 to HK$0.01 by the reduction
of HK$0.09 paid up capital on each existing share. All
amounts standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company were reduced to nil. The credit
arising from the above reduction in capital and share
premium was credited to the contributed surplus account
of the Company where it may be utilised by the directors
in accordance with the bye-laws and all applicable laws,
including for distribution of dividends. All issued shares
of the Company after the capital reduction and share
premium reduction will rank pari passu in all respects.

Following the distribution in specie with details set out in
Note 15, every ten issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01
each were consolidated into one share of HK$0.10 each.
And the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$60,000,000 to HK$1,000,000,000 by
the creation of an additional 9,400,000,000 shares of
HK$0.10 each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the
existing shares.

To finance the acquisition of CR Gas (BVI), the Company
raised approximately HK$3,869.8 million before expenses
by way of the rights issue of 1,131,533,368 rights shares
at the subscription price of HK$3.42 per rights share on
the basis of four rights shares for every one existing share.
The proceeds from the rights issue were applied towards
payment of the consideration for the acquisition of CR
Gas (BVI) and the costs and expenses relating to the
acquisition and the rights issue.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

()

The Company’s equity-settled share option
schemes

On 26th November, 2001, the Company terminated
the share option scheme adopted on 15th October,
1994 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) and adopted
a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”). On 21st February, 2002, upon approval of
the Company’s shareholders, the Company amended
the New Share Option Scheme to widen the scope
of participants that are eligible to participate in the
New Share Option Scheme. On 5th March, 2008, the
Company terminated the New Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the Old Share Option Scheme was
to promote commitment by its participants and to
encourage its participants to perform their best for the
Company. The participants are the employees of the
Company (including executive directors) or any of its
subsidiaries. As the Old Share Option Scheme had
been terminated, no more option can be issued under
the Old Share Option Scheme but in all other respects
the provisions of the Old Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force. The maximum entitlement of each
participant shall not exceed 25% of the maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the OIld Share Option Scheme.
The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option shall not be later than 10 years from
the date the option is granted. There is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised. An amount of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the option within 28 days from its
date of grant. The subscription price is the higher of
(i) the nominal value of a share and (ii) 80% of the
average of the closing prices of the share on the
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(0

The Company’s equity-settled share option
schemes (Continued)

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme was
to promote dedication by its participants and to
encourage its participants to perform their best in
achieving the goals of the Group. The participants
are any directors (or any persons proposed to be
appointed as such) and employees of each member of
the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employees or directors
of each member of the Group; any executives or
employees of any business consultants, business
partners, professionals and other advisers to each
member of the Group (or any persons proposed to
be appointed as such); any substantial shareholders
of the member of the Group; any associates of the
director or substantial shareholders of the Company;
and any employees of the Company’s substantial
shareholders or any employees of such substantial
shareholders’ subsidiaries or associated companies,
as absolutely determined by the Board.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option of the New Share Option
Scheme shall not be later than 10 years from the
date the option is granted. There is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised. An amount of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the option within 28 days from its
date of grant. The subscription price is the highest
of (i) the closing price of the share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, (ii) a price being the average of the closing
prices of the share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant and (iii) the
nominal value of a share. The New Share Option
Scheme is valid for 10 years from 26th November,
2001. No further options may be granted pursuant to
the New Share Option Scheme after 25th November,
2011.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(0

The Company’s equity-settled share option
schemes (Continued)

Share options generally either become fully
vested and exercisable within a period of 10 years
immediately after the date of grant or become vested
over a period of time up to a maximum of three years
after the acceptance of a grant.

Options granted to a grantee become lapsed if the
grantee ceased to be an eligible participant before the
options become vested.

On 16th January, 2008, the Company despatched
an offer letter to all holders of unexercised options
issued under the Old Share Option Scheme and New
Share Option Scheme for the cancellation of their
options in exchange for shares in CR Microelectronics
(the “Option Cancellation Offer Letter”). On 14th
February, 2008, the Company received acceptance
of the cancellation of options from the optionholders
in respect of a total of 53,373,000 options; and that a
total of 46,707,693 CR Microelectronics shares were
allotted and issued on 6th March, 2008 to the relevant
accepting optionholders pursuant to the terms of the
Option Cancellation Offer Letter.

There was a total of 2,120,000 outstanding options on
6th March, 2008. The number of shares issuable on
the exercise of the options and the relevant exercise
prices per share were adjusted pursuant to the New
Share Option Scheme as a result of the consolidation
of the share capital of the Company on the basis of
every ten shares in the issued and unissued share
capital respectively of the Company of HK$0.01 each
were consolidated into one share of HK$0.10 each on
7th March, 2008.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(i) The Company’s equity-settled share option

schemes (Continued)

Details of the movements of share options granted
under the Company’s share option schemes are as

follows:

R=BEAF
—A—BK
“BThEF

t=A=+-H
i AR AT BEHY
BREHR
Number of
share options
outstanding at
1st January,

@ 2009 and
Exercise 31st December,
R BH Date of grant price 2009
BT
HK$
AR EETE New Share Option Scheme
—ZEE_FWANH 9th April, 2002 8.2 210,000
—EENFE—A+=H 13th January, 2004 9.06 2,000
212,000
AR ELRITE Exercisable at the end of the year 212,000
niEFaRE (Bx) Weighted average exercise price
(HK$) 8.21




186

EBMKERBRAT —ZTNFFR

e BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BE-_ZTZAF+-_A=+—HIEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2009

38. LR XNWRS (&)

()

EARUREESHNBRE

=& (&)

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i) The Company’s equity-settled share option
schemes (Continued)

BREHE
Number of share options
REAREH RH-BENF
R-BRNE ktTi#% +=A=+-A
-A-H Adjustment HARITE
AR RERGR  REREH REREE forshare  Outstanding
e Outstanding Exercised Lapsed Cancelled consolidation at
RiLBH Exercise at 1st January, during during during during 31t December,
Date of grant price 2008 the year the year the year the year 2008
i
HKS
ERREE
Old Share Option Scheme
“ET-ERAZTRA
25th April, 2001 0.547 11,150,000 (1,250,000) (200,0000  (9,700,000) = =
it CHE
New Share Option Scheme
ZZ2-£+tZAmA
4th December, 2001 0.790 7,500,000 (6,000,000) - (1,500,000) - -
“ZZ2EMANA
9th April, 2002 0.820 14,216,000 (5,678,000) (390,000) (6,048,000  (1,890,000) 210,000°
)y
22nd May, 2002 0.920 2,300,000 - - (2,300,000) - -
“ET-F+A-H
2nd October, 2002 0.570 4,605,000 (2,100,000) (490,000) (2,015,000 - -
“ET-EFRANA
9th April, 2003 0479 11,450,000 (900,000) - (10,550,000) - -
ZEE-E1-A=H
3rd November, 2003 0.800 200,000 - - (200,000) - -
“ETRE-AT=R
13th January, 2004 0.906 22,610,000 (750,000) (780,000)  (21,060,000) (18,000) 2,000°
62,881,000  (15,428,0000  (1,660,000)  (43,673,000)  (1,908,000) 212,000
74,031,000 (16,678,000  (1,860,000)  (53,373,000)  (1,908,000) 212,000
ATRERTRE
Exercisable at the end of the year 212,000
mETEEE (Br) AR
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 0.74 073 0.76 073 N/A 8.21*
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(0

The Company’s equity-settled share option

schemes (Continued)

* The number of shares issuable on the exercise of the share
options was adjusted to 210,000 and 2,000 shares and the
exercise price was adjusted from HK$0.82 per share and
HK$0.906 per share to HK$8.2 per share and HK$9.06 per
share, respectively pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme
as a result of the share consolidation as mentioned in Note 37.

In respect of the share options exercised during
the year ended 31st December, 2008, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise was
HK$1.13. The options outstanding at the end of the
year have a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 2.3 years (2008: 3.9 years).

During the two years ended 31st December, 2009
and 2008, the Group has not recognised any expense
relating to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions in respect of the share options granted
by the Company.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(M

(i)

The Company’s equity-settled share option
schemes (Continued)

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the
restricted share award scheme (“Restricted Share
Award Scheme”) as an incentive to retain and
encourage the employees for the continual operation
and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme,
existing shares of the Company will be purchased by
the trustee from the market out of cash contributed
by the Group and be held in trust for the selected
employees until such shares are vested with the
selected employees. No restricted shares will be
granted if the aggregate number of restricted shares
awarded throughout the duration of the scheme to be
in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The
maximum number of restricted shares which may be
awarded to a selected employee under the Restricted
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to
time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the
Restricted Share Award Scheme such that cash
instead of restricted shares will be awarded. The
Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee
for the awards made under the Restricted Share
Award Scheme.

During the year, 70,000,000 shares (2008: nil) were
purchased by the trustee from the market at an
average price of approximately HK$3.63 per share,
with an aggregate amount of HK$253,999,000. No
restricted shares were granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the Restricted Share Award Scheme.
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38. URBZFNRS (&) 38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(iii) FEHUE FRDEEHE (iii) CR Microelectronics equity incentive scheme

ARB—FKATHBREER
RETRA BR8]
(Tat&l)) BMEE2EE
DEHEAE - LRt fIER
B R BBE R - R
BEFRERR-_ZZNFHA
NBHERATE - AER
2EEQRBREBRETFRE
EAMRBARNEMESEK
2RIEE -FEBERAEH
ETFEREH

BREFAENR_ZT=F1A
—B - ZZETRE-A=+
ANEZEERF-HAZH
FZZEZRFRA+BE
HEOERMEFRNEEE
H B HIRE A 9 O F AR AR R
NRBERBEBEELT o
EREHERMEFIRG &
ERZERHERBAEHAA
TETREKNREBL2EE
MIEAFRRREA & TIARIT

N

A former subsidiary of the Company, CR
Microelectronics, operates an “Equity Incentive Plan”
(the “Plan”) for the purpose of sharing the pride of
ownership among its participants and to reward their
performance and contribution. The Plan was approved
by its shareholders and adopted on 8th May, 2004.
The eligible participants are any directors and full
time employees of CR Microelectronics or any of its
subsidiaries. The Plan is valid for 10 years from the
date of adoption.

The CR Microelectronic’s shares granted under the
Plan on 1st October, 2003, 26th January, 2005, 2nd
January, 2006 and 16th May, 2006 will vest in equal
portions over a period of four years commencing
from the date of grant to the participants. CR
Microelectronic’s shares granted will only be issued
once they vest and formal applications from the
respective participants are received.

Details of the movements of the shares under the
Plan are as follows:

Number of CR Microelectronic’s shares

ERBREFRMNEE

RZEZENF—H—H At 1st January, 2008 28,238,000
REIRTTE Exercised during the period (6,044,500)
REAR K2 Lapsed during the period (29,750)

REEEBNETE A At date of disposal of CR Microelectronics 22,163,750
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(iv) CR Microelectronics share option scheme

CR Microelectronics operates a “Share Option
Scheme” (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
the participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in CR Microelectronics and
to encourage the participants to work towards
enhancing the value of CR Microelectronics and
its shares for the benefit of CR Microelectronics
and its shareholders as a whole. The Scheme was
approved by its shareholders and adopted on 27th
May, 2005. The directors of CR Microelectronics
may grant CR Microelectronic’s options to eligible
participants including any directors and employees
of CR Microelectronics or any of its subsidiaries; and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
contract manufacturers, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners, joint venture business partners,
service providers of CR Microelectronics or any of its
subsidiaries. The Scheme is valid for 10 years from
the date of adoption.

The period which the shares must be taken up under
an option of the Scheme shall be notified by the board
of CR Microelectronics and in any event shall not be
later than 10 years from the date the option is granted.
The subscription price is the highest of (i) the closing
price of the share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, (ii) a price
being the average of the closing prices of the share as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Share options granted under the Scheme will vest
in equal portions over a period of 4 years from the
commencement of vesting date as approved by CR
Microelectronic’s Remuneration Committee.
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38. LRI XAWRS ()

(v) SRHETHRAHE (2)

SFEINBEREESFRB D

™ :

38.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(iv) CR Microelectronics share option scheme
(Continued)

Details of the movements of the share options under
the Scheme are as follows:

EEMEFERERE

Number of CR Microelectronic’s share options

RZZEENF—A—H At 1st January, 2008 19,928,000
REFATTE Exercised during the period (900,000)
RHEEEERETAE At date of disposal of CR Microelectronics 19,028,000
BT NF+-_A=+ During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group

—BLEFE  AEEREH
1 2 5 DA B AN 468 30 AR A7)

XHNRS  BRRAXE

7

T (ZZFEZENF : 1,559,000

BIT) ERARK -

39. RIRFRIFHE
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7 5% [ [F] B 2 p0AR 43 BB SR AR AR
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39.

recognised a total expense of nil (2008: HK$1,559,000)
relating to equity-settled share-based payment transactions
in respect of CR Microelectronics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1st December,
2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.
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39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
Hong Kong (Continued)

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group based on a specified
percentage of the employee’s basic salary, depending
on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting,
the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited contributions
were utilised in this manner in respect of the year (2008:
nil).

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by the employees.

At 31st December, 2009 and 2008, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in
the future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the local government in the PRC. The Group is required
to contribute a specified percentage of the payroll costs to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 9th January, 2009, the Group acquired equity interest
of 51% in the registered capital of Wuhan CR Gas, which
is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection
of gas pipelines, from an independent third party for a
cash consideration of RMB265,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$298,440,000). The transaction has been
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting
and the carrying value of assets and liabilities of the
acquiree at the date of acquisition is set out as follows:

W ULEE 5 A BB
AIKY BREIE
Acquiree’s

carrying
amount before
combination

FAET
HK$’000
BREFEE - Net assets acquired:
M - BB N ERE Property, plant and equipment 230,647
TERTAE 4958 Prepaid lease payments 1,770
RIETHIEE B Deferred tax assets 197
e Inventories 5,072
JE U 5 BR 7k N E i FE Uk TR Trade and other receivables 64,223
RITHBRRIES Bank balances and cash 29,698
JENE SR L E M EM R Trade and other payables (131,560)
ENEPE4TIEHIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (48,875)
FERT AR IR Taxation payable (1,822)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (103,367)
HitREQE Other long-term liabilities (1,218)
44,765
DR R Minority interests (21,935)
G Goodwill 275,610
R e B RE Total consideration,
satisfied by cash 298,440
Wi —MEKBARME S & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReFERLFESN in respect of acquisition of a subsidiary:
EfRERE Cash consideration paid (298,440)
FrgR1TAER AR Bank balances and cash acquired 29,698

(268,742)
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The acquiree contributed HK$23,229,000 to the Group’s
profit for the period between the date of acquisition and
31st December, 2009.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, and
goodwill, have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
assets and valuation of the assets and liabilities.

On 3rd March, 2009 and 1st July, 2009, the Group
acquired equity interests of 70% and 95% in the registered
capital of FMNERHMREMR AR and EVKEBRRER LD
7], respectively, which are engaged in sales of liquefied
gas and connection of gas pipelines, from independent
third parties for total consideration of RMB64,900,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$73,684,000). The
transactions have been accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting and the fair value of assets and
liabilities of the acquirees at the dates of acquisitions is
set out as follows:

wEE R
BRI ERE
BERATE
Acquirees’
carrying
amount before
combination
and fair value

FAET
HK$’000
BEREFEEE : Net assets acquired:
Y BB RH Property, plant and equipment 17,605
RITEHR NS Bank balances and cash 75,501
93,106
DERR R Minority interests (19,422)
DR rRRE Total consideration, satisfied by cash 73,684
WEHBATNRS RIS S(E  Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
MEFREDHT in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:
ENRENRE Cash consideration paid (73,684)
FrigiRITHMR KRR S Bank balances and cash acquired 75,501

1,817
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The carrying amount of the net assets of the acquirees
was approximate to their fair value at the respective dates
of acquisitions.

The acquirees contributed losses of HK$2,877,000 to the
Group for the period between the respective dates of
acquisitions and 31st December, 2009.

During the year ended 31st December, 2008, CR Gas
Holdings acquired equity interests of 71.43%, 100% and
100% in the registered capital of X FEBHME AR A
A, EMERMKRARAA and BIEBMRRERAF,
respectively, which are engaged in sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas pipelines, from independent third
parties for total consideration of HK$112,140,000. These
transactions have been accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting and the fair value of assets and
liabilities of the acquirees at the date of acquisitions is set
out as follows:
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

WUEEH R
BHEB AT B9 BRTE
BERATE
Acquirees’
carrying
amount before
combination
and fair value

FAT
HK$’000
EREFEE : Net assets acquired:
ME - BE KRG Property, plant and equipment 231,614
TR A58 Prepaid lease payments 486
AR HERE Available-for-sale investments 1,143
FE Inventories 21,792
FEW B 5 BR 3R R H A FE UK Trade and other receivables 53,666
BUREFE & TIEHIE Amounts due from customers for contract work 2,426
RITHEBNIE S Bank balances and cash 125,855
BN E SR N E A E Trade and other payables (190,222)
ENEFAATIIZEFIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (30,440)
e IR Taxation payable (4,512)
RITRHEMEE Bank and other borrowings (40,954)
170,854
DB R Minority interests (36,610)
W BT i Discount on acquisition (22,104)
112,140
EEHMREENRIEMNNLENKE  Total consideration paid by CR Gas Holdings 112,140
WEERHB A RIS RIR4EZ5(E  Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
MAFRED in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:
FrigR{T4E A RIR & Bank balances and cash acquired 125,855

REEEH  REBEBTFEEN
FRHERAQATERES -

The carrying amount of the net assets of the acquires was
approximate to its fair value at the date of acquisition.
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40. WEBMIE AR (&) 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
AN GRE MR TV IEE TS| The results of operations and financial position of the
E55% (R EE) mE - Wt subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated
BAREERMRREERGWE financial statements during the year ended 31st December,
AHEREBZEZE_TZENF+H 2008 since the date of acquisition by CR Gas Holdings
=T —HIEFEHENKEESE as the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
BB E 5T AGRE MBRE o accordance with AG 5 as disclosed in Note 2.

WEBHE —_TTINF+_A= The acquirees contributed HK$77,227,000 to the Group’s
T—HEB HEEREAEE profit for the period between the date of acquisition and

SHEAE B B A77,227,00058 7T ° 31st December, 2008.
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41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES

On 30th June, 2009, Zibo China Resources Gas (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
acquired equity interest of 46% in the registered capital
of JSTEIE BRI BMR AR, which is engaged in sales of
liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines, from CR
Gas Holdings for a consideration of HK$95,395,000. The
remaining equity interests are not held by any entities
under common control of CRNC. The transaction has been

accounted for using the purchase method of accounting
and the Group’s share of the carrying value of assets and

liabilities of the jointly controlled entity and

its subsidiaries

at the date of acquisition is set out as follows:

rEER
WULEE 5 R
BRI AY
BREETHER
Group’s
interests in
acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination

FAT
HK$’000
7R £ [ B R A P U B 2[R 45 ) The Group’s share of the net assets of jointly
BERAFEE - controlled entity acquired:
W - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 84,608
FE Inventories 3,254
FEUN B 5 BR 7% K Eoth & I 3Kk Trade and other receivables 19,652
JEWE P& # TEHRIE Amounts due from customers for contract work 510
FEUR [B 2 M 8 A Bl FE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 98
WITHBRERS Bank balances and cash 34,489
FERE SRR B FE S 3R Trade and other payables (9,208)
JERNBEPE&HITENRIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (25,325)
RN EEIER AR E Dividend payable to an intermediate holding company (2,233)
FER TR IR Taxation payable (1,000)
104,845
DR R Minority interests (78)
W B 3T Discount on acquisition (9,372)
BRAE (FF5E45(b)) Total consideration (Note 45(b)) 95,395
Ui — R4 E 24 % Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
BeEBERAFEIN respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:
FrigiRITHMR KRR S Bank balances and cash acquired 34,489
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WEERa R —HERHEA
EfEHM—REERBE - At
AR R RRIEHE RERK
ARARFER o

WEBSE —_TTNFE+ A=
+— B mKRESEAREE
SHEAE B B A5,798,00058 7T ©

R BEERBENAFETR
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41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase
from a fellow subsidiary, accordingly, the discount was
accounted for as a deemed capital contribution and
recognised in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$5,798,000 to the Group’s
profit for the period between the date of acquisition and
31st December, 2009.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired have
been determined on a provisional basis, awaiting the
completion of the identification of separable assets and
valuation of the assets and liabilities.
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41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

subsidiary of the Group, acquired equity i

The remaining equity interests are not held

On 30th June, 2009, Profit Dash Limited, a wholly-owned

nterest of 45%

in the registered capital of $#T = BIR R AR A F], which is
engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas
pipelines, from CRH, for a consideration of HK$67,398,000.

by any entities

under common control of CRNC. This transaction has been

AP EEHERZES THETE accounted for using the purchase method of accounting
BiEE ZXHICHEAEEg: and the Group’s share of the carrying value of assets and

AN - MASEBER S B HIE
HHREGIEREENBREN
BENMAGBNEREEFHINGT

liabilities of the jointly controlled entity and

its subsidiaries

at the date of acquisition is set out as follows:

interests in
acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combmatlon

HK$'000

K%Eﬁ?\g}?ﬂ&ﬁ% [ 42 ) The Group’s share of the net assets of jointly
BERNFEE - controlled entity acquired:

ME - BE k&R Property, plant and equipment 191,489
TR A RIE Prepaid lease payments 10,762
BREERE Exclusive operating rights 1,004
NG Interest in an associate 3,514
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 8,755
BIETIEE E Deferred tax assets 8,929
"E Inventories 6,697
ﬁEHﬁZEEBE&M&ﬁ@F&”Y% Trade and other receivables 50,472
JEWE P& # T2 Amounts due from customers for contract work 6,324
EHEMRITER Pledged bank deposits 2,555
RITAEBRNIIRE Bank balances and cash 42,808
e E 5 8RS &ﬁ{@?ﬁm Trade and other payables (72,097)
ERNEFAKHNITER Amounts due to customers for contract work (23,641)
JERTRIE Taxation payable (1,751)
FER B R AR Dividend payable to an intermediate holding company (4,136)
RITIEE Bank borrowings (25,529)
EIEFRIESE Deferred tax liabilities (364)

205,791
W RE TR Discount on acquisition (138,393)
BRAME (FT:E45(b)) Total consideration (Note 45(b)) 67,398
Hﬂlﬁ% EIZEEEHIER RSN Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in

SFERAFEAN : respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:

FSIRITEHNERS Bank balances and cash acquired 42,808
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41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase
from an intermediate holding company, accordingly,
the discount was accounted for as a deemed capital
contribution and recognised in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$23,733,000 to the Group’s
profit for the period between the date of acquisition and
31st December, 2009.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, and
goodwill have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
assets and valuation of the assets and liabilities.
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41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

On 1st July, 2009, China Resources Gas (China)
Investment Limited (“CR Gas Investment”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group acquired equity interest of 40%
in the registered capital of JEMZEBHEEMRTER A A,
which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection
of gas pipelines, from an independent third party for
a consideration of HK$111,803,000. The transaction
has been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting and the Group’s share of the carrying value of
assets and liabilities of the jointly controlled entity and its
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition is set out as follows:

FanR

KEBR

o 5 A BERE
ATV ERTE B

PR RS
Group’s
interest in
acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination

FHET
HK$’000
AEEREEWELRIZHIEE  The Group’s share of the net assets of jointly
HFEE controlled entity acquired:
T"EYE Investment properties 4,114
Y - BB R Property, plant and equipment 40,237
AT A FRIE Prepaid lease payments 3,819
AIHHERE Available-for-sale investments 358
FREFIBE E Deferred tax assets 190
=7g Inventories 3,097
FEUE 5 BR 5 & E b U 5K Trade and other receivables 1,619
BIRNEFEAXTERIEAE Amounts due from customers for contract work 55,062
RITHBRRIRS Bank balances and cash 26,494
EHE 5 BRI M B b FE S 7k Trade and other payables (24,231)
ENEFEAHTIERIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (14,628)
FERTIE Taxation payable (4,601)
JEAT AR 2. Dividend payable (2,300)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (9,077)
80,153
VAR R Minority interests (2,745)
kS Goodwill 34,395
DNIREYHeerRE Total consideration, satisfied by cash 111,803
Wi — R S E 1 I L BE Y Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
RekReEERL in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled
SRR - entity:
ENESRE Cash consideration paid (111,803)
FrigiRITHMR KRR & Bank balances and cash acquired 26,494

(85,309)
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4. WEHEERER (&) 41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

WHEBHE —_TTAF+ A= The acquiree contributed HK$4,420,000 to the Group’s
+T—BHE HRETEAEE profit for the period between the date of acquisition and
& MA B R 54,420,000 7T © 31st December, 2009.

FTBEERBENRAFENR The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired have
EEMERHE  UFERAH been determined on a provisional basis, awaiting the
HAEEUREERBEHETK - completion of the identification of separable assets and

valuation of the assets and liabilities.
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BE

SEEAFTSAST-BLAE

M. WEHEEHER (£2)

RZZTEZThFE—HF—H  K#H
BHRRAREERR ([
BRR ) (S & B /) — 8 2k B4 &
?%)MRFAE%H%%O

7C (8 % 7 #93,833,000/5 7T) A
ﬁi%_HW%%%%ﬁmﬁﬁ
REFRAR ([FELHME])
EARM45%H I A e o R
HRRRFLERRESSHERB
B50% I =4 K Al ¥ F 2 M R
B 7 M A8 & TSR AT (R 1 ) - 3T
ﬁ%ﬁm&%&%%ﬁmwg

o REBEMR D (HAER R A
3e%r*ﬂmtmﬁu,ﬂ$au§ A
IR £ E AR (B 1,380,000/ 7T iE
AF LR RHIB6%E EFE - %
RBGEFRABESAAR M
R B pA U BB B HA PR 4G R
ERNEERBENAFTEH
(N

41. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

On 1st January, 2009, K B H MM R E R E £ 2
A (“Chengdu Gas”), a jointly controlled entity of the
Group, acquired equity interest of 45% in the registered
capital of BE LM BT E R F F 2 7 (“Xinan Gas”)
from an independent third parties for a consideration
of RMB3,375,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,833,000). As Chengdu Gas held over 50% voting
rights on the board of directors of Xinan Gas and can
exercise control over Xinan Gas on its financing and
operating policies, Xinan Gas is considered to be a
subsidiary of Chengdu Gas. The Group effectively shared
36% equity interests in Chengdu Gas using proportionate
consolidation, accordingly, the Group acquired 36% of net
assets of Xinan Gas at a consideration of HK$1,380,000.
The transaction has been accounted for by using the
purchase method of accounting and the Group’s share of
fair value of assets and liabilities of the jointly controlled

entity at the date of acquisition is set out as follows:

WS R
BEERTHY
REERATE
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination
and fair value

FH&T
HK$’000
BWEFEE Net assets acquired:
ME - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 1,706
TR A FRIE Prepaid lease payments 382
FE Inventories 2
FERTE 5 AR 30 N E A M 5Kk Trade and other receivables 387
RITHEB MRS Bank balances and cash 663
H th FE A 5K Other payables (1,8086)
1,334
o G EX Minority interests (734)
[k Goodwill 780
IR &SRR E Total consideration, satisfied by cash 1,380
Wi — R R HIE A Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReRBEEERD in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled
FHEEDT entity:
ENRENRE Cash consideration paid (1,380)
FSRITEH LIRS Bank balances and cash acquired 663

(717)
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41.

42.

WIBHEZEFIER (&)

RUEBR - KB FEED

FREEREAEAERS
WEARE _TTAF+ A=
T—BHE - REBETHAEE

SHEAH BB A116,000/8 7T ©

HEHE A E
R-ZTtF+-AMWA A2
RIEEHEAREBREFTL
—HBGEE MEBKE
FHERARREFTEBREE
ERUWEXEHOEEMBR AN

EHERARBX T REHE
ARMBRER BREOAR
1,488,900,000/8 7T © & BERA
NAEITE& ) 3,106,932,31 7K
BIREFRADIM - i EHSH
BRARER-FZT/\F=AEA
FERX °

41.

42.

ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

The carrying amount of the net assets of the acquiree was
approximate to its fair value at the date of acquisition.

The acquiree contributed HK$116,000 to the Group’s profit
for the period between the date of acquisition and 31st
December, 2009.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 4th December, 2007, the Company entered into a
conditional agreement with CR Microelectronics for the
sale of the entire interests in certain of the Company’s
subsidiaries engaging principally in the manufacture of
semiconductors and the shareholders’ loans advanced to
these subsidiaries to CR Microelectronics, for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$1,488,900,000
which would be satisfied by the issue of a minimum
of 3,106,932,317 shares in CR Microelectronics to
the Company. The disposal of these subsidiaries was
completed on 5th March, 2008.



206 EWRRERERAT —STAEFR

e EHRRME
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2009 HE-_ZZNF+_A=1+—HLFE

42. HEHBQT (&) 42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BER=ZZZENF_A+=H% Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at a
TORRRERIAEG @AM ER special general meeting held on 13th February,
RER - AR RIRERFE 1007 2008, the Company would distribute its shares in CR
A ARt B E180% FE i E Microelectronics including those shares received for
IR ELE - NEWHIRA D disposal of subsidiaries mentioned above, by way of
RERMEFRG (BELE L a dividend in specie on the basis of 180 shares in CR
HLP S A A FTUER AR 1) © A= Microelectronics for every 100 shares in the Company held.
ZENF=ATHIREMKE After the distribution of dividend in specie on 5th March,
& RNRAREBREFAFHAE 2008, the equity interests held in CR Microelectronics by
BRI E o the Company were disposed of.

FAT
HK$’000
EHEFEE : Net assets disposed of:
ME - BB NERE Property, plant and equipment 4,087,244
TE A FRIE Prepaid lease payments 163,564
AIHEERE Available-for-sale investments 570
5k Goodwill 21,024
PR 70 Technical know-how 35,021
IRIEFHIEE B Deferred tax assets 11,806
WM - BB RERENZS Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 20,280
FE Inventories 872,317
FRULE 5 BR 7k K EAth e 3k Trade and other receivables 842,176
AR B Taxation recoverable 4,937
BEEBIRITHER Pledged bank deposits 3,955
WITHBRERS Bank balances and cash 508,688
FEAT B 5 AR R0 H A - 3K Trade and other payables (1,204,710)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (1,898,987)
Bt Provisions (41,971)
RHAER K Long-term payables (64,979)
TR S Government grants (119,960)
3,240,975
DHRR R Minority interests (509,512)
FRAEMRE AR D IRET A Amounts charged to retained profits in respect
1REB S FIH R IE of distribution in specie 2,731,463
HE—FHBARIMNE S & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReSERLFESN in respect of disposal of a subsidiary:
EHERITERERS Bank balances and cash disposed of (508,688)
HEMBRARBAIERERS The disposal of subsidiaries is considered as an equity

WO MR EE RS o transaction and hence no gain or loss was recognised.
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42. HEMB AT (&)
R-_EZN\F+-A—H K&
EEFEHER Y AR U
MEFEESNERZNEMAHE
ARHEBRNE B BITRA
BRREBAQRANBERER R
BAZEEFRNEEES AN =
ZEENETA=+—BHEEE
EFERNARN  WiRE_ZTTN
F+—F—REEENEFE+=
A=+—BHIMKRREEBRFE
SHAE SR T AAE ZERARE
#9/45304,698,000/8 7T © EimhA—
MIERAR TEFBERNEA
AINEREREERR T -
EAMIEE TEBEE N —EWH
BRA ZHEER_ZT)N\F
+=—A=+—HB%K -

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

On 1st December, 2008, the Group entered into an
agreement with CRH to dispose of the entire issued share
capital of Rich Team, together with a shareholder’s loan
due to the Company, to CRH or any of its subsidiaries
nominated by it for a consideration of which was the face
value of such loan plus the consolidated net asset value
of Rich Team as at 31st October, 2008, and adjusted
based on any profit or loss after taxation attributable
to its shareholders between 1st November, 2008 and
31st December, 2008. The final consideration was
approximately HK$304,698,000. Rich Team was a holding
company and was engaged principally in the manufacture
and sale of concrete business, through its subsidiaries.
Rich Team was disposed of to a subsidiary of CRH and

was completed on 31st December, 2008.

FHIT
HK$’000
EHEFEE : Net assets disposed of:
ME - BB M RE Property, plant and equipment 191,868
TEYE Investment properties 17,741
i /N =k Interest in associates 48
FE Inventories 2,221
UL E 5 BR 7k K Eth & Iz Trade and other receivables 45,940
i EES YNGR € Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 8,819
IRITEB MRS Bank balances and cash 115,366
B E SRR E A A 3R Trade and other payables (42,052)
FEAST R 2t A RIFRIE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (11,300)
FEASTHIA Taxation payable (937)
FEHIERE Deferred tax liabilities (28,016)
RERE Total consideration 304,698
LATRZ A AT - Satisfied by:
bk Cash 293,782
FEULR(EB (Gt AFEWE SBEZ ] Consideration receivable (included in trade
H 4th e W FR) and other receivables) 10,916
304,698
HE—HEHRBARNRE X Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
BEEERAFBEOMN : in respect of disposal of a subsidiary:
ReERE Cash consideration 293,782
EHERITERER® Bank balances and cash disposed of (115,366)
178,416

HEZRE 3,816,000 LHE
AN 217,457,000/ T H) & OF
RBECEREZREBER -

EHREFRERAEEAEEFR
WEBEMRERENTERM T
1138 -

Upon disposal of Rich Team, a capital reserve of
HK$3,816,000 and a merger reserve of HK$217,457,000
were released to retained profits.

The impact of CR Microelectronics and Rich Team on the
Group’s results and cash flows during the year is disclosed
in Note 11.
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43. EERY
AEBMEREEA

RE|EHR - NEEA A B
RETHKATE - ZFEAENRK

43. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

SEESMRAT : operating leases which fall due as follows:
—ETAEF —ETN\F
+=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2009 2008
FTER FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(E51)
(Restated)
—FR Within one year 6,064 6,219
FE_EZERF (BEEEMEEA) In the second to fifth year inclusive 8,921 11,687
ik After five years 573 1,746
15,558 19,652

REMMNRIIE RSB D
ERBEMENRMNES - HA
MERMkEEREFHR—=
REH(CZEZNE: —ELF
) o

FEEER[HBEA

RBEHRR FEBEEABALR
RIS ARG LA - BigAT
AYXfH&REBASOI BB M
T

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for office and factory premises. Leases are
negotiated and rentals are fixed for term ranging from one
to six years (2008: one to seven years).

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with lessees for the following future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
which fall due as follows:

—eERE  —TINF
+=A=t+-B +-A=t+-8

31st December, 31st December,

2009 2008

FEx FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000

(&%)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 1,145 456
FE-ZERF (BHEERMELA) In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,496 421
HF#& After five years 984 178
3,625 1,055

FRERBHREYMXETEFF]
Y2+t FH(ZTTNF:
—EAFH MEO - BER L
MEEHRNLZHREFREAEE LR
B

The investment properties rented during the year have
committed tenants for term ranging from one to twelve
years (2008: one to six years). No contingent rent was
arranged for the above operating lease arrangements.
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44, EREIE

44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—2EAF

—ZTENF

+=B=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,

2009 2008
FEx FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
BEEFINEREED Capital expenditure in respect of
ME - BEREE acquisition of property, plant
BRAEFRENE AR and equipment/prepaid lease
payments contracted but not
provided for 86,476 1,904
BRI ERBENRE Capital expenditure in respect of
B & E R an investment contracted but not
provided for 478,999 -
565,475 1,904

R-ZTTENFE+ A EEMRE
WEE BT E=HEI L
m—MAERREREETE
AR #1,162,800,0007T (485 7
1,321,423,0007% 7t) © M {E & [
HENS % A A HI25 %A AN AE 25 o
ZIBE R RS BRI 5 1
REERARMEEMNES -
FECEZEIN WA EE—F
BEAAENET  RARE B
B XU AxK RRAH
MERSTEEEERMALE
HEAE ©

In December 2009, CR Gas Investment entered into
agreements with an independent third party for a
cash contribution of RMB1,162,800,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,321,423,000) into a joint venture company in return
for a 25% equity interest in that company. The payment
has been made at the end of the reporting period and is
recorded as deposit paid for investment in a joint venture
company. No further capital commitment is required as full
payment has been made. The transaction has not been
completed at the date of this report as it is still in the
process of obtaining all the necessary approvals from the
relevant PRC authorities.
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45. TEZHFRERSH

(a)

(b)

(c)

RZEZENF A
LA 48 4 {310,969,000/%8
TLREBMRREE QT E
EREBEREBRERHES
LEBFMK LN IFEE =
BREBRKLEWNBE AR R
BAEZHEEBNFENRB A
Al Az S BN —ME
EE YA B SR
310,969,000/8 7T °

BRE

RZZEZNEANA 285%
B LA 42 X 2162,793,00075
TR—HERNB AR
—HEEERATYER
AABREHER - AR L
MR ENRRZMEBA
A/ EEPERRA T I8
162,793,000/ 7T °

RZZEZNFA=1+H"
32 5% LA475,073,000/% JT [
—MRRNEBARET K
EE1ETHL B AR
HEBKENZRERZMBER
AMERSERBERETER
BT o

45. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

(c)

In June, 2009, the Top Steed Group acquired all
subsidiaries of the Top Steed Group, which were
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
Hong Kong and are holding the Top Steed Group’s
operating subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities,
from CR Gas Holdings for a total consideration of
HK$310,969,000. As a result of these acquisitions, the
amount due to a fellow subsidiary was increased by
HK$310,969,000.

In June, 2009, the Top Steed Group acquired two
jointly controlled entities from a fellow subsidiary and
an intermediate holding company for an aggregate
consideration of HK$162,793,000. As a result of the
above transactions, the amounts due to a fellow
subsidiary/an intermediate holding company was
increased by HK$162,793,000.

On 30th June, 2009, Top Steed issued one
ordinary share of US$1 to a fellow subsidiary for
HK$475,073,000, settled by capitalisation of amount
due to a fellow subsidiary to the same amount.
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46.

47.

HAREE
R-ZZEENF+=_A=+—8"
AEBNERIEHERHEE T —
MEREERZETEERERN
8817 4R £ 1R - #£181,718,000
BL(ZEENEFZA=+—
H :181,774,000/8 7t) - N & E
BB D% ERIZES EEH36%
HXMEﬁnm;thmmME '
It AN 55 B B R B (h36% M sk A &
565,419,000/ ;T (Z T T )\ F
+=HA=+—8 65,439,000
L) c RZEZNERZZTTNF
+—A=+—H8 ERZAFE
jtTE#: ThEB A ' Kt
RZ AR EER  MBESER
,%?é.\ﬁﬂ%ﬂkﬁ#&%%ﬁq RITERR

EEEHA

R-BFEAFT+_HA=+—8 "
ZK%@E?EWTEJ%EVEZ%&EH
B8 ARRERENT—RA
ﬁfﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁf’f%ﬁﬁ =R
LI

46.

47.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group’s jointly controlled
entity has given guarantees amounting to HK$181,718,000
(81st December, 2008: HK$181,774,000), to a bank in
respect of banking facility granted to a state-controlled
entity. The Group effectively shared 36% equity interests
in that jointly controlled entity using proportionate
consolidation, accordingly, the Group effectively shared
36% of contingent liabilities of HK$65,419,000 (31st
December, 2008: HK$65,439,000). The fair values of the
guarantees as at 31st December, 2009 and 2008 are
not significant as it is remote for the default payment by
state controlled entity and therefore no amount has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st December, 2009, the Group pledged the following
assets as securities for a bank borrowing, utility services
and a trade payable to a supplier of natural gas as follows:

—EENF —EE)NF

2009 2008

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

(&%)

(Restated)

ME - WMENK&K Property, plant and equipment 95,978 15,358
BEEMIRITEN Pledged bank deposit 19,262 740
115,240 16,098
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48. BEALXR 5

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

EEREALTHRS

B &R A B 75 3R 3R A0 B Y AR P ER A
MEALRSZI  REERFR
EREATET MRS

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
respective notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following transactions with
related parties during the year:

—EThEF ZETNF
2009 2008
FHER FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
EIEESGIEPNGIEET el Purchases of goods from fellow
subsidiaries 314,000 110,727
B H R FHER @ Purchases of goods from
a minority shareholder 138,033 -
B&E QR KBRS Purchases of goods from joint
venturers 54,799 -
HE TR ZH B Sales to fellow subsidiaries 10,267 19,386
HE T RRHE AT Sales to a joint venturer of
BENT] a fellow subsidiary - 22,930
SHE TH B AT AR Sales to minority shareholder
of subsidiaries 78,836 —
HEYWE - BMELXET Sales of property, plant and
B ZK B AR equipment to a fellow
subsidiary = 5,400
BRZMB R RESH Testing fee income from fellow
AR BB subsidiaries - 2,121
BRZME A RIESS Interest income from fellow
L EUA subsidiaries - 482
ERNRRNBAEH Interest expenses paid to a fellow
FEREZ subsidiary 5,542 =
B —HRRHE AT Rental expenses paid to a fellow
HeMx subsidiary 570 443
B —RHR R B A F Consultancy fee paid to a fellow
A E subsidiary 1,702 =
ERTHEAR Commission paid to a minority
DB A shareholder of a former subsidiary - 1,023
BETHAXZ T —HEA Reimbursement of administrative
A BAF] expenses to a fellow subsidiary 41,492 =
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48. MEANLR S (&)

HEMEAREHERNRS &

i

AEEARGRPEER (ZAA
AR BB S]) BE S —fE K
RAEIEBEHKE - RGBT HR
REMMEMBERES AT RE
MBARETHR I NEHE
JRE B % 75 B A2 o B BT
ERAMEEARIENNERE
TEBER - EFRR BAKE
BEEFETNXZME - RP
BEEEEN  ZFERI/E
MEZT e EHEMBEREE
BB R 5 Tl E FE B RS Mt
BRFE AEEY RIS =
CERBEZIEFERE ARER
B LERRMEEMBHREA
ERBEEXZELTD MEE

=

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CRNC which is controlled by the government of
the PRC. Apart from the transactions with the parent
company and its subsidiaries which have been disclosed
in other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group also conducts businesses with entities directly
or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government
in the ordinary course of business. The directors consider
those entities other than the CRNC group are independent
third parties as far as the Group’s business transactions
with them are concerned. In establishing its pricing
strategies and approval process for transactions with other
state-controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counter-party is a state-controlled entity or
not. The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure
of related party transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

AEEFTEEEASHSE Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

ZEEAF ZETNF

2009 2008

FET FHET

HK$°000 HK$’000

2 BAE A Short-term benefits 2,565 4,286

RINERET Post-employment benefits 173 251

2,738 4,537
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49. HEMEREE

R-BZAF+—HA-+FHA -

EEMRRERINTRBEEE
EEEEZBe((HBMMEEAE
Z1) AR E BRI E BB
MEEZRI K227 ([4
BRF) BMEEMES - &
BERAREMNTEEEWEL
IR R B D B BR 2 &) ([EB 4R
) #954,041,5108% A & Ak (48
EREMAR I HITHRADN
43.18%) hE TEE ([HWED
AuZBEBH (GEAIEER
BED) » BB A —RETBEE
A HI B AR AR - EHERR
B S P £Th e

RZF—ZFF—F+—H I
TREZ  EBHRIKE &%
AREIREINRREBFR QA
([EBMHA R & B ) 5T 32 — 17
FoihiE o Bt AEARERE
BIEEM TR E & EEHRRE
ER—_ZTEZhhF+—HA=-+HH
FIVMZERE TEBRENE
o RALRBVIAEME AL
REREMEFMELRE  5&
ANEEREBRRIEE KRBT
BEZ DRI E80%K20%M%H

iR AKILE & R 7 R Tk W iE
HERMDW RS - AIGZEARE
A S0 7 B B R B B S R A -
RipFBE LA G TR (e
SPRVD) - BRI RS AR Hl e
B - [ Ik 7 () BB JH KA SR R
1 th o ) 2 W B R

49. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25th November, 2009, CR Gas Investment and the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Zhengzhou Municipality (“Zhengzhou
SASAC”) entered into various agreements which relate
to the formation of a joint venture (the “Joint Venture”)
between CR Gas Investment and Zhengzhou SASAC,
increase in its registered capital; and the acquisitions
by the Joint Venture of 54,041,510 domestic shares (the
“Sale Shares”) of Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited
(“Zhengzhou Gas”) which represent 43.18% of the total
issued share capital of Zhengzhou Gas and certain assets
from Zhengzhou SASAC (the “Acquisition”) (collectively,
the “Cooperation Arrangement”). Zhengzhou Gas is a joint
stock limited company incorporated in the PRC whose H
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

On 11th January, 2010, Zhengzhou SASAC, CR Gas
Investment, the Joint Venture and Zhengzhou Gas Group
Co., Ltd. (“Zhengzhou GGCL”) entered into a supplemental
agreement in which the Joint Venture has confirmed its
obligations in respect of the Acquisition under the various
agreements entered into between Zhengzhou SASAC and
CR Gas Investment on 25th November, 2009. When the
initial registered capital of the Joint Venture is fully paid
up and following the increase in its registered capital, the
Joint Venture will be held as to 80% by CR Gas Investment
and as to 20% by Zhengzhou SASAC.

If the conditions to which the formation of the Joint Venture
and the completion of the acquisition of Sale Shares are
subject have been fulfilled, the Joint Venture will acquire
the Sale Shares from Zhengzhou SASAC. This will lead
to a change in control of Zhengzhou Gas under the Hong
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeovers
Code”) and, therefore, a mandatory general offer will be
made to the shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas.
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49. HEMREBE (&)
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49. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

CR Gas Investment will make the offer in compliance with
the Takeovers Code upon completion of the acquisition
by the Joint Venture of the Sale Shares from Zhengzhou
SASAC. The price of the offer to be made by CR Gas
Investment to the shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas
pursuant to the announcement dated 25th November,
2009 was RMB8.45 per domestic share of Zhengzhou Gas
and the Hong Kong dollar equivalent of HK$9.60 per H
share of Zhengzhou Gas, determined after arm’s length
negotiation with reference to, among others, the net assets
value of Zhengzhou Gas, its future prospects and the
staff compensation if Zhengzhou Gas were changed from
a State-owned enterprise to a foreign-owned enterprise
upon completion of the acquisition of the Sale Shares.
As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company
and Zhengzhou Gas dated 11th December, 2009, in
order to extend the same favourable conditions which will
be extended to Zhengzhou SASAC under the potential
cooperation to all other shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas,
the directors of the Company resolved to increase the offer
price under the offer to RMB12.96 per domestic share, of
Zhengzhou Gas or equivalent to HK$14.73 per H share of
Zhengzhou Gas based on the exchange rate quoted on
11th December, 2009.

The Joint Venture has been established in November 2009
and the Cooperation Arrangement is still in the process
of obtaining necessary approvals from the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities.
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50. FEMBLAREHR

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

SRR, ERTRAR
B L 3t B BE/EfBE  AKEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR AR incorporation/  fully paid share/  equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment  registered capital of the Group Principal activities

ZRBAFE —TT)\F

2009 2008
% %
ERMRER AT REBRLES EER4ET 100 100  REZRKR
China Resources Gas Limited  British Virgin Ordinary Investment holding
Islands US$4
HRERRABRAA) i A& #50,000,0007C 80.4 804  HERILR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
FNEBRRARAR g 15,000,000% 7T 70 70 HERRREEBRER
PRC USD15,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERRRBRLOR HE 16,000,0005 7T 50 50 WHERCREEBGREE
PRC USD16,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
s EMRAR A2 HE 4,000,000% 7T 100 100  HERCRAREEGRES
PRC USD4,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ELEBRRBR AR M 11,000,000% 7T 54 60 HERIARERBREE
PRC USD11,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
AREBRRERAR e A& #44,000,0007C 75 75 HERRREEBRER
PRC RMB44,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
GRERMAERAA i A& #50,000,0007T 75 75 BERCALREBRREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines
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50. TEMBRRER (&)

NEER
Name of company

TR
B2
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

ERTRAR

B /R BRA
Issued and

fully paid share/
registered capital

FEEEGRE

Attributable

equity interest
of the Group
“EZERF _TTN\E

FRER

Principal activities

2009 2008
% %
EHEBRRBR A hE AE%70,000,0007C 7143 7143 BERCERERGIEE
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERRRERAR? HE AK#%10,000,0007T 100 100 HERCRARERGRES
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BIEBMRBRAF? HE AR #10,000,0007T 100 100 WHERLERERBRESE
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REERHRR ol AR%51,300,0007T 51 - HERCLRREEGRESR
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sales of liquefied gas and

! ZERREFBEARIEERENTY

RIFEE -

2 ZERAERBEAINEBE RN

RIFEE -

8 REBFENE D RI54%MH - IR

BREWRZEDES7.11%m 4] °

BREERRERAFBAAFAER
PTG E At Lt 3= Z Y
BRARHHARAMERE I
TEEFMART KL R AL E

mHEES

ES

R-ZEZNAFE+_A=1+—H=k
FREMERE - SHBAE

ERAREEES

connection of gas
pipelines

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of sino-

foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign owned enterprise.
3 The Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares

profit at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly
held by the Company, all other the above principal
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company and
are operating principally in their place of incorporation/

establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at 31st December, 2009 or at any time during

the year.
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50. TEMBRRER (&)

51.

RRABEFERS  ERAFINAK
SENBARYUAKENEERL
EERBEAEATE - AR A
EERR HINEMKHELRN
HERSABREBNITR °

50.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

FEHHENATER 51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
HEEHERER rEBEERE
JZvR:t ) MR AER Attributable
AR BB Place of MM Equity interest held by the equity interest TEER
Name of company  establishment  Registered capital jointly controlled entities of the Group Principal activities
“ZThE ZBEN\F C-EIAF ZBENF
2009 2008 2009 2008
% % % %
) B ERAR i AR %10,000,00070 49 49 17.64 1764  SHERILR
BREARA PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
RABRIARR e AR %3,000,0007 49 49 17.64 1764  BERILR
BREFAT PRC RMB3,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
REBERRERR e AK#10,000,0007T 45 45 16.2 162  HERRRARESHRE
BREMRT PRC RMB10,000,000 |
Sales of natural gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BIRFEREAAR F AE 16,500,000 25 - 11.25 - HERER
BRAR PRC RMB16,500,000 Sales of liquefied gas

ARAREERR ERMATINAE
SEHEERRHARNEEMNREN
EERBBEAEAFE - AnH
EXZRR HIEHMBELTN
HERSABREBNITR °

The above table lists the associates of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group.
To give details of other associates would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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52. TEHREEFIBEREHR 52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES
REBESRE
B B Attributable
RS Place of HEMBA  equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment  Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“EEAF ZBENF
2009 2008
% %
KR RREREELTA th AR800,000,0007T 36 36 HERAKERRREE
PRC RMB800,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BEHERRABRA i 29,980,000 T 50 50 HEREALREEBRER
PRC USD29,980,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EMERRERRERAR th AR#117,939,5007T 40 -  HERCRREBERAEE
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HTEBRRBRAA R AR #150,000,0007T 45 -  HERCRARERBRES
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEEBRRARAR th A& #186,000,0007T 46 -  HERCERERBREE
PRC RMB186,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEZHEBRESBHR The above jointly controlled entities are jointly controlled
?Tf?;’nm?’bmzﬁ’%@ HEihEZK by the Group and the other significant shareholder under
R F ] ?&%’ﬁﬁﬁi & the respective shareholders’ agreements. Therefore, they

REBEH R %‘J i are classified as jointly controlled entities of the Group.
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

The above table lists the jointly controlled entities of
the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, principally affected the results of the year or
form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other jointly controlled entities would,

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in

particulars of excessive length.

The summarised financial information in respect of the

interests in jointly controlled entities held by the Group is

set out below:

—EThEF —ETNF

2009 2008

FEx FHBT

HK$’000 HK$’000

mBEE Current assets 1,365,092 787,045
ETBENEE Non-current assets 1,959,408 1,446,435
RENEE Current liabilities 1,630,913 938,201
JEmMBEE Non-current liabilities 280,416 266,294
BRI A Income recognised in profit or loss 1,724,650 1,170,142
RiERER A Expenses recognised in profit or loss 1,408,555 1,112,868
H2mEKA Other comprehensive income 326 -
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¥E RESULTS
BEt-A=t-RLEE
Year ended 31st December,
“ZERE —ZTRE 5 g2 —IEN\E —EENE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
THL TAL FAT TAT TEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&5) (&5)
(Restated) (Restated)
By TURNOVER 3,064,447 3,450,659 6,251,087 3,367,113 3,746,779
EREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 404,099 280,396 480,655 344,000 540,346
i ATTRIBUTABLE TO;
KATEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 316,781 232,417 402,079 296,968 443,573
PERRER MINORITY INTERESTS 87318 47979 78,576 47032 96,773
404,099 280,396 480,655 344,000 540,346
EERAME ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+ZR=1-H
31st December,
“ZThE “EERE 8 g —TEN\E “EENE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
THT TAT FAT TAT TEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&31) (&5)
(Restated) (Restated)
EELE TOTAL ASSETS 5,571,435 7.923,129 10,556,557 4527165 8,571,808
SEME TOTAL LIABILITIES (2,547,647) (4,113,506) (6,196,899) (1,987,775) (7,004,234)
RAEE TOTAL EQUITY 3,023,788 3,809,623 4,359,658 2,539,290 1,567,574
KAAEEA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EERE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 2,396,669 2,755,091 3,613,734 2,208 847 1,031,385
IHHEATE SHARE OPTION RESERVE OF
B A LISTED SUBSIDIARY = 5,805 10,840 = -
PERRER MINORITY INTERESTS 627119 1,048,727 735,084 310,543 536,189
BAEE TOTAL EQUITY 3,023,788 3,809,623 4,359,658 2,539,390 1,567,574

HE_SZTLtFR_ZTZENF+A
=t HUIEMEAFENMBENESE
FIARBERME S AGEMAH
SrHE S| FE55R [ EEEH A 26 6
A NFE - HE-_TTHERC
EERF+ A=+ HIRMEFE
RIS & B R VEFHEE -

The financial information for the two years ended 31st
December, 2007 and 2008 has been restated to reflect the effect
of application of Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting
under Common Control Combination” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The financial information
for the two years ended 31st December, 2005 and 2006 has not
been adjusted.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman

Mr. MA Guoan

Executive Director and Managing Director

Mr. WANG Chuandong

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin, Ken

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Fuzuo
Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. WEI Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. LUK Chi Cheong
Dr. YANG Chonghe, Howard

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LUK Chi Cheong (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. DU Wenmin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. LUK Chi Cheong
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin, Ken

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YANG Chonghe, Howard (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. LUK Chi Cheong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin, Ken
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Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
Rosebank Centre
11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke

Bermuda
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B
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-05

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

Richards Butler
in association with Reed Smith LLP

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
Rosebank Centre

11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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&5 Telephone : 2593 7388

{B& Facsimile : 2598 8228

B4k Website : www.crgas.com.hk

B H Email : investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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